
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday 11 January 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Planning 
Committee  

     
 

 

Thursday, 20 January 2022 at 1.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Council Offices,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Helen Crawford (Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor David Bellamy, Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing, Councillor Phil Dilks, 
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown, Councillor Penny Milnes,  
Councillor Charmaine Morgan, Councillor Robert Reid, Councillor Penny Robins, 
Councillor Ian Selby, Councillor Judy Stevens and Councillor Jacky Smith 
 

Agenda 
 

 
 

 

 
1.   Apologies for absence 

 
 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 
 

 

 Planning matters 
 

To consider applications received for the grant of planning permission – 
reports prepared by the Case Officer. 

The anticipated order of consideration is as shown on the agenda, but this may 
be subject to change, at the discretion of the Chairman of the Committee. 

 

 

3.   Application S21/0174 

Proposal:  Submission for approval of reserved matters 
(aorm) relating to appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale for 480 residential units pursuant to 
outline permission S15/3189 

Location: Land to the North of Longcliffe Road and South of 
Belton Lane, Grantham 

(Pages 3 - 41) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

Recommendation:  That the Assistant Director – Planning is 
authorised to GRANT planning permission subject 
to conditions 

 

4.   Application S21/1210 

Proposal: Reserved matters application for access, 
appearance, layout and scale details relating to 
outline permission S18/0452 (Residential 
Development) 

Location: Ferndale House, Swinstead Road, Corby Glen, 
NG33 4NU 

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to 
GRANT planning permission, subject to 
conditions outlined in the report. 

 

(Pages 43 - 60) 

5.   Application S21/0442 

Proposal: Demolition of existing building on site and the 
development of 11no. residential dwellings 

Location: Grantham College Building Department Adj. The 
Old Bar, Sandon Road, Grantham 

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning 
to GRANT planning permission, subject to the 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement and 
subject to conditions outlined in this report 

 

(Pages 61 - 117) 

6.   Application S21/2286 

Proposal: New single storey dwelling with garaging for 
proposed dwelling and number 22 The Green 

Location: 22 The Green, Thurlby, PE10 0HB    

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning 
to REFUSE planning permission 

 

(Pages 119 - 129) 

7.   Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

 



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

20 January 2022 

  

   

         
  

S21/0174 

Proposal: Submission for approval of reserved matters (aorm) relating to 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 480 residential units 
pursuant to outline permission S15/3189 

Location: Land to the North of Longcliffe Road and South of Belton Lane, 
Grantham 

Applicant: Larkfleet Homes (now Allison Homes) 
Agent:  
Application Type: Reserved Matters Application 
Reason for Referral 
to Committee: 

Major Development 

Key Issues: Accordance with Design Code and Master Plan 
Design quality  

Technical 
Documents: 

Design Amendments Summary Note  
Landscaping Strategy Report  

 

 

Report Author 

Adam Murray (Senior Planning Officer) 

 
 01476 406074 

  adam.murray@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan (Principal Planning Officer) 10 January 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

That the Assistant Director – Planning is authorised to GRANT planning permission 
subject to conditions 

3

Agenda Item 3

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

S21/0174 Land To the North of Longcliffe Road and South of Belton Lane, Grantham, Lincolnshire 

   

4



 

 
 

1 Description of Site 
 

1.1 The proposed development site comprises of an area of 37.82 hectares (93.45 acres) of 

land situated on the northern edge of the main built-up area of Grantham, adjoining the 

modern and fairly low density Manthorpe estate to the south and the historic village of 

Manthorpe to the east. The site is bound to the west the East Coast Main Line railway, 

and to the east by the A607 and St. John the Evangelist Church. The northern boundary is 

partly along Belton Lane (in the north-west); it then follows just south of the existing 

overhead power lines, then continues north-eastwards along the Running Furrows as far 

as the A607.  

 

1.2 In terms of topography and the wider site context, the site sits within the low-lying 

Grantham bowl surrounded by the “green rim” of escarpments and higher land. In the 

centre of the site is a relatively low hill which rises to 68m AOD. The land slopes down to 

the valleys of the Running Furrows, which runs south-west to north-east across the 

eastern end of the site, and Gonerby Brook, which is a tributary of the Running Furrows 

and flows west to east along the southern boundary of the site, adjacent to the northern 

edge of the Manthorpe estate. A public footpath runs east-west across the southern part of 

the site from the A607 (east) to an underpass beneath the East Coast Main Line railway 

(west).  

 

1.3 The site is relatively close to several designated heritage assets including the Grade I 

Listed Belton House, including the registered Park and Garden (Grade I) and Bellmount 

Tower (Grade II*). Manthorpe Conservation Area and various listed buildings within it, 

including St. John’s Church, Old Rectory and various domestic dwellings (all Grade II), 

and to a smaller extent the site forms part of the setting of St Wulfram’s Church (Grade I) 

in Grantham Town Centre. 

 

1.4 The wider site benefits from outline planning permission granted on appeal under 

application ref: S15/3189. The current application relates to the central and western parts 

of the site covered by the outline planning permission, including the main residential 

parcels and the network of streets and open spaces within them. The application also 

relates to the noise bund to be provided along the railway line.  

 

1.5 The remainder of the built-form on site, including the school and neighbourhood centre are 

to be subject to future full applications. The details of the strategic landscaping open 

spaces and the sports ground to be provided on site, to the south, east and north-west of 

the site, as well as the detailed design of the public open spaces, viewpoints and gateway 

entrances within the residential parcels are subject to a separate planning application 

(Ref: S21/0175), which will be presented to a forthcoming Planning Committee.  

 

1.6 Development of the site is further controlled through both the Section 106 Agreement 

attached to the outline planning permission and through planning conditions. For example, 

the local centre is required to be completed before the 300th dwelling is occupied. 

 

 

 

 

5



 

 
 

2 Description of proposal 
 

2.1 The current application seeks reserved matters consent for matters of appearance, layout, 

landscaping and scale for 480 dwellings, pursuant to outline planning permission 

S15/3189.  

 

2.2 As referenced above, the current application relates to the central and western parts of the 

site covered by the outline planning permission and includes the detailed design of the 

main residential parcels and the network of streets and ancillary green spaces within 

them, as well as the noise bund to be provided along the railway line to the west. In 

respect of landscaping, the current application addresses the approach to be taken to on 

plot boundaries and landscaping and the network of street trees and ancillary green 

spaces forming part of the residential built form. 

 

2.3 It should be noted that there is already a reserved matters approval in place for the site, 

which covers the matters of appearance, layout, landscaping and scale for 480 dwellings 

that are to be considered as part of the current application. The extant reserved matters 

consent was approved under application reference S18/1457 by Planning Committee on 6 

April 2021.  

 

2.4 The current proposals effectively propose minor amendments to elements of the existing 

approved residential parts of the scheme, inspired by the recommendations contained with 

the OPUN (Design Midlands) Review of the development scheme undertaken as part of 

the assessment of the previous reserved matters application. The amendments are also 

being done to ensure that the layout responds more appropriately and assimilates better 

with the context of the existing site contours. 

 

2.5 During the lifetime of the current application, the scheme has been through the Council’s 

Design PAD process and subject to a number of additional meetings with key technical 

consultees including the Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer, Conservation Officer 

and Landscape Consultee as well as Lincolnshire County Council Highways & SuDS. This 

has resulted in further moderate amendments being pursued to improve the overall design 

quality of the scheme.  

 

2.6 In the context of above, and in view of the valid “fallback” position provided by the extant 

reserved matters consent, the following amendments to the scheme are relevant for 

assessment:  

 

(1) Updates to the central spine road – the 2-metre grass verge and tree lined 

approach has been extended from the Local Central through the residential 

development parcels to the east to provide a consistent tree-lined approach to 

the central spine road.  

 

(2) Rationalised road network – the road network, particularly within Phase 3 of the 

development (immediately west of the Running Furrows), has been revised to 

follow the natural contours of this area of the site. The residential plot layout 

within this part of the site has also been amended to follow a block network to 

6



 

 
 

enable level thresholds to front doors and reduce the amount of retaining walls 

required.  

 

(3) Addition of a vehicular connection over the Running Furrows – The bridge 

had already been approved as a construction access for Phase 1B (east of 

Running Furrows) and as a permanent cycleway link, however, it has now been 

upgraded to provide a permanent vehicular link to improve permeability 

throughout the site. The road network in the immediate vicinity of the bridge link 

has also been amended to suit the revised bridge arrangements.  

 

(4) Amendments to the house types and parking arrangements along the 

central spine road – the house types have been adjusted and the parking 

arrangements have been rationalised to ensure a more consistent and stronger 

street scene along the central spine road from the Local Centre.  

 

(5) Introduction of a terraced housing crescent to the northern viewpoint – the 

layout has been amended adjacent to the northern viewpoint to provide a defined 

terraced housing crescent, which reinforces the views available to the church 

spires of St John’s in Manthorpe and St. Wulfram’s in Grantham. 

 

(6) Revised eastern green public open space – the eastern green has been 

increased in size to utilise the levels available in this part of the site. The 

dwellings surrounding the green have also been amended to improve natural 

surveillance and provide a strong street scene.  

 

(7) Edge lane footpath provided to Plot 73-80 and 105-121 – two new edge lane 

footpaths have been added along the western edge of the development to 

provide improved pedestrian connectivity around the site.  

 

(8) Repositioning of bin collection points – bin collection points that were 

positioned adjacent to public spaces i.e. footpaths have been moved so that they 

are directly adjacent to private properties. 

 

(9) Additional boundary walls added to key street scenes – Additional brick walls 

have been added to the sides of Plots 17, 46, 149, 170 and 284, which are 

considered to be prominent in the street scene. Stone walls have been added to 

the plot boundaries for Phase 1B (eastern parcel) for boundaries that front the 

main road.  

 

(10) Reorganisation of Plot 34 – 41 – these plots and their associated parking 

spaces have been revised to ensure on-plot parking provision, to improve the 

street scene of the gateway into the Local Centre. As part of this, Plot 39 has 

been amended to include a window on the side elevation to provide better natural 

surveillance and to provide a more attractive entrance to this parking court.  

 

(11) House type substitutions to Plot 157 and 158 – these plots have been 

amended to integral house types to improve the availability of on-plot parking, 

reducing the potential for on-street parking opposite the T-junction.  

 

7



 

 
 

(12) Repositioning of plot hedging – the box hedging has been positioned to the 

back edge of public footpaths to ensure a clear definition of the boundary 

between public and private space.  

 

(13) Repositioning of Plot 434-436 – The garage for Plot 434 has been relocated 

from the rear to the site of the property to allow easier access and increased 

security. Plots 435 and 436 have been moved forward to match Plot 434, which 

improves the rear garden size for Plot 436. 

 

(14) House type substitution on Plot 369 and 370 – Plots 367 and 370 have been 

replaced with 45-degree ‘corner turner’ house types, to provide a smoother 

transition between the two building lines meeting at this juncture. The ‘corner 

turner’ housetype also ensures a strong street scene for the cycleway and spine 

road and natural surveillance to the east green. The alignment of the cycleway 

has also been revised to ensure a clear sight line to the church spire along this 

route.  

 

(15) Rationalised junction adjacent to South Green – the road has been 

positioned to run along the church spire view, and the adjacent cycleway has also 

been altered to ensure it follows this view line. A block paved junction has been 

added adjacent to the South Green open space to signify to drivers a change in 

the area and the increased likelihood of cyclists and pedestrians crossing.  

 

2.7 In connection with the above, the Applicant has submitted a Landscape Strategy report 

which provides further details in respect of the approach that is to be taken to the on-plot 

landscaping for the individual house type character areas. The remainder of the 

landscaping details, including the various public open spaces, gateways, focal points and 

landscape character areas are to be considered under S21/0175.  

 

2.8 The proposals for the noise bund adjacent to the East Coast Main Line railway remain the 

same as previously approved.  

 

3 Relevant History and Background 
 

3.1 The Grantham Capacity and Limits to Growth Study 2015 was commissioned by the 

Council to identify suitable areas for development on the edges of Grantham. The 

application site was identified as suitable for development in the study, subject to no built 

development above to 65m contour line in order to minimise any prospective impacts on 

the setting of Belton House and Park and related heritage assets. 

 

3.2 The outline planning application (S15/3189) for “A sustainable urban extension to 

Grantham comprising, not more than 550 dwellings, a neighbourhood centre, a single form 

entry primary school, ancillary (formal and informal) public open space, including structural 

landscaping and biodiversity enhancement areas, and access works” was submitted in 

2015. This was subsequently amended on officer advice to 480 dwellings and with all built 

development shown below the 65m contour lie to comply with the Grantham Capacity 

Study.  

 

8



 

 
 

3.3 The outline application was supported by a comprehensive suite of technical documents, 

including a voluntary Environmental Statement, covering topics including Ecology, 

Landscaping and Visual Impacts, Heritage, Archaeology, Transport. Noise and Vibration 

as well as separate documents such as a Heritage Impact Assessment, Transport 

Statement, various ecological surveys, and a Design and Access Statement.  

 

3.4 That application was recommended for approval by officers but was refused by Planning 

Committee on 8 March 2017 on the grounds of harm to the setting of heritage assets at 

Belton and Manthorpe. The application was subsequently allowed on appeal on 19 

January 2018 following a public inquiry. The inspector concluded that the development 

was in accordance with the development plan and the NPPF, and that the scheme would 

not result in any unacceptable adverse impacts and would not harm the setting of any 

identified heritage assets.  

 

3.5 The outline planning permission is subject to a Section 106 Agreement that secures the 

necessary infrastructure provision required to make the development acceptable. This 

includes: a serviced site for the new primary school, together with a £3 million contribution 

towards the cost of providing the new school; health contributions of £218,000; cycleway 

improvements contribution of £250,000; a bus service improvement contribution of 

£300,000; provision of affordable housing on site; provision of extensive areas of open 

space, including parks, play areas, sports grounds, SuDS drainage, informal green space, 

allotments and a community orchard.  

 

3.6 The outline appeal approval also includes conditions requiring any future reserved matters 

applications to be in broad accordance with the principles for the development set out 

within the Design and Access Statement, Illustrative Master Plan and various Parameters 

Plans. A further condition required the submission and approval of a detailed master plan 

and Design Code  

 

3.7 The detailed masterplan and design code was subsequently approved on 6 July 2018 

under “approval of details required by condition” application S18/1044.  

 

3.8 As indicated above, a reserved matters application relating to matters of appearance, 

landscaping, layout and scale for 480 dwellings, covering the residential parcels of the site 

and the noise bund along the western boundary, was submitted in August 2018 

(S18/1457). At the time of submission, the scheme was considered to be in general 

accordance with the approved master plan and design code, however, it was considered 

that elements of the detailed design required refinement. As such, the Council 

commissioned a Design Review by OPUN (now known as Design Midlands). The OPUN 

Review made a number of key recommendations, which can be summarised as follows:  

 

(1) The site structure / layout was considered to be overly complex with 

disconnected streets, cul-de-sacs and turning heads, which restrict connectivity. 

The scheme should provide a simplified structure which is informed by the site 

topography and the available views. 

 

(2) The opportunity to strengthen the movement network was encouraged and this 

includes the provision of a direct east-west connection to assist in integrating the 

parcel to the east of the site.  

9



 

 
 

 

(3) Opportunities to improvement legibility and permeability with the proposed 

development should be explored.  

 

(4) The access points from Longcliffe Road and Belton Lane provide important 

entrances / gateways which set the tone / standard for the development.  

 

(5) The Local Centre should create a “heart” and “place” instead of a roundabout. 

The design approach should maximise opportunities to animate and integrate the 

adjacent uses, for example the proposed housing and community facilities should 

address and front the square; the provision of trees to define the space; the 

provision of parking should be sensitively designed and integrated to enable the 

square to function as a community space.  

 

(6) The Belton Lane entrance should provide a strong landscape-led approach to 

scheme.  

 

(7) The use of edge lanes is to be encouraged, particularly along the southern edge, 

to provide a semi-rural character with houses directly fronting this.  

 

(8) The importance of the landscape in contributing to the streets / highways in 

ensuring legibility and creating interest, and the need to provide an integrated 

approach to highways / street hierarchy to provide character and variety within 

the streetscene.  

 

3.9 The above recommendations formed the basis of further discussions between Officers 

and the Applicant, and modest amendments were proposed to the scheme to reflect some 

of the recommendations contained within the OPUN Review. The application was 

subsequently presented to Committee and approved on 6 April 2021.  

 

3.10 The current proposals effectively propose further minor amendments to elements of the 

existing approved residential parts of the scheme, to address the recommendations 

contained with the OPUN (Design Midlands) Review. The amendments are also being 

done to ensure that the layout responds more appropriately and assimilates better with the 

context of the existing site contours. 

 

3.11 The proposal has gone through a number of design iterations resulting from positive 

engagement with Officers during the lifetime of the application. All concerns raised have 

been addressed in the current plans, which were received in November 2021. A formal re-

consultation with all statutory technical consultees and neighbours was then undertaken.  

 

4 Policy Considerations 
 

4.1 South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020) 

Policy SD1 – The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

Policy SP1 – Spatial Strategy  

Policy SP2 – Settlement Hierarchy  

Policy H4 – Meeting All Housing Needs 

10



 

 
 

Policy EN1 – Landscape Character 

Policy EN2 – Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Policy EN3 – Green Infrastructure  

Policy EN4 – Pollution Control  

Policy EN6 – The Historic Environment 

Policy DE1 – Promoting Good Quality Design 

Policy SB1 – Sustainable Buildings 

Policy OS1 – Open Space 

Policy GR1 – Protecting and Enhancing the Setting of Belton House and Park 

Policy GR2 – Sustainable Transport in Grantham  

Policy ID2 – Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure  

 

4.2 Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning 

Document (Adopted November 2021) 

 

4.3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Adopted July 2021) 

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 

Section 4 – Decision-making 

Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 

Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 11 – Making effective use of land 

Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 

Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 

 

5 Representations Received 
 

5.1 Belton and Manthorpe Parish Council 

5.1.1 No comments received.  

 

5.2 Environment Agency 

5.2.1 No comments to make 

 

5.3 Historic England 

5.3.1 No comments 

 

5.4 Lincolnshire Fieldpaths Association 

5.4.1 No comments received. 

 

5.5 Lincolnshire Crime Prevention Officer 

5.5.1 No objections. 

 

5.6 Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust 

5.6.1 No comments received. 

 

11



 

 
 

5.7 Ministry of Defence 

5.7.1 No comments received. 

 

5.8 Natural England 

5.8.1 No comments to make. 

 

5.9 Network Rail  

5.9.1 Network Rail has no objections in principle to the development, but there are some 

requirements which must be met, especially with the close proximity of the development of 

an electrified railway.  

 

5.9.2 The Developer should be aware that any development for residential use adjacent to an 

operational railway may result in neighbour issues arising. Consequently, every endeavour 

should be made by the developer to provide adequate sound proofing for each dwelling. 

Please note that in a worst case scenario there could be trains running 24 hours a day and 

the soundproofing should take this into account. 

 

5.9.3 Where trees / shrubs are to be planted adjacent to the railway boundary these shrubs 

should be positioned at a minimum distance greater than their predicted mature height 

from the boundary. Certain broadleaf deciduous species should not be planted adjacent to 

the railway boundary. Where landscaping is proposed as part of an application adjacent to 

the railway it will be necessary for details of the landscaping to be known and approved to 

ensure it does not impact upon the railway infrastructure. Any hedge planting adjacent to 

Network Rail’s boundary fencing for screening purposes should be so placed that when 

fully grown it does not damage the fencing or provide a means of scaling it. No hedge 

should prevent Network Rail from maintaining its boundary fencing.  

 

5.10 SKDC Arboricultural Advisor 

5.10.1 No comments received. 

 

5.11 SKDC Conservation Officer 

5.11.1 No comments to make.  

 

5.12 SKDC Environmental Protection 

5.12.1 No comments 

 

5.13 SKDC Landscape Consultee 

5.13.1 The softworks design should work with the layout to form an effective composition. Trees 

and hedge types (species selection) should reinforce local character. I’m concerned that in 

some cases this hasn’t been done.  

 

5.13.2 In places the trees are different on different sides of the street, this loses the chance to 

create a visually strong composition. Nonetheless, a greater variety of species generally 

on such a large site would be appropriate.  

 

5.14 SKDC Principal Urban Design Officer 

Initial comments 

5.14.1 Building for a Healthy Life Assessment result: 6 green, 6 ambers 

12



 

 
 

5.14.2 Many improvements over time with improvements such as feature square, materials 

locations, street trees, parking arrangements.  Still many elements only partly achieved, 

however, with scope to go all the way with front boundary treatments and the design of the 

minor streets (surface material change and shared or level surface design) for example.  

The details of the landscape plans and the play areas (including natural play) will be 

important once these are produced 
 

Updated comments 

5.14.3 Building for a Healthy Life Assessment result: 9 green, 3 amber.  

 

5.15 The Association of Gardens Trust  

5.15.1 Objection.  
 

5.15.2 It would appear that the concerned comments made by the National Trust I their 

comments dated 26 April 2021 have not been addressed. Therefore, the Lincolnshire 

Gardens Trust would also like to reiterate the concerns of the National Trust that the 

historic park views from Bellmount Tower, namely the various heritage assets within a 

continued rural setting, with Belton House continuing to be a key dominant visual feature 

located within the rural context will, even over time, continue to be considerably degreed 

by this substantial development.  
 

5.15.3 In order to mitigate the impact on views from this significant HE Grade I Park, there needs 

to be much more planting along both the east and north boundaries of this development. 

 

5.16 The Ramblers Association 

5.16.1 No comments received.  

 

5.17 Upper Witham Internal Drainage Board 

Initial comments 

5.17.1 Objection.  

 

5.17.2 The site is part within the Upper Witham Internal Drainage Board district and the Board 

maintained watercourse Running Furrows through the site.  
 

5.17.3 Under the terms of the Board’s byelaws, the prior written consent of the Board is required 

for any proposed temporary or permanent works or structures in, under, over or within the 

byelaw distance (6m) of the top of the bank of a Board maintained watercourse. At this 

location, the full width on both sides needs to be kept clear of obstruction in order for the 

Board to maintain, repair and improve the channel. The submitted drawings show planting 

and a footway within this distance which is unacceptable. Access to the strip and 

continuity of access along the watercourse also needs to be provided.  

 

5.17.4 The applicant is advised to contact the Board to discuss the proposals.  

 

5.17.5 Please note that the Board will shortly be adopting new byelaws with a revised distance of 

9m. 
 

Revised comments 

5.17.6 I have now spoken to the Applicant and they have confirmed that the layout has been 

revised to provide a 9m easement.  

13



 

 
 

 

5.17.7 In addition, they will discuss further details relative to the Running Furrows, including the 

proposed crossing, as part of the detailed design to agree with us. As I have indicated in 

the comments to SKDC, most of the works that potentially affect the Board will require 

Byelaw Consent from Upper Witham IDB, which is independent of the Planning 

Permission.  

 

5.17.8 Therefore, the formal objection can be withdrawn. 

 

5.18 Ward Councillor 

5.18.1 No comments received.  

 

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity 
 

6.1 The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement and letters of representation have been received from 11 

interested parties, all of which raise objections to the scheme. The representations have 

raised the following concerns:  

 

1. There is no additional access to the main roads from the development  

2. The proposals will be accessed via two access points to the A607 via 

Longcliffe Road and Belton Lane, which will increase the levels of 

congestion already experienced on this road.  

3. There is insufficient health provision to support the new development. 

4. The scheme will result in the loss of mature trees with the replacements 

doing nothing to help the environment.  

5. The existing road network on the Manthorpe estate is not sufficient to 

accommodate the increase in traffic resulting from the development or for 

use by construction traffic.  

6. The proposed development is over dominant and oppressive and will also 

detrimentally affect the Conservation Area of Manthorpe. 

7. The proposals will give rise to unacceptable impacts on privacy.  

 

7 Evaluation 
 

7.1 Outline planning permission, including the matter of access, has already been granted for 

the development of 480 dwellings on the site under S15/3189 and, therefore, the principle 

of residential development has already been established as being acceptable.  

 

7.2 The outline planning permission included a number of conditions for any future reserved 

matters applications. These included:  

 

- Condition 2 – applications for approval of reserved matters shall be submitted 

within three years of the date of the outline planning permission.  

- Condition 5 – prior to the submission of any reserved matters application, a 

detailed masterplan and design code shall be submitted and approved. 

Thereafter, any reserved matters application should comply with the principles 

established.  

14



 

 
 

- Condition 6 – the number of dwellings shall not exceed 480 dwellings.  

- Condition 7 – no buildings within the site hall be constructed above the 65m 

contour line.  

- Condition 8 – The development shall be carried out in accordance with the broad 

principles of the following plans and documents:  

o Illustrative Master Plan – Drawing No. EMS.2490_101G 

o Access Parameters Plan – Drawing No: EMS.2490_107E 

o Land Use Parameters Plan – Drawing No. EMS.2490_105E 

o Building Heights and Parameters Plan – Drawing No. EMS2490_106F 

o Phasing Parameters Plan – Drawing No: EMS.2490_103G 

o Landscape Parameters Plan – Drawing No. EMS.2490_108F 

o Design and Access Statement 

- Condition 9 – the reserved matters application for Phase 1 shall include the 

detailed design and specification for the noise attenuation bund alongside the 

East Coast Main Line railway.  

- Condition 12 – concurrently with each reserved matters application, details of a 

site-specific tree protection method statement and plan shall be submitted as an 

“approval of details required by condition” application. 

 

7.3 In view of the above, the current reserved matters application falls to be assessed against 

the broad principles of the Design and Access Statement and Parameters Plans approved 

as part of the outline planning permission, and the Design Code and Master Plan 

subsequently approved under the “approval of details required under Condition 5” 

application.  

 

7.4 In addition, the evaluation of the current proposals also has to consider the valid “fallback” 

position provided by the extant reserved matters consent that exists for the residential 

parcels on the site, which was granted in April 2021. As such, it is only that elements of 

the development scheme that have been subsequently amended that can reasonably be 

assessed for their acceptability. Any matters of the detailed design which remain 

unchanged from the approved proposals have effectively already been determined as 

being acceptable to the Local Planning Authority.  

 

7.5 It is noted that the majority of the objections received from public representations as part 

of the application consultation relate to matters such as the principle of the development, 

infrastructure provision and highways / traffic impact on the wider area. These matters 

have been assessed and determined as being acceptable at the outline stage and, 

therefore, are not matters for consideration under this reserved matters application.  

 

7.6 Overall Design Quality  

 

7.6.1 Reserved matters applications are primarily concerned with the detailed design quality of a 

scheme, subject to the parameters that have been established at the outline planning 

permission stage. In this respect, the overall design quality of the scheme falls to be 

assessed against the following policy context.  

 

Policy Background 

7.6.2 Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states (amongst other criteria) 

that to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all development 

15



 

 
 

proposals will be expected to make a positive contribution to local distinctiveness, 

vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local identity and not 

have an adverse impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape / 

townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals should be of an appropriate 

scale, density, massing, height and material given the context of the area. All major 

residential development proposals will be expected to perform positively against Building 

for Life 12 (subsequently superseded by Building for a Healthy Life) and should seek to 

provide a minimum of 10% of new dwellings as “Accessible and Adaptable” in line with the 

optional standards set out in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations. Policy EN1 

(Landscape Character) seeks to ensure that development is appropriate for its context.  

 

7.6.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (Section 12) states that good design is a key 

aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and 

helps make development acceptable to communities. Paragraph 130 of the Framework 

states that development proposals should be visually attractive as a result of good 

architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; and should be sympathetic 

to local character and historic, including the surrounding built environment and landscape 

setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as 

increased densities).  

 

7.6.4 Furthermore, Paragraph 134 of the Framework is unequivocal in stating that 

“Development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to 

reflect local design policies and government guidance on design, taking into account any 

local design guidance and supplementary planning documents such as design guides and 

codes”.  

 

7.6.5 In the context of the above, the Council has recently adopted Design Guidelines for 

Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document, which sets out guidance 

on the key principles for good quality design and the manner in which it will be assessed 

by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

7.6.6 The Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) identifies that the detailed design 

of a proposal should be influenced by its context, and should be consider the relationship 

between the site and other buildings, routes and spaces, views and vistas, facilities, 

architectural details and the landscape. The appearance and architectural landscape of 

surrounding buildings should be drawn upon and influence the detailed design. 

 

7.6.7 Similarly, it identifies that residential amenity is determined by a range of factors such as 

space, privacy, outlook, outdoor space and natural light, and identifies as series of rules / 

standards that will be utilised to assess the quality of residential amenity provided by 

development proposals. The following standards are considered to be particularly relevant 

to the current proposals:  

 

(a) Where practical, windows should not look onto private areas of other homes, 

including habitable rooms (living rooms, dining rooms, bedrooms), kitchens and 

patio areas in gardens immediately adjoining the building.  

(b) The ’45-degree rule’ states that there is normally the potential to achieve 

adequate levels of daylight and outlook when no part of a building cuts through a 

16



 

 
 

line radiating at 45 degrees from the centre of a window that lights a habitable 

room 

(c) The ’25-degree rule’ states that there is normally the potential to achieve 

adequate levels of daylight and outlook when no facing building breaks a 25-

degree angle from the horizontal from a point 2 metres above the floor level. This 

rule takes account of changes of level between buildings. 

(d) Where habitable rooms face the rear of a home, a back-to-back privacy distance 

of 21m window to window will be applied for two-storey properties; and 28m 

window to window for three-storey properties. Where habitable windows face a 

blank two-storey elevation a separation distance of 14m will be applied.  

 

7.6.8 Policy SD1 (The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven) sets out the 

overarching obligation for development proposals to minimise its impact on climate 

change and contribute towards a strong, stable and more diverse economy. The policy 

requires consideration of a number of matters including minimising the use of resources 

and the production of waste; meeting high environmental standards in terms of design and 

construction; encouraging the use of sustainable construction materials and proactively 

enhancing the District’s character and natural environment.  

 

7.6.9 Similarly, Policy SB1 (Sustainable Buildings) states that all development proposals will be 

expected to mitigate and adapt to climate change. This includes a requirement for 

development proposal to demonstrate how carbon dioxide emissions have been 

minimised; achieve a “water neutral position”; and supporting low carbon travel through 

the provision of electric car charging points.  

 

7.6.10 In addition, Paragraph 152 of the Framework states that “the planning system should 

support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate taking full account of 

flooding risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to 

radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions; minimise vulnerability and improve 

resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources including the conversion of existing 

buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure”. 

 

Evaluation 

 

7.6.11 As detailed above, the overarching principles of the development, including the general 

layout and land distribution were all assessed as part of the outline planning permission, 

and further refined as part of the approval of the detailed masterplan and design code. As 

such, these principles cannot be revisited or fundamentally changed at this reserved 

matters stage. Consequently, the current reserved matters application falls to be assessed 

against the extent to which they comply with the approved principles and parameters, 

whilst providing high quality design in the detailed proposals.  

 

7.6.12 As part of the previous reserved matters application, the wider development proposals 

were subject to an independent design review by OPUN (now known as Design Midlands), 

which identified a number of recommendations to ensure that the scheme provided a high-

quality strategic design.  

 

7.6.13 The Applicant amended the previous reserved matters application to address some of the 

recommendations contained with the OPUN Review, and the current scheme effectively 

17



 

 
 

pursues further moderate amendments to address the outstanding recommendations, 

alongside ensuring that the scheme responds more appropriately to the site contour 

levels. 

 

7.6.14 These amendments fall to be considered in the context of the approved “fallback” position 

provided by the extant reserved matters consent. In this respect, the key amendments 

pursued as part of the current application, as detailed further in Section 2 of this report, 

can be summarised as follows:  

 

(a) Extension of the 2-metre grass verge and tree lined approach to the central spine 

road from the Local Centre through to the residential parcels to the east.  

(b) A more appropriately rationalised road network, particularly within Phase 3 of the 

development, which follows a block network arrangement to follow the natural 

contours of the site and provide a simpler road network that improves 

permeability.  

(c) Addition of a permanent vehicular connection over the Running Furrows to 

improve permeability across the wider development site.  

(d) Introduction of a terraced housing crescent to the northern viewpoint to provide a 

strong street scene and character in this area and to improve natural 

surveillance.  

(e) Increased East Green public open space and integrated tree planting, as well as 

amendments to the surrounding dwellings to improve natural surveillance and 

provide a well-defined and strong public frontage to this key space.  

(f) Provision of additional edge lane footpaths to the western edge of the 

development to provide improved pedestrian connectivity and circular walking 

routes within the scheme.  

(g) Additional brick boundary walls have been added to plots in prominent locations 

to improve the strength of the street scene at key focal points.  

 

7.6.15 The current proposals are considered to remain broadly aligned with the parameters of the 

outline planning consent and the subsequently approved masterplan and design codes; 

whilst taking on board the detailed design recommendations identified within the former 

OPU Design Review.  

 

7.6.16 The Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer has reviewed the scheme, and has provided 

feedback on the application as part of the Design PAD meeting and subsequent meetings 

with Officers. A Building for a Healthy Life Assessment has been produced, which 

assesses the scheme as a whole (including elements of the proposed development that 

fall to be considered under separate planning applications currently awaiting determination 

by the LPA). This assessment identified that the scheme had made many improvements 

over time such as the inclusion of the feature square, appropriate materials section, the 

inclusion of street trees and improvements to parking arrangements, but noted that there 

was still scope to make further improvements as part of the current application. This 

included amendments to front boundary treatments and the selection of suitable street 

surfacing materials.  

 

7.6.17 The Applicant subsequently made further minor amendments to the scheme which 

included amendments to Plot 34 – 41 to amend the boundary treatment to allow better 

surveillance of the parking area, and to provide space for planting to soften this area. Plot 

18



 

 
 

39 has also been amended to include windows on the side elevation to overlook this 

parking area and to create a more attractive entrance. Railings have been extended along 

the central spine road to the east of the School / Local Centre, up the Plot 236. Phase 1B 

(eastern parcel) has been amended to include stone boundary walls to further reflect the 

character of the Manthorpe Conservation Area.  

 

7.6.18 In respect of street surfacing materials, a suitably worded condition has been included 

which requires the submission of further details with future proposals to be in broad 

accordance with the details indicated on the submitted Site Layout Plans.  

 

7.6.19 Following these changes, it is considered that when assessed in the context of the fallback 

position provided by the extant reserved matters consent, and the extent of matters 

assessed within the Building for a Healthy Life Assessment which fall to be considered as 

part of the current application, the application proposals are considered to be acceptable 

when scored against the Building for a Healthy Life criteria. As such, the current proposals 

are considered to represent an improvement to the overall design quality, when assessed 

against the extant reserved matters consent, and would result in high quality place 

making.  

 

7.6.20 Each of the reserved matters which have been included for consideration in the current 

application are discussed in turn below.  

 

7.7 Layout 

 

7.7.1 As indicated above, the general layout and design of the proposal broadly remains the 

same as approved under the extant reserved matters consent. The current development 

proposals are considered to be in accordance with the broad parameters set out in the 

outline planning permission as well as the principles established in the approved 

masterplan and design code, whilst being further enhanced by addressing the outstanding 

recommendations made by the OPUN Design Review.  

 

7.7.2 The layout of Phase 3 of the development (to the west of the Running Furrows) has been 

amended to produce a more rationalised road network, utilising perimeter blocks and edge 

lanes, rather than cul-de-sacs to ensure that the scheme more appropriately assimilates 

into the site contours. This ensures that the development maintains a clear street 

hierarchy and helps to define character by providing a consistent building line and 

enclosed street scene. The amendments also assist in ensuring that properties within this 

phase have appropriate plot relationships to maintain adequate standards of residential 

amenity and provide suitable private amenity space.  

 

7.7.3 The overall permeability of the scheme has also been enhanced through the provision of a 

permanent vehicular bridge connection across the Running Furrows. The bridge is 

designed to provide a single lane connection from west to east as well as a separate cycle 

and pedestrian connection. The inclusion of the bridge is considered to enhance 

permeability between Phase 1B (to the east) and the remainder of the development 

scheme, to ensure that the site is delivered as a comprehensive proposal as opposed to 

Phase 1B and the adjacent strategic landscaping and open space forming an isolated part 

of the development. 

 

19



 

 
 

7.7.4 In addition to the above, additional edge lane footpaths have been added to the western 

edge of the development to provide further perimeter walks and enhance the pedestrian 

connectivity within and to existing routes. These additions are considered to enhance the 

movement network within the site through the provision of improved circular walking 

routes and enabling direct links to the strategic open space situated in the north-west of 

the site, adjacent to Belton Lane.  

 

7.7.5 The amendments to the road network and the inclusion of the proposed vehicular bridge 

across the Running Furrows have evolved through consultation between the Applicant, 

Officers and the Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highway Authority). The road 

network and bridge design will be subject to detailed technical design approval as part of 

the Section 278 Agreement.  

 

7.7.6 Furthermore, minor amendments are also proposed to the residential layout around the 

northern vantage point, which provides views towards St John’s Church in Manthorpe, St. 

Wulfram’s Church in Grantham and Bellmount Tower in Belton Park. The layout has been 

revised to include a housing crescent, which reinforces the nature of the views available 

from this vantage point, whilst ensuring that the built form fronts onto this key space to 

provide a clearly defined street character and natural surveillance.  

 

7.7.7 Similarly, Plot 369 and 370, which are positioned at a key focal point within the 

development whereby the east-west cycleway, central spine road and East Green all 

meet, have been amended to 45-degree corner turner house types. This amendment is 

considered to provide a smoother transition between the building lines on either side, 

whilst providing an active frontage to the cycleway, spine road and East Green which will 

also provide appropriate levels of natural surveillance. The alignment of these properties 

has also been reviewed so that there is a clear line of sight along the length of the east-

west cycleway to the spire of the Church of St. John in the east.  

 

7.7.8 Plots 34-41 have also been replanned to ensure appropriate parking layout and street 

scene on the western side of the central square provided at the Local Centre.  

 

7.7.9 Similarly, Plots 157 and 158 have been amended to integral house types to improve the 

availability of on-plot parking, thereby reducing the potential for on-street parking near to 

the opposing T-junction. These amendments are considered to assist in improving the 

internal highways safety, as well as reducing the potential for the streetscene of the north-

south spine road being cluttered by on-street car parking. 

 

7.7.10 A number of bin collection points, that were previously positioned adjacent to public 

routes, have been relocated to be adjacent to the respective residential properties. This 

amendment is considered to assist in securing an uncluttered street that also functions in 

an effective way for future occupiers. 

 

7.7.11 As detailed above, the amendments pursued as part of the current reserved matters 

application, have evolved following consultation with key technical consultees as part of 

Design PAD as well as subsequent meetings; this has included extensive input from the 

Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer to endeavour to secure high-quality design as 

part of the detailed development proposals.  

 

20



 

 
 

7.7.12 As detailed above, the Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer has identified that the 

scheme has made many improvements over time such as the inclusion of the feature 

square and improvements to parking arrangements, which contribute to an overall 

improvement to the scheme when assessed against the previous permission.  

 

7.7.13 The proposed dwellings would be sufficiently well separated, and aligned and orientated, 

to ensure that there would be no unacceptable overlooking / loss of privacy, 

overshadowing / loss of light or dominance of outlook to occupiers of adjoining properties, 

when assessed using the standards set out in the recently adopted Design Guidelines 

SPD. In this regard, the proposals would not detract from the amenities of existing 

residential properties to the south and east of the site, and would provide an appropriate 

standard of amenity for future occupiers of the development.  

 

7.7.14 Consequently, Officers consider that the current proposals do not depart from the 

principles and parameters established as part of the outline planning permission and 

masterplan, whilst also taking on board the recommendation of the OPUN Design Review 

to secure improvements to the overall design quality. The current proposals are also 

considered to be a significant improvement when assessed against the extant planning 

permission.  

 

7.8 Scale 

 

Policy Context 

 

7.8.1 Local Plan Policy H4 (Meeting All Housing Needs) seeks to ensure that residential 

development is of an appropriate size and type to meet the current and future needs of the 

District.  

 

7.8.2 Similarly, Section 5 of the Framework sets out the requirement to provide sufficient 

amount and variety of land to meet the size, type and tenure of housing required to meet 

the needs of different groups in the community. 

 

Evaluation 

 

7.8.3 As previously detailed, as per the outline planning permission, the quantum of residential 

development on the site remains at 480 dwellings. Whilst the current proposals involve a 

minor number of plot substitutions and changes to house types, the overall mix of housing 

types and sizes remains broadly the same as approved under the previous reserved 

matters application. 

 

7.8.4 The proposed dwellings are all 2- 2 ½ storey in height and vary in size between 1, 2, 3, 4 

and 5 bedrooms. They are arranged in detached, semi-detached and short terraced forms. 

In the context of the above, the housing mix and density is considered to be appropriate 

for the edge of town location, and would provide a range of housing opportunities in 

accordance with the broad housing mix identified in the Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (2017 Update). As such, the proposals are considered to comply with Policy 

H4.  

 

21



 

 
 

7.8.5 In connection to the above, with regards to the quantum, distribution and mix of affordable 

housing on the site, this is a matter that is covered separated by the Section 106 

Agreement attached to the outline planning permission. Schedule 1 of the Section 106 

Agreement requires the submission of a detailed affordable housing scheme prior to the 

commencement of development. 

 

7.8.6 As indicated above, the proposed dwellings are a mix of 2 and 2 ½ storey properties, and 

the submitted house type plans demonstrates how the eaves heights and ridge heights 

vary between the various house types. The distribution of these house types throughout 

the development is considered to be appropriate to assist the scheme in assimilating to 

the local context and providing legibility i.e., through variation in the scale of dwellings in 

towards the Local Centre when compared to the fringes of the site, and would also provide 

visual interest in the overall street scene.  

 

7.8.7 The proposed scale of development, combined with the proposed site layout, would 

ensure that the proposed development scheme would provide an appropriate level of 

residential amenity for existing residents as well as future occupiers of the proposed 

scheme.  

 

7.8.8 Taking the above into account, it is considered that the scale of the buildings are 

appropriate for the site context and would contribute to the delivery of high-quality 

placemaking. 

 

7.9 Appearance 

 

7.9.1 Similar to the above, the appearance of the current scheme remains broadly the same as 

the details approved as part of the extant reserved matters consent. The current proposals 

seek minor changes to the overall appearance through the substitution of various house 

types, with the most notable change being the provision of the permanent vehicular bridge 

link across the Running Furrows.  

 

7.9.2 As detailed above, the bridge is designed to provide a single lane connection from west to 

east as well as a separate cycle and pedestrian connection. In this respect, it is 

appreciated that the detailed technical design of the bridge will be subject to subsequent 

approval under a Section 278 Agreement with Lincolnshire County Council (as Local 

Highways Authority), and that this technical consenting process will have significant 

influence in terms of the external appearance of the bridge. As such, formal approval of 

the external appearance of the bridge is to be controlled through a suitably worded 

condition, with details expected to be received following the submission of the Section 278 

Agreement. 

 

7.9.3 Notwithstanding the above, the Applicant has submitted initial design drawings and visual 

sketches to demonstrate the proposed design. The submitted details are indicative only at 

this stage but indicates the provision of a stone bridge with stone parapets and a low level 

railing, and features stone columns at either end.  

 

7.9.4 As originally submitted, the indicative details suggested a structure comprised of a single 

material over a culverted arrangement for the Running Furrows. The Council’s Principal 

22



 

 
 

Urban Design Officer reviewed the submitted indicative design and advised that a more 

elegant arch arrangement would be preferable. 

 

7.9.5 The Applicant subsequently amended the indicative design of the bridge and have sought 

to achieve the appearance of a greater arch without altering the size of the culverted 

arrangement; this is because the Applicant is mindful of a greater arch size potentially 

making the underneath of the bridge accessible, thereby resulting in anti-social behaviour 

and the maintenance implications of a larger arch. As such, they have amended the plans 

to indicate the use of a stark contrasting brick with a recess and brick detailing, to provide 

the appearance of a grander arch. 

 

7.9.6 The revised indicative arrangements are considered to be acceptable and as such, the 

condition requires the formal details submitted for future approval to be in broad 

accordance with the current plans.   

 

7.9.7 Furthermore, as referenced previously, Plot 369 and 370, which are positioned at a key 

focal point within the development whereby the east-west cycleway, central spine road 

and East Green all meet, have been amended to 45-degree corner turner house types. 

This amendment is considered to provide a smoother transition between the building lines 

on either side, whilst providing an active frontage to the cycleway, spine road and East 

Green which will also provide appropriate levels of natural surveillance. 

 

7.9.8 In this respect, the submitted house types remain largely the same as previously 

approved, with the exception of the minor alterations / additions of house types to reflect 

the various plot substitutions discussed in this report. In this regard, the house types are 

traditional vernacular form, however, they utilise three distinct themes of detailing – 

classic, cottage and contemporary – which have been arranged to create distinctive 

character areas throughout the development.  

 

7.9.9 These differing house types, together with the varied boundary treatments and 

landscaping works for the respective character types, work together to provide distinct 

areas and assist in promoting the legibility.  

 

7.9.10 Within the context of the broad themes discussed above, the proposed scheme also 

incorporates individual architectural detailing and flourishes to create bespoke properties 

on key corner plots throughout the site.  

 

7.9.11 Furthermore, in terms of materiality, the palette of materials chosen reflect those used 

locally and includes a mixture of red and buff bricks, with some render and reconstituted 

stone for walls, with grey slate effect tiles and red pantiles for roofs. Similar to the above, 

the selection of materials seeks to create individual character areas throughout the 

development, and also serves to reinforce the street hierarchy and emphasise key focal 

points. For example, the use of buff brick is largely focused along the north-south spine 

road, and where this road transitions into the east-west spine road, the materiality also 

transitions into prevalence of red brick. Key focal properties around the Greens, 

Viewpoints and Local Centre utilise reconstituted stone and ivory coloured render to 

signify their visual prominence and create an attractive and legible streetscene. Conditions 

are proposed which require the submission of a detailed materials schedule for the 

external appearance of the dwellings, to be in broad accordance with the above details.  

23



 

 
 

 

7.9.12 In light of the above, it is Officers’ view that the proposed appearance details for the site, 

when assessed in the context of the “fallback” position provided by the extant planning 

permission, are appropriate for the site and would contribute to the delivery of a high-

quality design throughout the development.  

 

7.10 Landscaping 

 

Policy Context 

 

7.10.1 Policy OS1 (Open Space) sets out the requirement for all new housing developments to 

provide sufficient new (or improved) open space to meet the needs of the development. 

Development proposals will be assessed against the current open space provision and in 

areas that do not currently meet the standards identified, the proposals will be required to 

make appropriate provision in order to meet the identified standards. New open space 

provision is expected to form an integral part of the development layout and should seek 

to provide net gains to biodiversity and green infrastructure where possible. Where the 

above standards cannot be achieved on site as part of the development, an off-site 

financial contribution will be expected. 

 

7.10.2 Policy EN2 (Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity) identifies that the Council will 

facilitate the conservation, enhancement and promotion of the District’s biodiversity and 

geological interests of the natural environment. This includes seeking to enhance 

ecological networks and seeking to deliver a net gain on all proposals 

 

7.10.3 Furthermore, Policy EN3 (Green Infrastructure) seeks to maintain and enhance the green 

infrastructure network in the District by enhancing, creating and managing green space 

within and around settlements. Development proposals should ensure that existing and 

new green infrastructure is integrated into the scheme’s design, and takes opportunities to 

enrich biodiversity, enable greater connectivity and provide sustainable access for all. 

 

7.10.4 Paragraph 131 of the Framework identifies that “Trees can make an important contribution 

to the character and quality of urban environments, and can also help to mitigate and 

adapt to climate change. Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new streets 

are tree lined, that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments 

(such as parks and community orchards), that appropriate measures are in place to 

secure the long-term maintenance of newly-planted trees, and that existing trees are 

retained wherever possible” 

 

7.10.5 In addition, Paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that planning 

policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 

by “minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 

establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future 

pressures”. 

 

Evaluation 

 

7.10.6 As outlined in Section 2 of this report, the landscaping matters that fall to be considered as 

part of the current application relate to the detailed landscaping provision forming part of 

24



 

 
 

the residential parcels of the development, including the on-plot boundary treatments and 

landscaping works, and the provision of street trees along the spine roads throughout the 

development. Matters relating to the strategic landscaping areas to the east, south and 

north-west of the wider site, the key gateway entrances into the site, and the detailed 

landscaping design of the Greens and Viewpoints fall to be considered under reserved 

matters application S21/0175. 

 

7.10.7 In addition, as previously mentioned the Section 106 Agreement attached to the outline 

planning permission also includes appropriate provisions to secure the amount of open 

space on the site, including the quantum of formal play areas, sports grounds, informal 

green space, allotments and a community orchard, as well as the future management of 

these areas.  

 

7.10.8 Furthermore, Condition 12 of the Appeal Decision requires the submission and approval of 

a site-specific tree protection method statement and plan, concurrently with each reserved 

matters application. An application for the approval of details reserved by this condition 

was submitted alongside the extant reserved matters consent, this application (S18/1459) 

is currently pending consideration by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

7.10.9 Similarly, Condition 18 of the Appeal Decision requires the submission and appropriate of 

a landscape and ecological management plan, in accordance with the recommendations 

and mitigation measures identified in the Environmental Statement submitted as part of 

the outline planning application. The submission and approval of these details will also 

assist in securing the required enhancements to ecology and a biodiversity net gain.  

 

7.10.10 As set out previously, the current reserved matters application seeks moderate 

amendments to the extant reserved matters consent, to ensure that the development 

responds more appropriately to the site contours and also takes on board the outstanding 

recommendations of the OPUN (Design Midlands) Design Review.  

 

7.10.11 In this respect, as part of the amendments to the layout of Phase 3 of the development, to 

include the block form of residential plots and the extension of the east-west spine road 

through to the proposed permanent vehicular bridge link, the East Green area of public 

open space has been increased in size and now provides a key focal point for this phase 

of the development.  

 

7.10.12 In this respect, the extant reserved matters consent provided a sufficient amount of open 

space on the site to fulfil the requirements of the Section 106 Agreement associated with 

the outline planning permission. As such, the amendments sought as part of the current 

proposals only serve to increase the amount of POS to be delivered as part of the 

development scheme.  

 

7.10.13 The proposed development has been landscape-led from its initial submission at the 

outline stage. Nonetheless, following the OPUN Design Review, the previous reserved 

matters proposals were amended to incorporate further landscaping through the addition 

of street trees along the main north-west spine road. The current reserved matters 

application proposes to extend this tree-lined approach further so that it now extends 

along the east-west spine road from the Local Centre through to the proposed vehicular 

bridge link across the Running Furrows. This amendment is considered to be a significant 

25



 

 
 

improvement to the overall design quality by reinforcing the hierarchy of streets and 

securing a leafy character to the development, in a manner that is in keeping with its edge 

of town location.  

 

7.10.14 In relation to the above, the OPUN Design Review also recognised the importance of the 

landscape and boundary treatments in contributing to the character of the overall 

streetscene and the legibility of the development. In this regard, the Applicant has 

submitted a Landscaping Strategy, prepared by Lockhart Garratt, which outlines the 

approach to be taken to the proposed landscaping; this report is also supplemented by 

detailed plans showing the proposed boundary and landscaping treatments for the 

residential plots.  

 

7.10.15 Section 4 of the Landscaping Strategy Report identifies that the proposed boundary 

treatments and landscaping will follow the various character areas of the house type 

designs, detailed above.  Whilst the overall approach to the on-plot boundaries and 

landscaping is considered to be acceptable, the Council’s Landscape Consultee has 

advised that the plant species selection does need to be amended to ensure that the 

proposed species is appropriate for the site’s context and capable of long-term 

establishment within the site. As such, the formal approval of the plant species selection is 

proposed to be controlled by a suitably worded condition requiring the submission of 

further soft landscaping details.  

 

7.10.16 The Classic House Type Character Area will feature box hedging as a principal boundary 

treatment.. These properties will also feature 1.2m metal estate fencing. Where the 

Classic house type dwelling fronts onto the retained agricultural land to the north of the 

site, the boundary hedgerows will be a mixture of native species. Similarly, the street trees 

within this area also feature a range of species type.  

 

7.10.17 Within the Cottage House Type Character Area, front boundary treatments will be defined 

hedge, which will be selected to provide year round screening for these properties. As 

above, in some circumstances, these hedges are also supplemented with 1.2m high 

estate fencing to provide consistency throughout the development and natural transition 

between the respective character areas.  

 

7.10.18 The street trees within this character area will be selected to complement the proposed 

boundary treatments but provide clear contrast between the street trees selected in the 

Classic Character Area.  

 

7.10.19 The Contemporary House Type Character Area has been treated in a manner to provide 

visual interest to the streetscene whilst seeking to assimilate within the edge of town 

location. Species have been selected which complement the other character areas whilst 

also providing clearly distinct appearances to assist with legibility. For example, the 

boundary hedgerows are proposed to be populated with species that are less traditional, 

whilst still using a predominantly native selection.  

 

7.10.20 Similarly, the street trees within this character area will feature a selection that provides 

striking colours to provide an attractive street scene. 

 

26



 

 
 

7.10.21 The broad approach to boundary treatments and landscaping is considered to reflect the 

recommendations of the OPU review, insofar as the serve to reinforce the street hierarchy 

and provide legibility to the various character areas. The formal species selection is 

expected to provide an appropriate balance to ensure that the respective character areas 

are distinct, but complimentary to one another and the edge of town location of the site. 

  

7.10.22 As part of the current application, the location of on-plot front boundary hedgerows has 

been re-positioned so that the box hedgerow is now positioned to the back edge of the 

footways that run throughout the development. This repositioning is in accordance with the 

principles identified within the Building for a Healthy Life guidance, which seeks to ensure 

that there is a clear definition of the boundary between public and private space and 

therefore assists in clarifying future management responsibilities.  

 

7.10.23 Within the broad landscaping approach detailed above, the current reserved application 

also includes a number of minor amendments to boundary treatments with proposals to 

include a number of additional brick boundary walls for properties which occupy key focal 

points within the street scene. In this respect, brick walls are now proposed to be utilised 

in the side boundaries of Plots 17, 46, 149, 170 and 284. 

 

7.10.24 In addition, following feedback from the Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer, Phase 

1B (eastern parcel) boundary treatments have been amended to increase the use of stone 

walls to assist in ensuring that this area more appropriately reflects the character of the 

Manthorpe Conservation Area.  

 

7.10.25 Similarly, minor alterations have been made to the boundary treatments of Plot 34 – 41 to 

assist in providing a consistent approach to the boundary treatment in this area, and the 

provide a soft landscaped character to the rear parking area. Likewise, minor alterations 

have been made to the boundary locations of Plot 167, 440 and 456 to assist in clearly 

demarcating public and private land.  

 

7.10.26 Furthermore, as referenced previously, the hard landscaping materials selected around 

the junction between the east-west spine road and the route between the northern 

viewpoint and the South Green, have been amended to include additional block paving. 

This is considered to be appropriate in assisting to highlight to drivers and other users of 

the area of the increased likelihood of pedestrians and cyclists crossing the road in this 

area, as well as the change in character from the Local Centre to the residential parcels in 

the east. Conditions are proposed to require the submission of further details in relation to 

the street surfacing materials in accordance with the above details, to ensure that the 

selected materials achieve the desired effect.  

 

7.10.27 Taking the above into account, the overall approach to the on-plot boundary treatments 

and landscaping and the selection of street trees is considered to be comprehensive and 

well-thought out and will assist in creating a high-quality and pleasant environment for 

future users. The additional planting alongside the retention of the existing vegetation that 

permeates through the site – for example the mature hedgerows that run north-south 

between Phase 1 and 2 and Phase 2 and 3 – will also result in overall enhancements to 

ecology and a biodiversity net gain.  

 

27



 

 
 

7.10.28 Notwithstanding the above, whilst the overall approach to the on-plot boundaries and 

landscaping is considered to be acceptable, the Council’s Landscape Consultee has 

advised that the plant species selection does need to be amended to ensure that the 

proposed species is appropriate for the site’s context and capable of long-term 

establishment within the site. As such, the formal approval of the plant species selection is 

proposed to be controlled by a suitably worded condition requiring the submission of 

further soft landscaping details. 

 

7.10.29 As such, subject to conditions securing the amended plant species selection, the detailed 

landscaping proposals are considered to be appropriate and in accordance with Policies 

OS1, EN1, EN2 and EN3 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  

 

7.11 Other Relevant Issues 

 

Noise 

 

7.11.1 Condition 9 of the outline planning permission requires a detailed design and specification 

for the noise attenuation bund and associated measures alongside the East Coast Main 

Line railway on the western boundary, to be submitted with the relevant reserved matters 

application. Details of the proposed bund have been submitted which indicates the proviso 

of an acoustic fence on the top of the proposed bund; these replicate the details previously 

considered to be acceptable as part of the extant reserved matters consent. 

 

7.11.2 The Council’s Environmental Protection Team have been consulted on the application and 

have confirmed that they have no further comments to make on the proposed measures.  

 

7.11.3 The proposed landscaping treatment of the noise bund and the remainder of this north-

western area of open space, falls to be considered as part of S21/0175.  

 

7.11.4 Taking the above into account, the proposed noise attenuation details are considered to 

be appropriate and would accord with the requirements of Policy EN4 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan. Notwithstanding the above, conditions are suggested to 

require validation testing of the noise attenuation measures, prior to the occupation of any 

dwellings on site.  

 

Highways  

 

7.11.5 The highways safety and capacity impact of additional traffic on the surrounding highways 

network, together with the position / nature of the accesses and general road layout was 

assessed and considered to be acceptable as part of the Inspector’s assessment of the 

appeal at the outline stage and, therefore, this is not a matter for consideration as part of 

the current reserved matters application.  

 

7.11.6 The road and movement network within the site, including parking and other related 

issues, have been assessed by Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways 

Authority); this included providing interim feedback through the Design PAD and 

subsequent meetings with the Applicant on the prospective amendments. Consequently, 

28



 

 
 

the development is considered to be in accordance with Policy ID2 of the adopted Local 

Plan and Section 9 of the Framework in this regard.  

 

Heritage 

 

7.11.7 The site is within the setting of a number of heritage assets, including Belton House and 

Park; Manthorpe Conservation Area, including St. John’s Church; and St. Wulfram’s in 

Grantham Town Centre.  

 

7.11.8 In this regard, it is appreciated that public representations have raised objections to the 

development on the basis of the impact of the development on the Manthorpe 

Conservation Area. Similarly, the Associated of Gardens Trust have also objected to the 

scheme on the basis of the impact of the development on the Grade I Listed Belton House 

and Registered Park and Garden.  

 

7.11.9 The Appeal Inspector was clear in his decision that development within the parameters of 

the outline permission would not result in harm to the setting of the heritage assets. 

 

7.11.10 Similarly, it is noted that neither Historic England nor the Council’s Conservation Officer 

have raised any objections as part of the consultation of the current plans.  

 

7.11.11 The current reserved matters application proposes moderate amendments to the extant 

reserved matters consent. In this regard, the reserved matters proposals are considered to 

accord with the approved principles and parameters and by virtue of the detailed design, 

scale, landscaping and materials, would not harm the setting of the heritage assets in 

accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan, Section 9 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework and Section 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 

Other Issues not within the scope of the current application 

 

Pollution 

 

7.12 It is appreciated that a number of public representations have raised concerns about the 

impact of the development on air quality, as a result of the increase in vehicular 

movements from the site.  

 

7.13 Similar to the above, air quality was considered at the outline stage and, subject to the 

mitigation measures set out within the Section 106 Agreement including the improvements 

to cycling and walking connections and the implementation of a travel plan, and the 

approval of a Construction Management Plan (secured by Condition 16 of the appeal 

decision), was deemed to be acceptable.  

 

Infrastructure Provision 

 

7.13.1 It is also noted that public representations have also raised objection on the basis of 

insufficient infrastructure to support the development.  

 

29



 

 
 

7.13.2 As per the above, the availability and provision of sufficient infrastructure capacity was 

assessed at the outline stage. The Applicant has entered into a Section 106 Agreement 

which secures financial contributions and upgrades to existing infrastructure provision to 

support the development scheme.  

 

7.13.3 As such, subject to compliance with the Section 106 Agreement, the development has 

been deemed to be acceptable in this respect.  

 

8 Crime and Disorder 
 

8.1 Lincolnshire Police’s Crime Prevention Officer has confirmed that they have no objections 

to the proposed scheme. As such, it is considered that the proposal would not give rise to 

adverse impacts in respect of fear of crime and disorder.  

 

9 Human Rights Implications 

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 

home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 

recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that Act will be breached 

 

10 Conclusions 
 

10.1 The current reserved matters application falls to be assessed against the parameters of 

the outline planning permission, as well as the principles established within the approved 

masterplan and design code. Furthermore, the proposals are also required to consider the 

valid “fallback” position provided by the extant reserved matters consent that exists for the 

site. In this regard, the current application seeks moderate amendments to the extant 

permission to take on board the remaining recommendations of the OPUN (Design 

Midlands) Design Review completed as part of the previous reserved matters application, 

and to ensure that the scheme responds more appropriately to the site levels and 

contours.  

 

10.2 In this context, the current proposals are considered to remain in broad accordance with 

the parameters of the outline permission, as well as the principles approved within the 

masterplan and design code. Within this framework, the scheme also incorporates the 

recommendations of the Design Review, as well as the feedback provided through 

engagement with Officers and technical consultees as part of the Council’s Design PAD 

process and subsequent meetings. This has resulted in a detailed design that performs 

well against the Government endorsed Building for a Healthy Life metric, and against the 

policy requirements of the Council’s adopted Local Plan, and Design Guidelines SPD, as 

well as the provisions contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

10.3 The design of the proposals would result in a scheme that positively assimilates with the 

site’s edge of town location and the existing built form to the south and east, whilst also 

creating an attractive and high-quality place, which has distinct character areas and 

identity. The scheme has been designed so that it provides legibility and permeability 

throughout to enhance the experience of future occupiers, when considered against the 

extant consent.  

30



 

 
 

 

10.4 As previously determined by the Inspector’s appeal decision, the scheme would not give 

rise to any acceptable adverse impacts on the setting of heritage assets, ecological 

assets, or highways safety. The submitted detailed design also ensures that the scheme 

would provide an appropriate mix of housing and level of residential amenity for all.  

 

10.5 Consequently, in view of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with 

Policies H4, EN1, EN2, EN3, EN4, EN6, DE1, SB1, OS1 and ID2 of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan, the Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) and the 

National Planning Policy Framework (Adopted July 2021).  

 

10.6 In light of the above, it is considered that the application proposals would accord with the 

development plan when assessed as a whole, and there are no material considerations 

which indicate that planning permission should not be granted, subject to appropriate 

conditions.  

 

11 Recommendation 
 

11.1 That the Assistant Director – Planning is authorised to GRANT planning permission 

subject to the conditions set out below.  

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following list of approved plans:  

 

Site Location Plan 

- Site Location Plan showing ARM Application Area (Ref: L--/SL/ARM/Rev C) 

 

Site Layout 

- Site Layout Plan – Overview (Ref: L--/SL/OVERVIEW/REV G) 

- Site Layout Plan – Phase 1A (Ref: L--/SL/P01A/REV G) 

- Site Layout Plan – Phase 1B (Ref: L--/SL/P01B/REV H) 

- Site Layout Plan – Phase 2 (Ref: L--/SL/P02/REV H) 

- Site Layout Plan – Phase 3 (Ref: L--/SL/P03/REV J) 

 

Boundaries and Landscaping 

- Boundaries & Landscaping Plan Overview (Ref: L--/BOUNDLAND/5/Rev G) 

- Boundaries & Landscaping – Sheet 1 of 4 (Ref: L--/BOUNDLAND/1/Rev E) 

- Boundaries & Landscaping – Sheet 2 of 4 (Ref: L--/BOUNDLAND/2/Rev F) 

- Boundaries & Landscaping – Sheet 3 of 4 (Ref: L--/BOUNDLAND/3/Rev G) 

- Boundaries & Landscaping – Sheet 4 of 4 (Ref: L--/BOUNDLAND/4/Rev G) 

 

Materials  

- External Materials Plan (Ref: L--/EXTMAT/01/Rev D) 

- Roof Materials Plan (Ref: L--/ROOFMAT/01/Rev D) 

 

House Types 

- Plot Schedule (Dated 17 November 2021) 

- Plot Schedule – Detailed Design (Dated 22 December 2021) 

31



 

 
 

- House Type Styles Plan (L--/STYLES/01/Rev D) 

- Phases 2 & 3 Replan Corner Plots Plan (Ref: L--/REPLAN/CORNERS/01/REVA) 

- Phases 2 & 3 Replan Focal Plots Plan (Ref: L--/REPLAN/FOCAL/01/REV A) 

- Classic House Types Pack received 17 November 2021 with the exception of 

House Type 2318 – Corner Plot. 

- 2318 House Type – Classic Design – Corner Plot (Ref: 

L52/2318DS/CLA/CORNER/Rev A) 

- Contemporary House Types Pack received 17 November 2021 

- Cottage House Types Pack received 17 November 2021 

 

Garages 

- Double Shared Carport (Ref: L000/CARPORT/DBL/DS) 

- Triple Shared Carport (Ref: L000/CARPORT/TRP/DS) 

- Standard Garage – Double and Single V3 Sheet 1 (Ref: L000/D&SG-V3/01) 

- Standard Garage – Double and Single V3 Sheet 2 (Ref: L000/D&SG-V3/02) 

- Double Garage – Front Gable (Ref: L000/DG/01) 

- Double Garage – Side Gable (Ref: L000/DG/02) 

- Double Shared Garage – Side Gable (Ref: L000/DSG/02) 

- Single Garage – Front Gable (Ref: L000/SG/04) 

- Attached Single Garage – Side Gable (Ref: L000/SG/05) 

- Triple Shared Garage – Side Gable Sheet 1 (Ref: L000/TSG/01) 

- Triple Shared Garage – Side Gable Sheet 2 (Ref: L000/TSG/02) 

 

Acoustic Bund 

- Noise Bund Elevation (Ref: WIE/SA/82/002/A01) 

- Acoustic Bund Cross Section (Ref: L000/BUND/01) 

 

Running Furrows Bridge Design 

- Running Furrows Crossing – Long and Cross Sections Layout (Ref: 

WIE/SA/04/011/A02) 

 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  

 

During Building Works 

 

Running Furrows Bridge Materials Details 

 

2) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, before any construction work above ground is 

commenced, full details of the external appearance (including details of the materials 

to be used) of the approved Vehicular Bridge over the Running Furrows, shall have 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details 

shall be in broad accordance with drawing Running Furrows Crossing – Long and 

Cross Sections Layout (Ref: WIE/SA/04/011/A02. Thereafter, the development shall be 

completed in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 

with Policy DE1.  

32



 

 
 

 

 External Materials Details 

 

3) Before any of the works on the external elevations for the building(s) hereby permitted 

are begun, full details of the materials (including colour of any render, paintwork or 

colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings 

shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Details shall be in broad accordance with the following drawings: External Materials 

Plan (Ref: L--/EXTMAT/01/Rev D) and Roof Materials Plan (Ref: L--

/ROOFMAT/01/Rev D). 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 

with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

 Soft Landscaping Details 

 

4) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, before any construction work above ground is 

commenced, revised plans showing full details of all soft landscaping works including 

the selection of appropriate plant species for the identified street trees and plot 

boundary treatments, together with a timetable for implementation shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall be in 

broad accordance with drawings: Boundaries & Landscaping Plan Overview (Ref: L--

/BOUNDLAND/5/Rev G), Boundaries & Landscaping – Sheet 1 of 4 (Ref: L--

/BOUNDLAND/1/Rev E), Boundaries & Landscaping – Sheet 2 of 4 (Ref: L--

/BOUNDLAN/2/Rev F), Boundaries & Landscaping – Sheet 3 of 4 (Ref: L--

/BOUNDLAND/3/Rev G) and Boundaries & Landscaping – Sheet 4 of 4 (Ref: L--

/BOUNDLAND/4/Rev G) and include:  

 

a. Planting plans 

b. Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with 

plant and grass establishment) 

c. Schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers / 

densities where appropriate.  

 

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with 

Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

 Hard Landscaping Detail 

 

5) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, before any works on site other than site 

clearance works commence, details of hard landscaping works together with a 

timetable for implementation shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. Details shall be in broad accordance with drawings: Site 

Layout Plan – Overview (Ref: L--/SL/OVERVIEW/REV G), Site Layout Plan – Phase 

1A (Ref: L--/SL/P01A/REV G), Site Layout Plan – Phase 1B (Ref: L--/SL/P01B/REV H), 

Site Layout Plan – Phase 2 (Ref: L--/SL/P02/REV H), Site Layout Plan – Phase 3 (Ref: 

L--/SL/P01A/REV J) and shall include:  

 

33



 

 
 

a. Detailed specification and materials for all hard surfaces, including public and 

private roads, paths and cycleways.  

 

Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 

DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Before the Development is Occupied 

 

 Hard Landscaping Implementation 

 

6) All hard landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved hard 

landscaping details and timetable for implementation. 

 

Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 

DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

 Soft Landscaping Implementation 

 

7) All soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved soft 

landscaping details and timetable for implementation. 

 

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 

DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

 Materials Implementation 

 

8) Before each dwelling is occupied, the external surfaces of that dwelling shall have 

been completed in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 

with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

 Boundary Treatments 

 

9) Before each part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use, 

the works to provide the boundary treatments relating to that part of the development 

shall have been completed in accordance with the approved boundary treatment 

scheme.  

 

Reason: To provide a satisfactory appearance to any boundary treatments and by 

screening rear gardens from public view, in the interests of the privacy and amenity of 

the occupants of the proposed and neighbouring dwellings and in accordance with 

Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

 

 

34



 

 
 

 Noise Attenuation Measure 

 

10) Before the occupation of any dwellings, Validation Testing of the noise attenuation 

works shall had been carried out and the results submitted to and approved by the 

Local Planning Authority. Such Validation Testing shall: 

 

a) Be carried out in accordance with an approved method statement 

b) Demonstrate that the specified noise levels have been achieved.  

 

In the event that the specified noise levels have not been achieved, then, 

notwithstanding the sound attenuation works thus far approved, a further scheme of 

sound attenuation works to the relevant dwellings affected, which is capable of 

achieving the specified noise levels recommended by an acoustic consultant, shall be 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before the use of the 

development is commenced. Such further scheme of works shall be installed as 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the relevant dwellings are 

occupied and shall thereafter, be retained.  

 

Reason: To protect residents from unacceptable noise levels generated by passing 

trains. 

 

 Notes to Applicant 

 

(1) In reaching this decision the Council has worked with the Applicant in a positive and 

proactive manner by determining the application without delay. As such, it is 

considered that the decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

(2) This consent applies only to that required by the Town and Country Planning Acts and 

does not include any permission or approval under any other enactment, bylaw or 

regulation.  

 

 

35



 

 
 

Site Location Plan 

 

 

36



 

 
 

Proposed Site Layout 

 

37



 

 
 

Proposed Boundaries and Landscaping Plan 

 

38



 

 
 

Indicative Running Furrows Bridge Design 

 

39



 

 
 

 

 

 

40



 

 
 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

41



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

20 January 2022 

  

   

         
  

 

S21/1210 

Proposal: Reserved matters application for access, appearance, 
layout and scale details relating to outline permission 
S18/0452 (Residential Development) 

Location: Ferndale House  
Swinstead Road 
Corby Glen 
NG33 4NU 

Applicant: Nottingham Community Housing Association and Modus 
Partnership 

Agent: RG+P Ltd. 
Application Type: Major Residential 
Reason for Referral to Committee: Major application 

 

Key Issues: Impact on Character of Area 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
Highways 
Drainage 
 

Technical Documents: Site Location Plan 
Proposed Plans 
 

 

 

 

Report Author 

Ellie Sillah (Senior Planning Officer) 

 
 01476 406403 

  Ellie.sillah@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Castle 
 

Reviewed by: Chris Brown (Principal Planning Officer) 10 January 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to GRANT planning permission, subject to 
conditions outlined in the report. 

43

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Ellie.sillah@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 Description of Site 

 

1.1 The application site lies to the west of Swinstead Road within the village of Corby Glen. 

Ferndale Close bounds the site to the north, with open countryside to the west. To the 

south is The Ron Dawson Memorial Hall and playing fields, with open countryside beyond. 

To the south of the proposed access road and to the east of the main part of the site is a 

large, detached bungalow (with accommodation in the roof), The Paddocks.  

 

1.2 On the opposite side of Swinstead Road (to the east) is a site allocated for residential 

development, identified in Policy H1 of the Local Plan as LV-H5, for approximately 250 

dwellings.   

 

2 Description of Proposal 

 

2.1 The application follows outline permission S18/0452 and seeks approval for reserved 

matters including details of access, appearance, layout and scale.  

 

2.2 The proposal is for 25no. dwellings in total comprising the following mix: 

• 2no. 1 bed bungalows 

• 2no. 2 bed bungalows 

• 8no. 2 bed dwellings 

• 12no. 3 bed dwellings 

• 1no. 4 bed dwelling 

 

2.3 The majority would be semi-detached. 5no. of the dwellings would be detached. 100% of 

the development is proposed as affordable housing.  

 

2.4 The proposed layout of the scheme includes access from Swinstead Road to the north 

side of a recently built large bungalow, The Paddocks, and to the south of Ferndale 

House. The road branches off in two directions within the site continuing towards the north 

west, and one road turning to the south. The dwellings are positioned fairly evenly spaced 

along the roads, with a large open green area and attenuation pond to the south west part 

of the site. 

 

2.5 The layout has undergone revisions following a Design PAD meeting. The main changes 

are summarised below: 

 

• Buildings re-designed into 4 separate character areas created via material and tile 
colour changes (Buff brick / Red tiles, Stone wall/ grey tiles, Red brick  / Red tiles and 
Buff brick / Grey tiles), window and porch stye changes, including creation central 
enhanced red brick dwellings behind estate railings (5-7, 16-17) (See below plan) 

• Plot 16 changed to dual aspect on the important corner in the centre of the site 

• Plots 12-15 revised to face POS with plot 12 being dual aspect  

• Boundary treatments revised including a low stone wall added to site entrance, existing 
hedge retained as much as possible on road frontage, estate railings added to central 
area with proposed new hedging to front gardens 

• Omitted proposed trees from end of main road to have view out into countryside  

• The updated swale design following detail drainage design.  

• Additional fence added to rear of The Paddock on the title boundary  

44



 

 
 

• Footpath shown to link across farm track to adjacent playing fields  

 

 

 

3 Relevant History 

 

3.1 S18/0452 – Residential Development (Outline permission, approved by committee on 

21.08.2018 and decision issued 05.03.2019 with Section 106 agreement) 

 

4 Policy Considerations 

 

4.1 SKDC Local Plan 2011 – 2036 

• Policy SD1: The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

• Policy H2: Affordable Housing 

• Policy H4: Meeting All Housing Needs 

• Policy DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design  

• Policy ID2: Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure  

45



 

 
 

• Policy OS1: Open Space 

• EN5: Water Environment and Flood Risk Management 

 

4.2 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places 

 

5 Representations Received  

 

5.1 Parish Council Comments: 

5.1.1 Corby Glen Parish Council requires that all roads, including the apparently ‘private’ road in 

front of the bungalows, should be adopted by LCC / SKDC before any building work 

commences. 

 

5.2 LCC Highways/SuDS Comments: 

5.2.1 Notice is hereby given that the County Council as Local Highway and Lead Local Flood 

Authority: 

 

Requests that any permission given by the Local Planning Authority shall 

include the conditions below. 

 

CONDITIONS (INCLUDING REASONS)  

 

5.2.2 Not withstanding the details as shown on drawing numbers: FW2060-D-400-01, 02 and 

FW2060-E-500-01, 02 the proposed drainage strategy shall incorporate a SuDS drainage 

design for the disposal of surface water run-off from the proposed development site 

including the provision of a detailed drainage strategy report with geotechnical interpretive 

reports (infiltration assessments, ground water tables, hydraulic calculations). 

 

5.2.3 Highway Condition 33 

The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with a surface water 

drainage scheme which shall first have been approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

The scheme shall: 

• be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological 
and hydrogeological context of the development; 

• provide flood exceedance routing for storm event greater than 1 in 100 year; 

• provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms up 
to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for climate 
change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing local 
drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the run-off rate for 
the undeveloped site; 

• provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to 1.4 litres 
per second; 

• provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of implementation for the drainage 
scheme; 

and 

46



 

 
 

• provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime 
of the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public body or 
Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the operation of 
the drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

 

No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed or provided 

on the site in accordance with the approved phasing. The approved scheme shall be 

retained and maintained in full, in accordance with the approved details. 

 

To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating or 

increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, or upstream of, the 

permitted development. 

 

5.2.4 Highway Condition 00 

No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan and Method 

Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

which shall indicate measures to mitigate against traffic generation and drainage of the 

site during the construction stage of the proposed development. 

 

The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall include; 

 

• phasing of the development to include access construction; 

• the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

• loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

• storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

• wheel washing facilities; 

• the routes of construction traffic to and from the site including any off site routes for the 

• disposal of excavated material and; 

• strategy stating how surface water run off on and from the development will be 
managed during construction and protection measures for any sustainable drainage 
features. This should include drawing(s) showing how the drainage systems 
(permanent or temporary) connect to an outfall (temporary or permanent) during 
construction. 

 

The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall be strictly adhered to 

throughout the construction period. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating 

or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, the permitted 

development during construction and to ensure that suitable traffic routes are agreed. 

 

5.2.5 Highway Condition 26 

Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated footways 

that forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed within the limits of 

the existing highway, shall be laid out and constructed to finished surface levels in 

accordance with details to be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

47



 

 
 

In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards within the public 

highway  from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may otherwise remain for an 

extended period  at dissimilar, interim construction levels. 

 

5.2.6 Highway Condition 29 

The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with an Estate Road 

Phasing and Completion Plan, which shall first be approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The Plan shall set out how the construction of the development will be 

phased and standards to which the estate roads on each phase will be completed during 

the construction period of the development. 

 

To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian access is 

provided for residents throughout the construction period of the development. 

 

5.2.7 Highway Condition 20 

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before the provision of two sets 

of  pedestrian crossing points have been provided on Swinstead Road as shown on 

drawing number: 

FW2060-D-501-02, to connect the development to the existing footway network, has been 

provided in accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to, and approved 

in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The works shall also include appropriate 

arrangements for the management of surface water run-off from the highway. 

 

To ensure the provision of safe and adequate pedestrian access to the permitted 

development, without increasing flood risk to the highway and adjacent land and property. 

 

5.3 Environmental  Protection Comments: 

 
5.3.1 Reference your memorandum dated 23rd June 2021; Environmental Protection has 

reviewed the documents in respect of the above application. There are no comments 

relating to the above S21/1210 application (access, appearance, layout and scale). The 

applicant/developer should implement the recommendations/conclusions of the geo-

environmental assessment recorded in the S18/0452 planning application for the 

development and detailed in the planning decision notice.    

 

5.4 Representations as a result of Publicity 

5.4.1 One comment in support of the proposal has been received due to the ‘nice variety’ of 

properties.  

 

5.4.2 10 letters of objection have been received. These are summarised below: 

 

• Drainage concerns – would want to see a more detailed drainage strategy 

• Concern that the development will cause flooding for surrounding 

dwellings/gardens 

• What is the purpose of the pumping station? Where is its outlet? 

• Swinstead Road is not wide enough for a footpath on east side – road is already 

too narrow and dangerous 

48



 

 
 

• Concern that the proposed crossings will not be suitable for the busy road and 

would not be a safe alternative – road should be widened to allow footpaths on both 

sides 

• Increase in traffic from development and cumulatively from nearby large 

developments 

• Road has high volume of traffic and HGVs as existing 

• Development would cause overlooking and privacy issues for The Paddocks, 

Ferndale Close and Ferndale House 

• Development bears no resemblance to outline permission 

• Ownership of ‘common’ grass area should be clear and responsibility of 

maintenance should be determined upfront 

• Concerns raised over the publicity/consultation procedure 

• Large scale development – too many houses for size of site 

• Layout could be re-arranged to retain views of countryside for properties on 

Ferndale Close 

• Footprint of bungalows is cramped and should be increased 

• Noise pollution from access running parallel to The Paddocks 

• Contradicts Local Plan – site was not allocated for residential development 

• Development would be visually intrusive and out  of keeping with  character of area 

 

5.4.3 The above comments are addressed within the evaluation section of this report.  

 

6 Evaluation 
 

6.1 Principle of Development 

 

6.1.1 The principle of development has been established through outline permission S18/0452 

‘Residential development (outline with all matters reserved)’ which remains extant. The 

acceptability of the reserved matters is subject to site specific impacts as discussed below. 

 

6.2 Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 

 

6.2.1 Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan sets out the expectations for new development. In 

terms of visual impact, development should make a positive contribution to the local 

distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local 

identity and not have an adverse impact on the street scene, settlement pattern, and 

character of the surrounding area. Proposals should be of an appropriate scale, density, 

massing, height and material, given the context of the area.  

 

6.2.2 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF requires development to function well and add to the overall 

quality of the area; to be visually attractive; and to be sympathetic to local character and 

history, including the surrounding built environment. 

 

6.2.3 The designs of the dwellings vary in scale and materials including stone, red brick, buff 

brick, grey and red rooftiles. The dwellings face the highway, creating active frontages and 

all have off two off street parking spaces to the side.  

 

49



 

 
 

6.2.4 The dwellings would be constructed on a greenfield site, therefore this would alter the 

existing character and entrance to the village. The majority of the dwellings are located 

within the site, to the west of The Paddocks (which fronts Swinstead Road) therefore 

would not be overly prominent on the approach to the village. The built form would not go 

beyond the west of the existing dwellings to Ferndale Close, therefore would not encroach 

upon the open countryside to the west. The site would retain its open, rural character 

through the incorporation of an area of open space (approx. 5000 sq. m) to the south west 

section, which would include swales, an attenuation pond and trees. A mix of boundary 

treatments would be used including brick walls, hedgerow, and timber fencing. Street trees 

would be incorporated along the entrance road and 900mm high curved walls would be 

constructed either side of the entrance road, in Forticrete stone with a red brick base and 

stone coping, adding interest and character to the development. A pumping station would 

be located to the southern part of the site, enclosed by safety fencing and screened with 

hedgerow.  

 

6.2.5 Overall, the proposed scheme is considered to be in keeping with the character of the 

village and is not considered harmful in terms of visual amenity and with amendments 

made to the scheme during the consideration of the application.  

 

6.3 Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

6.3.1 Policy DE1 requires new development to not have any adverse impacts on residential 

amenity for neighbouring occupants in terms of a loss of light, light pollution, loss of 

privacy, or noise. Proposals should include sufficient private amenity space, suitable to the 

development proposed. 

 

6.3.2 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF requires development to ensure a high standard of amenity 

for existing and future users.  

 

6.3.3 The dwellings in closest proximity to the development include those on Ferndale Close to 

the north, and The Paddocks to the south of the access road. 

 

6.3.4 Plots 8 -11 are bungalows and are sited to the north west part of the site. The minimum 

distance to the dwellings on Ferndale Close is 22m. The minimum distance from Plots 7 

and 8 (two storey dwellings) to any dwellings on Ferndale Close is 37m. Considering the 

separation distances, positioning of the dwellings, and intervening boundary treatments, 

plus the low height of the bungalows, I do not consider that the proposal would result in 

any unacceptable impacts on residential amenity for the occupant of Ferndale Close in 

terms of loss of light, loss of privacy, overbearing impact or noise disturbance. 

 

6.3.5 The dwelling in closest proximity to the Paddocks would be Plot 25, a minimum of 11m 

away. There are no first floor windows to the side elevations of Plots 22 or 25 (both facing 

the rear boundary of The Paddocks). The windows to the rear elevations would not result 

in any direct views to habitable rooms and the separation distances are considered 

sufficient that there would not be a loss of privacy. Further, a boundary fence is proposed 

along the east boundary. 

 

6.3.6 With the above in mind, the impact on residential amenity for neighbouring occupants is 

considered acceptable.   

50



 

 
 

 

6.3.7 The spacing between the proposed dwellings on site is considered acceptable in terms of 

amenity for future occupiers of the development.  

6.3.8 Objections relating to the proposal obstructing views into the countryside have been 

noted, but in any case, are not material planning considerations. The separation distances 

and proposed layout are such that the views from Ferndale Close would be altered but not 

completely obstructed.  

6.3.9 Noise has been raised as a concern due to the proximity of the access road into the site to 

The Paddocks. Considering the relatively low number of vehicular movements the 

development would generate, I do not consider that the noise levels would be significantly 

increased for nearby occupants, especially when considering the location adjacent to 

Swinstead Road which has much higher levels of traffic than the proposed access road 

would. There is also potential for noise to be generated from the pumping station to the 

south of the site. However, given the separation distance from the closest dwelling, I do 

not consider it would have an unacceptable impact on amenity for future occupiers and no 

objections have been received from the Council’s Environmental Protection Team.  

 

6.4 Highway issues 

 

6.4.1 Policy ID2 of the Local Plan requires all new development to apply principles to reduce the 

need for travel, maximise the use of sustainable transport modes, and ensure there would 

be no severe impact on the safety and movement of traffic on the highway network. 

 

6.4.2 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF directs that development should only be prevented or refused 

on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 

residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  

 

6.4.3 LCC Highways have no objections to the proposed access or the road layout within the 

site which includes highway to be adopted plus three private drives (serving plots 10-15 

and 20-23). Conditions have been recommended that can be attached to the permission if 

approved. These are noted within the consultee comments section of the report.    

 

6.4.4 The outline permission included a condition that required the provision of a footpath along 

the west side of Swinstead Road to the Memorial Hall. Concerns have been raised by 

local residents regarding the existing width of the road, stating it is not wide enough and it 

is dangerous to walk along. The installation of a footpath would further narrow the road. 

The narrow width of the road (4.9m in parts) is an extant issue and is not one that would 

be exacerbated by the proposal.  

 

6.4.5 Rather than implementing the footpath, it has been suggested by LCC Highways that a 

series of crossings should be put in to safely access the existing footpath on the opposite 

side of the road. This would prevent the footpath from causing the width of the road to 

become even narrower and would provide safe access for pedestrians walking from the 

development or the village, to the Memorial Hall. Although the condition itself would not be 

met, the crossings would satisfy the reason for the condition and can be secured by a 

condition attached to this permission if approved. The comments suggesting widening the 

road have been noted, however given the scale of the proposal, it would not be 

reasonable to require such works. Further, the land required for the widening of the road is 

not within the ownership of the applicant.  

51



 

 
 

 

6.4.6 In addition to the crossings, a pedestrian access gate has been included on the proposed 

plan from the south boundary of the site, across the track to the playing field as an 

alternative pedestrian route. The intention would be to install a gate opposite to the playing 

field. The track that runs between the site and the playing field is not owned by the 

developer. As such the use/creation of this access would be dependent on a separate 

agreement between the owner and developer. This additional route would provide a safe 

alternative route to the memorial hall/playing field for occupants of the site, however it 

should be noted that the acceptability of the proposal does not rely on this access being 

implemented. Further, due to the track not being within the ownership of the  developer, it 

would not be reasonable to condition that this access is implemented as there is no 

guarantee that an agreement would be reached.  

 

6.5 Drainage 

 

6.5.1 Policy EN5 of the Local Plan states that all development must avoid increasing flood risk 

elsewhere. Runoff from the site post development must not exceed pre-development rates 

for all storm events up to and including the 1% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP)* 

storm event with an allowance for climate change. The appropriate climate change 

allowances should be defined using relevant Environment Agency guidance.  

 

6.5.2 Surface water should be managed effectively on site through the use of Sustainable 

Drainage Systems (SuDs) unless it is demonstrated to be technically unfeasible. All 

planning applications should be accompanied by a statement of how surface water is to be 

managed and in particular where it is to be discharged. Surface water connections to the 

public sewage network should only be made in exceptional circumstances. On-site 

attenuation and infiltration will be required as part of any new development wherever 

possible. Opportunities must be sought to achieve multiple benefits, for example through 

green infrastructure provision and biodiversity enhancements in addition to their drainage 

function. The long-term maintenance of structures such as swales and balancing ponds 

must be agreed in principle prior to permission being granted. Development proposals 

should demonstrate that water is available to serve the development and adequate foul 

water treatment and disposal already exists or can be provided in time to serve the 

development. Foul and surface water flows should be separated where possible.  

 

6.5.3 A drainage strategy has been submitted with the application, however the Lead Local 

Flood Authority has commented: 

 

6.5.4 ‘Notwithstanding the details as shown on drawing numbers: FW2060-D-400-01, 02 

andFW2060-E-500-01, 02 the proposed drainage strategy shall incorporate a SuDS 

drainage design for the disposal of surface water run-off from the proposed development 

site including the provision of a detailed drainage strategy report with geotechnical 

interpretive reports (infiltration assessments, ground water tables, hydraulic calculations).’ 

 

6.5.5 The following conditions (as required by LCC) can be attached to the permission if 

approved: 

 

6.5.6 Highway Condition 33 

52



 

 
 

The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with a surface water 

drainage scheme which shall first have been approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

The scheme shall: 

• be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological 
and hydrogeological context of the development; 

• provide flood exceedance routing for storm event greater than 1 in 100 year; 

• provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms up 
to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for climate 
change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing local 
drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the run-off rate for 
the undeveloped site; 

• provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to 1.4 litres 
per second; 

•  provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of implementation for the drainage 
scheme; 

 

and 

 

• provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime 
of the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public body or 
Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the operation of 
the drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

 

No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed or provided 

on the site in accordance with the approved phasing. The approved scheme shall be 

retained and maintained in full, in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating 

or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, or upstream of, 

the permitted development. 

 

6.5.7 Foul water drainage is proposed to be connected to the mains sewer at Swinstead Road. 

The proposed pumping station to the south of the site is required due to the topography of 

the site, in order to pump the foul water towards Swinstead Road. It has been confirmed in 

an email from the agent that the pumping station is to be adopted by Anglian Water under 

a Section 104 agreement.  

 

6.5.8 To summarise, it is considered that a suitable drainage strategy can be achieved on the 

site for both surface water and foul water disposal and therefore it can be dealt with by 

condition. This has been confirmed by the Lead Local Flood Authority in an email dated 

10.01.22. 

 

6.6 Affordable Housing and Need 

 

6.6.1 The scheme is proposed as 100% affordable. Policy H2 requires schemes to provide a 

minimum of 30% affordable dwellings. There is no requirement to demonstrate a specific 

need to provide above the required percentage. There is a district wide need for affordable 

53



 

 
 

housing of which this proposal would contribute to. In terms of local need, the dwellings 

would be allocated based on a set of criteria, prioritising local people with a connection to 

the area first and foremost.  

 

6.6.2 Policy H4 (Meeting All Housing Needs) requires all major proposals for residential 

development to provide appropriate type and sized dwellings to meet the needs of current 

and future households in the District. The scheme provides a variety of house types and 

sizes including small bungalows.  

 

6.6.3 Comments have been received stating the size of the bungalows are unacceptable. The 

local plan does not set any specific space standards for new dwellings, however the 

nationally described space standards recommend a minimum of 50sq m for a single storey 

dwelling for 2 people and 39 sq. m internal floorspace for 1 person. The proposed 2 bed 

bungalows would have 57 sq. m internal floorspace and the 1 beds would have 45 sq. m. 

It is acknowledged that the 1 beds are slightly smaller than the nationally described space 

standards if they were to be occupied by 2 people, however they are slightly larger than 

recommended for 1 person. As such the scale of the bungalows is considered acceptable.   

 

6.7 Other Matters 

 

6.7.1 Concerns have been raised that the proposal would de-value surrounding properties. This 

is not a material consideration therefore carries little weight, and it would not be 

reasonable to refuse the application on this basis.  

 

7 Crime and Disorder 
 

7.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 

implications. 

 

8 Human Rights Implications 
 

8.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home) 

of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is 

considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached. 

 

9 Conclusion 
9.1 To summarise, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the relevant Local Plan 

Policies and the NPPF. I therefore recommend that planning permission should be granted, 

subject to conditions as listed below.  

 

RECOMMENDATION: To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to GRANT 

planning permission, subject to conditions outlined in the report. 

 
 

PLANNING CONDITIONS 
 
Approved Plans 
 

54



 

 
 

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following list of 
approved plans: 

   
 100-527AR/005Q Site layout 
 100-527AR/007D Plots 8 and 9 
 100-527AR/008D Plots 10 and 11 
 100-527AR/009D Plots 12 and 13 
 100-527AR/010D Plot 3 
 100-527AR/011D Plots 18-19, 20-21, 22-23 
 100-527AR/012D Plot 5 
 100-527AR/013D Handed Plots 2 and 4 
 100-527AR/015E Street Scenes 
 100-527AR/014D Plot 1 
 100-527AR/017F Boundary Treatments 
 100-527AR/018B External Materials  
 100-527AR/019C Site Section 
 100-527AR/020A Plots 24 and 25 
 100-527AR/021B Materials Distribution Plan 
 100-527AR/022 Plots 6 and 7 
 100-527AR 023A Bin Collection Strategy 
 100-527AR/026 Plots 14 and 15 
 100-527AR/027 Plots 16 and 17 
 21.1605.001 Rev A Landscaping 1 of 4 
 21.1605.002 Rev A Landscaping 2 of 4 
 21.1605.003 Rev A Landscaping & Tree Protection 3 of 4 
 21.1605.004 Rev A Landscaping 4 of 4   
   
 Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission. 
        
 Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
Before the Development is Commenced 
 
 2 Prior to commencement, a drainage strategy shall have been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the local planning authority. Notwithstanding the details as shown on drawing numbers: FW2060-
D-400-01, 02 and FW2060-E-500-01, 02 the proposed drainage strategy shall incorporate a SuDS 
drainage design for the disposal of surface water run-off from the proposed development site 
including the provision of a detailed drainage strategy report with geotechnical interpretive reports 
(infiltration assessments, ground water tables, hydraulic calculations). The scheme shall: 

 

− be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and 
hydrogeological context of the development; 

− provide flood exceedance routing for storm event greater than 1 in 100 year; 

− provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms up to 
and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for climate change, 
from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing local drainage 
infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the run-off rate for the 
undeveloped site; 

− provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to 1.4 litres per 
second; 

− provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of implementation for the drainage 
scheme; 

 and 

55



 

 
 

− provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime of 
the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public body or Statutory 
Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the operation of the drainage 

system throughout its lifetime. 

  
 No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed or provided on the 

site in accordance with the approved phasing. The approved scheme shall be retained and 
maintained in full, in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved surface water 

drainage scheme. 
  
 Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating or 

increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, or upstream of, the permitted 
development, in accordance with Policy EN5 of the SKDC Local Plan 2020. 

 
 3 No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan and Method Statement has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which shall indicate 
measures to mitigate against traffic generation and drainage of the site during the construction 
stage of the proposed development. 

 
 The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall include; 

− phasing of the development to include access construction; 

− the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

− loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

− storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

− wheel washing facilities; 

− the routes of construction traffic to and from the site including any off site routes for 
the disposal of excavated material and; 

− strategy stating how surface water run off on and from the development will be 
managed during construction and protection measures for any sustainable drainage 
features. This should include drawing(s) showing how the drainage systems 
(permanent or temporary) connect to an outfall (temporary or permanent) during 
construction. 

  
The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall be strictly adhered to throughout 
the construction period. 

  
Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating or 
increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, the permitted 

 development during construction and to ensure that suitable traffic routes are agreed. 
 
 4 The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with an Estate Road Phasing and 

Completion Plan, which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any development above ground level. The Plan shall set out how the construction 
of the development will be phased and standards to which the estate roads on each phase will be 
completed during the construction period of the development. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian access is provided 

for residents throughout the construction period of the development. 
 
 

56



 

 
 

Before the Development is Occupied 
 
 5 Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated footways that 

forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed within the limits of the existing 
highway, shall be laid out and constructed to finished surface levels in accordance with details to be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards within the public 

highway  from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may otherwise remain for an extended 
period  at dissimilar, interim construction levels. 

 
 6 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before the provision of two sets of  

pedestrian crossing points have been provided on Swinstead Road as indicated on drawing number 
'100-527AR/005Q' to connect the development to the existing footway network, has been provided 
in accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. The works shall also include appropriate arrangements for the 
management of surface water run-off from the highway. 

  
 Reason: To ensure the provision of safe and adequate pedestrian access to the permitted 

development, without increasing flood risk to the highway and adjacent land and property. 
 
 7 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use, all hard 

landscape works shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved hard landscaping 
details.  

  
 Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the development and 

its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South 
Kesteven Local Plan. 

 
 8 Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the occupation/first use of any part of 

the development hereby permitted, all soft landscape works shall have been carried out in 
accordance with the approved soft landscaping details.  

  
 Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the development and 

its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the 
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 
 9 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use, a landscape 

management plan shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The plan shall include: 

  
 i. long term design objectives,  
 ii. management responsibilities and  
 iii. maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than privately owned, domestic 

gardens. 
  
 Reason: Hard and soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policies DE1, EN3 
and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 
Standard Note(s) to Applicant: 
 
1 In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner 

by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is considered that the decision is in 
accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

57



 

 
 

 2 The highway improvement works referred to in the above conditions are required to be carried out by 
means of a legal agreement between the landowner and the County Council, as the Local Highway 
Authority.  

 
 
 3 All roads within the development hereby permitted must be constructed to a satisfactory engineering 

standard. Those roads that are to be put forward for adoption as public highways must be constructed 
in accordance with the Lincolnshire County Council Development Road Specification that is current at 
the time of construction and the developer will be required to enter into a legal agreement with the 
Highway Authority under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980.  

 
Those roads that are not to be voluntarily put forward for adoption as public highways, may be subject 
to action by the Highway Authority under Section 219 (the Advance Payments code) of the Highways 
Act 1980. For guidance please refer to https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 
 4 The existing ground level of the site must not be raised above the ground level of any surrounding land 

without further consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority and Local Planning Authority, to 
consider suitable mitigation measures to ensure that surface water flood risk is not created or 
increased to land adjacent to the permitted development.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

58



 

 
 

Proposed Site Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59



 

 
 

Proposed Street Scenes 

 

Elevations and Plans (Example Plots 24-25) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

60



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

20 January 2022 

  

   

         
  

S21/0442 

Proposal: Demolition of existing building on site and the development of 11no. 
residential dwellings 

Location: Grantham College Building Department Adj. The Old Bar, Sandon 
Road, Grantham 

Applicant: Grantham College, Stonebridge Road, Grantham 
Agent: rg+p Ltd, Waterloo House, 71 Princess Road West, Leicester  
Application Type: Full Planning Permission including relevant demolition of an unlisted 

building in a Conservation Area (Major Development)  
Reason for Referral 
to Committee: 

Major development 

Key Issues: Principle of Development  
Affordable Housing Contributions / Meeting All Housing Needs 
Design and Visual Quality 
Impact on heritage assets 
Impact on neighbouring properties 
Open Space Provision 
Climate Change 
Impact on biodiversity & ecology 
Pollution Control  
Highways Infrastructure, Access and Parking  
Flood Risk and Drainage Infrastructure 
Infrastructure for Growth 

Technical 
Documents: 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment  
Design & Access Statement  
Energy Statement 
Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy  
Heritage Impact Assessment  
Phase I Contamination Repot 
Planning Statement  
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal  
Tree Protection Plan 
Vehicle Tracking Plan 

 

 

Report Author 

Adam Murray (Senior Planning Officer) 

 
 01476 406080 

  Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk 

61

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Grantham St Vincent's 

 

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan (Principal Planning Officer) 10 January 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to GRANT planning permission, subject to 
the completion of a Section 106 Agreement and subject to conditions outlined in this report.  

62



 

 
 

S2
1

/0
4

4
2

 –
 G

ra
n

th
am

 C
o

lle
ge

 B
u

ild
in

g 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
A

d
j. 

Th
e 

O
ld

 B
ar

, S
an

d
o

n
 R

o
ad

, G
ra

n
th

am
 

 

  

63



 

 
 

1 Description of Site 
 

1.1 The proposed development site comprises an area of 0.40 hectares (0.99 acres) of 

broadly L-shaped land, situated to the east of Sandon Road, located to the eastern side of 

Grantham. The site is broadly linear in nature, orientated west to east and rises 

approximately 2m from Sandon Road at the western boundary, to the eastern boundary.  

 

1.2 The site currently comprises of 6(no.) buildings, which were previously occupied by the 

construction department of Grantham College, as well as significant areas of 

hardstanding. The existing buildings on the site are approximately 1 ½ to 2 storeys in 

height and they benefit from a utilitarian design and appearance; generally being 

constructed of brick with sheet metal cladding and roofing.  

 

1.3 The site is bound to the west by Sandon Road, beyond which lies Kesteven and Grantham 

Girls School and the main campus of Grantham College; to the north by Egglestone 

House and the KGGS sports field; to the east by residential development fronting Gardens 

Close, and Beacon Hillside and residential annexe; to the south-east by Barracks Square; 

and to the south by the former Barracks, which have subsequently been occupied by a 

range of small business units. 

 

1.4 The site benefits from clearly defined boundaries on all sides marked to the west by 

Sandon Road, which is fronted by an existing grass verge and mature boundary 

hedgerow, which is interluded by the existing site access; to the south, the boundary is 

marked by the northern wing of the former Barracks, which includes windows and by the 

boundary of 11 Barrack Square; to the east, the boundary is defined by existing trees 

which are situated within the ownership of Beacon Hillside; and to the north, the site is 

defined by Egglestone House and the school playing field, which are separated by a 

mixture of mature hedgerow and a brick wall.  

 

1.5 The application site is located within the Grantham St. Anne’s Conservation Area and is 

also situated within close proximity to a number of listed buildings, most notably the former 

Barracks Range and Barracks Square, which are both Grade II Listed. The site is not 

subject to any other planning policy designations.   

 

1.6 The site has been the subject of a number of relevant previous planning applications; this 

includes a historical planning permission for residential development on the site 

(Application Ref: SK.98/0507). A more recent outline planning approval (Ref: S14/0305) 

for the demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of the Grantham College Main 

Campus, Stonebridge House and Barracks Campus, included the application site; this 

indicated the retention of the site for use as an educational facility for the construction 

department of the College, albeit with the provision of a new, bespoke building.  

 

2 Description of proposal 
 

2.1 The current application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of existing 

buildings on site and the development of 11 no. residential dwellings. It is noted that upon 

submission of the application, the proposals sought permission for the provision of 13 no. 

residential dwellings on the site; however, the quantum of the proposed development has 

64



 

 
 

been reduced following engagement between the Applicant and Officers’. As such, the 

description of development was amended to the current description and a formal re-

consultation has been recently carried out on the revised details.  

 

2.2 The application has been supported by Proposed Site Layout Plans, Proposed Street 

Scenes, Proposed Elevation Plans and Proposed Floor Plans, as well as a full range of 

technical reports and drawings, which indicate a development of the following nature:  

 

2.3 Development of the site for 11 (no.) dwellings of the following mix: 3 (no) 2-bed houses, 2 

(no) 3-bed houses and 6 (no.) 4-bed houses. The proposed dwellings comprise of 5 

different house types, but all properties would be 2 ½ storeys in scale and would be 

constructed of red brick, under grey slate roofs. Windows, doors and guttering would also 

be a dark grey colour.  

 

2.4 The submitted detailed house type designs have been the subject of significant 

amendment during the lifetime of the application, following the input from the Case Officer 

and the Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer, as well as responding to concerns raised 

within public representations in relation to the provision of appropriate levels of residential 

amenity. The current Proposed Elevation Plans and Floor Plans indicate a development of 

the following design:  

 

House Type A 

2.5 House Type A is a 2 ½ storey, 4-bedroom dwelling measuring approximately 110 sq. 

metres and is proposed to be utilised for Plots 02, 03, 06 and 07 within the application site. 

The dwelling features a cross gabled roof design, which reflects the inclusion of a central 2 

½ gable end feature in the front elevation, flanked either side by 2 storey form with a 

traditional pitched roof design. The elevation includes a cantilevered porch over the 

entrance with a brick detailing panel in the centre of the elevation at the first-floor level. 

The pitched roof of the central gabled bay features rooflight windows on both elevations, 

with the remainder of the side elevations clear from windows. The rear elevation features 

windows and doors at ground level, and a single window at first floor level which will be 

obscured as it serves a family bathroom. The property features a single garage and 

integrated car port with a lounge above.  

 

House Type B 

2.6 House Type B is a 2 ½ storey, 4-bedroom dwelling measuring approximately 131 sq. 

metres and is proposed to be utilised for Plots 04 and 05 within the development site. 

Similar to the above, the dwelling features a cross gabled roof design, which reflects the 

provision of a 2 ½ storey gabled ended feature flanked by 2-storey form with a traditional 

pitched roof design. The gable ended element features 2 (no) rooflights within the 

roofscape on either side. As above, the front elevation includes a cantilevered porch over 

the doorway, with a brick detailing panel in the centre of the first floor. With the exception 

of the aforementioned rooflight windows, the side elevations do not include any windows. 

The rear elevation includes patio doors at the ground level but does not include any 

windows at first or second floor levels. The property features a single garage and 

integrated car port with a lounge above within the two-storey element of the property. 

 

 

 

65



 

 
 

House Type C 

2.7 House Type C is a 2 ½ storey, 3-bedroom dwelling measuring approximately 93 sq. 

metres and is intended to be utilised for Plots 10 and 11 within the proposed development. 

Consistent with the above, the property has a cross gabled roof design, with a 2 ½ storey 

gabled ended feature flanked by 2-storey form with a traditional pitched roof design. The 

gable ended feature includes 2 (no) rooflights within the southern roofscape, but the 

remainder of the side elevations are free from windows. As with the other house types, the 

front elevation includes a cantilevered porch over the doorway with a brick detailing panel 

at first floor level. The rear elevation does include habitable windows at first floor level 

serving the lounge and the second bedroom of these properties. The property features a 

single garage and integrated car port with a lounge above within the two-storey element of 

the property. 

 

House Type D 

2.8 House Type D is a 2 ½ storey, 2-bedroom dwelling measuring approximately 80 sq. 

metres and is proposed to be utilised for Plots 08 and 09 within the development site. This 

property includes a traditional gabled ended roof design. The front elevational design is 

consistent with the other house types featured within the site, and includes a cantilevered 

porch over the doorway, with brick detailing panel at the first-floor level. The roofscape 

features 3 (no) rooflights on the southern elevation and 1 (no) rooflight in the northern 

elevation. The proposed plots occupy a prominent position within the proposed 

development site, bounding onto the proposed access and, as such, following feedback 

from the Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer, the proposed southern (side) elevation 

has been updated to include a number of obscure windows and brick detailing to add 

visual interest to this side elevation. The rear elevation of the property includes a flat 

roofed extension which provides space for a lounge at ground floor level, and a roof 

terrace at first floor level.  

 

House Type E 

2.9 House Type E is a 2 ½ storey, 2-bedroom dwelling measuring approximately 80 sq. 

metres and is proposed to be utilised for Plot 01 within the application site. As above, this 

property includes a traditional gabled ended roof design and the front elevation is 

consistent with the other house types within the development, featuring a cantilevered 

porch over the doorway, with brick detailing panels at the first-floor level. The roofscape 

features 3(no) rooflights on the southern elevation and 1 (no) rooflight in the northern 

elevation. Similar to the above, Plot 01 occupies a prominent position within the proposed 

development site, situated at the end of the proposed access point and is also situated 

within close proximity to existing residential properties to the east and south. As such, 

following engagement with the Council’s Officers, the proposed house type has bee 

amended to included windows obscure windows in the southern elevation to ensure visual 

interest, but protect the privacy of 11 Barracks Square to the south. Similarly, the rear 

elevation has been amended to remove the majority of windows at first and second floor 

level. The property now features a single window at first floor level which serves a central 

hallway within the property, and is set back within the elevation, behind the flat roofed 

extension which provides the lounge.  

 

2.10 The submitted Proposed Site Layout demonstrates how the proposed dwellings will be laid 

out in a courtyard style to the rear of the site with two rows of housing positioned directly 

opposite each other to provide a clear rhythm to the form of development. At the front of 

66



 

 
 

the site, a single row of 3 (no) plots is set back from the western boundary, to provide a 

staggered building line from the Former Barracks to the south, to Egglestone House to the 

north. The proposed dwellings are positioned to the north of the site, with the access road 

along the southern boundary. The access road is proposed to be an adoptable road on 

entry into the site and along the southern boundary of the site, to a point in the south-

eastern corner where it reaches a turning head. The proposed properties are served by 

private drives extending from this adopted access point. Following feedback from the 

Principal Urban Design Officer, the submitted site layout was updated to demonstrate that 

the proposed access drive along the southern boundary will be constructed with 

Staffordshire Blue Clay paving, whilst the footway / service strips on either side of the 

carriage way will include granite setts.  

 

2.11 As detailed above, access to the site will be taken via Sandon Road to the west of the site, 

utilising the existing access point which served the College Construction Department. This 

access point will be widened to provide a shared 5.5m shared surface with 1.8m service 

strips either side. The proposed Site Layout Plan demonstrates that 3 (no) parking spaces 

will be provided for 4-bed properties, whilst 2 (no) parking spaces are to be provided for 

the 2- and 3-bed properties. As discussed above, House Types A, B and C all feature 

integrated garages and car ports; the proposed car ports provide adequate parking 

provision for 1 vehicle, whilst further on-plot parking provision has been made to meet the 

aforementioned parking requirements. The proposed garages are identified as providing 

sufficient space for cycle and refuse bin storage. In the case of House Type D and E, 

these properties do not feature garages and, therefore, separate provision has been made 

for parking. In the case of House Type D (Plot 08 and 09), dedicated parking provision is 

to be made to the rear of the property, immediately adjacent to the southern access road. 

These properties will also include a shed within the rear garden to provide private storage 

space for cycles and refuse bins. House Type E (Plot 01) includes sufficient off-street 

parking to the side of the property and also includes a shed within the rear garden 

(immediately adjacent to the proposed parking) to provide private storage space for cycles 

and refuse bins. Bin collection points are shown within the service strip of the adoptable 

highway to enable refuse collection within the site.  

 

2.12 In respect of boundary treatments and landscaping, the plans demonstrate the retention of 

the existing boundary wall to the front of the site, with the exception of the removal of part 

of the wall to facilitate the provision of the identified footways / service strips. The existing 

green verge and hedgerow within the application site is also indicated as being retained. 

Additional soft landscaping is proposed along the southern boundary, which is currently 

defined by the side elevation of the former barracks. To the north of the internal access 

road, the side boundaries of Plots 08 and 09 are proposed to be marked by a brick wall. 

Similarly, the side boundary of Plot 01 in the south-eastern corner is to be marked by a 

brick wall with a feature tree in front; this landscaping treatment was revised following 

comments from the Principal Urban Design Officer about the importance of this boundary 

location in terminating views at the end of the access drive. The eastern boundary, which 

is currently marked by the trees and hedgerows of Beacon Hillside, will be reinforced by a 

close boarded timber fence. The northern boundary is shown to be retained in its current 

form, whilst the northern end of the courtyard is to feature a mature tree to provide visual 

interest to the end of this view. Similarly, the proposed plots are to feature trees within the 

frontage to break-up the massing of hard surfacing. Internal rear boundaries are indicated 

as being soft landscaped.  

67



 

 
 

 

2.13 Surface water from the site is proposed to be drained to sub-surface attenuation tanks 

within the private drives, which will subsequently discharge to the existing sewer network 

within Sandon Road. The submitted Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy 

identifies that permeable paving and rain gardens will be incorporated as SuDS features 

within the development, and the detailed drainage design will incorporate the provision of 

conveyance features such as swales to the north of the access road.  With regards to foul 

water drainage, this is similarly to be collected and drained via a piped gravity connection 

to the existing foul water sewer network in Sandon Road.  

 

3 Relevant History 
 

Reference Proposal Decision Date 
SK.98/0507 Residential development Approved 

Conditionally 
22.06.1998 

S14/0305 Demolition of existing buildings and 
redevelopment of main campus, 
Stonebridge House site and Barracks 
Campus (Outline) 

Approved 
Conditionally  

17.02.2015 

 

4 Policy Considerations 
 

4.1 South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020) 

Policy SD1 – The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

Policy SP1 – Spatial Strategy  

Policy SP2 – Settlement Hierarchy 

Policy SP3 – Infill Development 

Policy SP6 – Community Services and Facilities 

Policy H2 – Affordable Housing Contributions 

Policy H4 – Meeting All Housing Needs 

Policy EN1 – Landscape Character 

Policy EN2 – Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

Policy EN3 – Green Infrastructure  

Policy EN4 – Pollution Control  

Policy EN5 – Water Environment and Flood Risk Management 

Policy EN6 – The Historic Environment 

Policy DE1 – Promoting Good Quality Design 

Policy SB1 – Sustainable Building 

Policy OS1 – Open Space 

Policy GR2 – Sustainable Transport in Grantham  

Policy ID1 – Infrastructure for Growth  

Policy ID2 – Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure   

 

4.2 Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven (Adopted November 2021) 

 

4.3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Adopted July 2021) 

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 

Section 4 – Decision-making 

68



 

 
 

Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 

Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 11 – Making effective use of land 

Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 

Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 

5 Representations Received 
 

5.1 Anglian Water 

5.1.1 No objections subject to notes to applicant. 

 

5.2 Cadent Gas 

5.2.1 No objections subject to notes to applicant. 

 

5.3 Environment Agency 

5.3.1 No comments to make. 

 

5.4 Grantham Civic Society 

5.4.1 No comments received. 

 

5.5 Heritage Lincolnshire 

5.5.1 No comments to make.  

 

5.6 Historic England 

5.6.1 On the basis of the information available to date, we do not wish to offer any comments. 

We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and archaeological 

advisors, as relevant.  

 

5.7 Lincolnshire County Council Education 

Initial comments 

5.7.1 Section 106 Contribution of £33,982 requested towards an expansion of Grantham 

Secondary School provision.  

 

Re-consultation comments 

5.7.2 Based on the new housing mix and updated projections, please withdraw LCC’s previous 

comments as there is now sufficient capacity in the locality to mitigate the impacts of this 

development.  

 

5.8 Lincolnshire County Council Highways & SuDS 

Initial comments 

5.8.1 Requested further information relating to Flood Risk, Ground Conditions and Drainage, as 

well as a Swept Path Analysis drawing and details relating to possible adoption of the 

access road. 

 

5.8.2 Further provision required in relation to off-street parking and a suitable SuDS strategy.  

69



 

 
 

 

 

5.9 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue 

5.9.1 No comments received.  

 

5.10 Lincolnshire Police Crime Prevention Officer 

5.10.1 No objections. 

 

5.11 NHS Lincolnshire 

5.11.1 Section 106 contribution required.  

 

5.11.2 Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group wish for the Section 106 Contribution from the 

development of 11 dwellings on the Grantham College site to contribute to expansion in 

capacity through remodelling / changes to the layout or extension to existing facilities at 

the St. Peters Hill Surgery, Harrowby Lane Surgery, Vine Street Surgery and St. John’s 

Medical Centre.  

 

5.11.3 The contribution requested for the development is £7,260 (£660 x 11 dwellings) 

 

5.11.4 In order to support the practice, it is requested that the trigger point for the release of 

funds for health care be set at payment of all monies upon completion of 50% of the 

dwellings under this application.  

 

5.12 SKDC Arboricultural Advisor 

5.12.1 No objections subject to conditions.  

 

5.12.2 The layout proposes the loss of a number of hedges within the site. Their removal will not 

impact on the character of the local landscape or its enjoyment by members of the public. 

There appears to be no impact on the sycamore tree T6 to the north of the site in the 

neighbouring grounds of the property.  

 

5.12.3 A demolition method statement should be required detailing how the works will be done 

while safeguarding nearby trees. A robust landscape and post planting maintenance plan 

condition should also be applied to any consent. 

 

5.13 SKDC Conservation Officer 

Initial comments 

5.14 The current buildings which form part of the Construction Skills Centre are of no particular 

architectural merit and make no positive contribution to the character and appearance of 

the Conservation Area.  

 

5.15 The proposed development on balance is not considered to have a detrimental impact on 

the character of the Conservation Area.  

 

5.16 However, there is less than substantial harm to the setting and view of the former listed 

buildings due to the setting forward and the increase in height of the new development 

over the former skills centre buildings 

70



 

 
 

5.17 Notwithstanding these comments, the new development is considered to be an 

improvement on the existing set of buildings and subject to detailing, materials and 

landscaping plans there are no objections to the scheme. 

 

Re-consultation comments 

5.18 Given that the revised proposals are on a reduced scale and my initial response was 

supportive of the development, I have no objections to the revised scheme.  

 

5.19 SKDC Environmental Health Officer 

Initial comments 

5.19.1 No objections subject to conditions.  

 

5.19.2 Applicant shall implement the recommendations of the Phase I Site Survey by conducting 

a Phase II Site Investigation and Ground Gas Monitoring. Applicant shall submit a 

demolition and construction management plan 

 

Additional comments 

5.19.3 Confirmation that the Phase II Site Investigation and potential assessment for asbestos at 

the site can be covered via a pre-commencement condition.  

 

5.20 SKDC Partnership Projects Officer 

Initial comments 

5.20.1 The Policy Statement included within the application states at 6.9 that the Applicant’s 

preference would be to provide affordable housing “off-site” and from the wording it would 

appear to be in the form of a commuted sum. Exceptional circumstances / viability 

information has not been provided to support this course of action and no discussions 

have taken place with the Council on this proposal. Therefore, in line with the Council 

Planning Policy, it is a priority that the affordable housing is provided on site. 

 

Re-consultation comments 

5.20.2 I have now investigated further and approached our RP partners to see if they are 

interested in the affordable housing units on this site. They have all confirmed that as 

there are only three units it is not viable to take them due to the costs involved in ensuring 

that the units are built to the correct standards etc.  

 

5.20.3 Therefore, the Council needs to take the next step of either asking for off-site provision 

(purchasing units off-site to use as affordable housing) or the final step would be to 

provide a commuted sum.  

 

5.20.4 At this junction, I would suggest that a commuted sum would be the most appropriate way 

to proceed.  

 

5.20.5 Based on 11 houses on site x the affordable housing contribution calculated at 20% 

(Grantham Town Centre) = 2.2 houses 

 

5.20.6 The affordable housing needs in Grantham would be four-bed (highest priority for 

affordable rent) and two-bed, therefore the commuted sum is calculated on these two 

property sizes 

 

71



 

 
 

5.20.7 The commuted sum has therefore been calculated as £240,000.00 

 

5.21 SKDC Principal Urban Design Officer 

Initial comments 

5.21.1 No objections in principle, subject to further detailed information and modest amendments 

to the detailed design.  

 

1. Additional information required on Constraints and Opportunities and 

Response to Context.  

2. Pulling Plots 11-13 back further would assist in terms of softening the 

height of the dwellings  

3. The street surfaces and change from adopted highway to private drive 

dilutes the influence of Barracks Square – potential consideration should 

be given to allowing a greater extent of private drive and more characterful 

streets.  

4. Further consideration to be given to the view at the end of the access and 

private drive – strong features are required to provide character.  

5. Street design and surfacing could be more coherent and consider how to 

add character – granite setts would be an appropriate surfacing material, o 

too would Staffordshire Blue Clay 

 

5.22 Upper Witham Internal Drainage Board 

5.22.1 No comments to make.  

 

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity 
 

6.1 The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement and letters of representation have been received from 4 

interested parties, 3 of whom have raised objections and 1, who are neutral. The 

representations have raised the following relevant material considerations:  

 

1. Impact of the development on the residential amenities of Beacon Hillside 

and their residential annexe from the development on the eastern 

boundary of the site.  

2. Impact of the development on the residential amenities of properties in 

Barrack Square 

3. Impact on the setting of the nearby listed buildings and the Conservation 

Area 

4. Insufficient open space to serve the development 

5. Concerns about the design quality and whether it is appropriate for the 

area.  

6. Concerns about the sustainability of the development in respect of the 

demolition of the existing buildings on site and the transportation of waste 

off-site.  

7. Impacts on the existing trees 

8. Concerns about highways safety, particularly in relation to school traffic 

associated with Kesteven and Grantham Girls School.  

 

72



 

 
 

7 Evaluation 
 

7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local 

Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Council adopted the South 

Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 on 30 January 2020 and this forms the Development Plan 

for the District, and is the basis for decision-making in South Kesteven. The Local 

Planning Authority have also recently adopted a Design Guidelines Supplementary 

Planning Document (Adopted November 2021) and this document is a material 

consideration in the determination of planning applications. 

 

7.2 The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

(“the Framework”) (Adopted July 2021) are also a relevant material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications.  

 

7.3 Principle of Development 

 

7.3.1 Policy SD1 (The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven) sets out the 

overarching obligation for development proposals to minimise its impact on climate 

change and contribute towards a strong, stable and more diverse economy. The policy 

requires consideration of a number of matters including the impact of development of 

climate change, minimising the need to travel, avoiding development giving rise to 

pollution, encouraging the use of previously developed or underutilised land, and 

enhancing the District’s character, natural, and cultural and historic environment.  

 

7.3.2 Policy SP1 (Spatial Strategy) outlines the overall spatial development strategy for the 

District during the plan period. It identifies that the overall strategy of the Local Plan is to 

deliver sustainable growth, including new housing and job creation, in order to facilitate 

growth in the local economy and support local residents. In particular, the focus for the 

majority of growth is in and around the four market towns, with Grantham being a 

particular focal point for development. Development proposals that make the most 

effective use of previously developed land will also be encouraged. In connection with the 

above, decisions about the location and scale of new development will be taken on the 

basis of the settlement hierarchy set out in Policy SP2. 

 

7.3.3 Policy SP2 (Settlement Hierarchy) identifies Grantham as being the primary focal point for 

development within the District during the plan period with a view to strengthening its 

position as a sub-regional centre. The policy states that “New development proposals will 

be supported on appropriate and deliverable brownfield sites and on sustainable 

greenfield sites (including urban extensions), where development will not compromise the 

town’s nature and character”. 

 

7.3.4 In addition, Policy SP3 (Infill Development) identifies that infill development, which is in 

accordance with all other relevant Local Plan policies, will be supported provided that:  

(a) It is within a substantially built-up frontage or redevelopment opportunity 

(previously development land).  

(b) It is within the main built-up part of the settlement 

73



 

 
 

(c) It does not cause unacceptable impact on the occupiers’ amenity of adjacent 

properties 

(d) It does not extend the pattern of development beyond the existing built form; and  

(e) It is in keeping with the character of the area and is sensitive to the setting of 

adjacent properties.  

 

7.3.5 Section 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (“the Framework”) 

encourages the effective use of land. Paragraph 120 of the Framework states that 

“planning policies and decisions should give substantial weight to the value of using 

suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes and other identified needs, and 

support appropriate opportunities to remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, 

contaminated or unstable land”.  

 

7.3.6 In the context of the above, the application site is a previously developed site that was 

previously occupied by Grantham College’s construction department. The existing 

buildings on site have been identified as not being fit for purpose for the construction 

department and have been identified as surplus to requirements within the College’s 

overall land portfolio. As such, the application site is considered to be defined as 

previously developed land and the current buildings, in their utilitarian form, do not make a 

positive contribution to the existing streetscene. As such, the application proposals 

represent the opportunity to redevelop the site for a new functional use whilst making a 

positive contribution to the local character of the area. Consequently, redevelopment of 

the application site would be in accordance with the overall spatial strategy for the District 

and is supported by the Framework.   

 

7.3.7 Furthermore, in view of the site’s locational characteristics, it is considered that the 

development proposals are in accordance with criteria (a), (b) and (d) of Policy SP3. With 

regards to criteria (c) and (e), these detailed design considerations will be assessed 

against the relevant material considerations discussed below.  

 

7.3.8 Taking the above in account, it is considered that redevelopment of the application site 

would be in accordance with the overall spatial strategy for the District, as set out in Policy 

SD1, SP1, SP2 and SP3 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and, therefore, would 

be acceptable in principle, subject to material considerations 

 

7.3.9 In respect of the proposed change of use of the site from its current educational purpose 

to residential dwellings, it is appreciated that the application proposals would result in the 

loss of land currently used to provide a community facility. Within this context, the 

application falls to be assessed against Policy SP6 (Community Services and Facilities) of 

the adopted Local Plan. This policy states that applications for the change of use of all 

community facilities, which would result in the loss of community use will be resisted 

unless it is clearly demonstrated that:  

 

(a) There are alternative facilities available and active in the same area which would 

fulfil the role of the existing use / building; and 

(b) The existing use is no longer viable (supported by documentary evidence), and 

there is no realistic prospect of the premises being re-used for alternative 

business or community facility use.  

 

74



 

 
 

7.3.10 The proposal must also demonstrate that consideration has been given to:  

 

(c) The re-use of the premises for an alternative community business or facility and 

that effort has been made to try to secure such a re-use; and  

(d) The potential impact closure may have on the area and its community, with 

regard to public use and support for both the existing and proposed use.  

 

7.3.11 Similarly, Section 8 of the Framework seeks to promote the provision of healthy and safe 

communities; in particular, Paragraph 93 states that planning policies and decisions 

should guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly 

where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs. 

 

7.3.12 In relation to the above, the submitted proposals would be contrary to Policy SP6 insofar 

as the application has not been supported by any formal documentary evidence to 

demonstrate that there is no realistic prospect of the site being redeveloped for an 

alternative business or community facility use. Notwithstanding the above, as referenced 

above, the submitted Planning Statement identifies that the existing site has been 

identified by the College as not being fit for purpose and is surplus to their overall land 

requirements. In this regard, the application site forms only part of the College’s land 

portfolio within the immediate area, which includes the main campus located on 

Stonebridge Road and Stonebridge House, as such, the redevelopment of the site for 

residential purposes is not considered to be detrimental to the overall availability of 

educational facilities within the town. Thus, whilst the application site is contrary to Policy 

SP6 insofar as there is no documentary evidence assessing the scheme against the 

identified criteria, it is Officers’ assessment that the weight to be attributed to this policy 

conflict is limited.  

 

7.3.13 In assessing the principle of development as a whole, it is Officer’s assessment that the 

benefits of redeveloping a previously developed site within the main built-up area of 

Grantham, which is currently making a poor contribution to the visual appearance of the 

area, for residential units in accordance with the overall provisions of Policy SD1, SP1, 

SP2 and SP3 would outweigh the minimal harm caused by the conflict with Policy SP6 of 

the Local Plan. Taking the above into account, it is considered that the principle of 

proposed development is acceptable, subject to material considerations. These matters 

have been assessed in detail below.  

 

7.4 Affordable Housing Contributions / Meeting All Housing Needs 

 

7.4.1 Policy H2 (Affordable Housing Contributions) seeks to meet the needs for affordable 

housing within the District by requiring all major development proposals to provide 

affordable housing. Within the urban area of Grantham, the affordable housing 

requirement is 20%. The policy states that all affordable housing will be expected to:  

 

(a) Include a mix of socially rented / affordable rent / intermediate rent and 

intermediate market housing appropriate to the current evidence of local need 

and local incomes as advised by the Council 

(b) Be well integrated with the open market housing through layout, siting, design 

and style  

75



 

 
 

(c) Be of an appropriate size and / or property type to meet the needs identified by 

the current evidence of local housing need for affordability in the area; and 

(d) The Council will expect this requirement to be met in all cases.  

 

7.4.2 Furthermore, Paragraph 64 of the Framework requires major residential development 

proposals to provide a minimum of 10% of homes for affordable home ownership.  

 

7.4.3 In relation to the above, the Council’s Partnership Projects Officer has been consulted on 

the application proposals at the initial submission stage, and as part of the re-consultation 

that was undertaken following the revision to the proposals. The initial comments received 

identified the Council’s preference for affordable housing requirements to be met on-site 

and detailed evidence being required to demonstrate that this cannot be achieved, before 

the Council will consider alternative options. The Applicant subsequently provided details 

of 3 (no) Registered Housing Providers that they had contacted in relation to accepting 

any affordable housing provided on site; all of whom had indicated that the small number 

of affordable units that would be delivered as part of a scheme of the proposed nature, 

would mean that it would not be viable for them to obtain the units. 

 

7.4.4 The Council’s Partnership Projects Officer undertook their own investigations with the 

Council’s Registered Provider Partners, which reached the same conclusions. As such, 

the Projects Officer has advised that the most appropriate option would be to secure the 

affordable housing requirements via a commuted sum.   

 

7.4.5 The financial contribution payable via commuted sum will be calculated using the following 

formula:  

 

Open Market Value – Affordable Purchase Price = Affordable Housing Commuted Sum.  

 

7.4.6 The Affordable Purchase Price will be calculated using the relevant affordable housing 

requirements set out within Policy H2 of the South Kesteven Local Plan. In this regard, the 

affordable purchase price is calculated on the basis of delivering 20% affordable housing 

units (2.2 units); the affordable housing needs in Grantham are for 4-bed affordable rent 

and 2-bed properties, and therefore, the commuted sum is calculated on the basis of 

providing these units.  

 

7.4.7 On the basis of current land values, the commuted sum to the payable by the Applicant / 

Developer would be £240,000.00. The commuted sum would be payable by the Applicant 

/ Developer prior to the first occupation of the first dwelling building on the site.  

 

7.4.8 A Section 106 Agreement is currently being prepared to secure the identified affordable 

housing contributions and would include a cascade arrangement, which would prioritise 

the financial contribution being spent on affordable housing in Grantham as a priority, and 

then in the remainder of the District.  

7.4.9 Taking the above into account, subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement to 

secure the identified commuted sum, the proposal would be in accordance with Policy H2.   

 

7.4.10 With regards to the mix of property sizes across the development scheme, Policy H4 

(Meeting All Housing Needs) of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that residential 

development is of an appropriate size and type to meet the current and future needs of the 

76



 

 
 

District. Similarly, Section 5 of the Framework sets out the requirement to provide 

sufficient amount and variety of land to meet the size, type and tenure of housing to meet 

the needs of different groups in the community.  

 

7.4.11 The Strategy Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2014 (part updated in 2017) 

recommends that housing provision in the District should be monitored against the 

following broad mix over the period to 2036:  

 

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 0-5% 30-35% 45-50% 15-20% 

7.4.12 The submitted application proposals would provide housing of the following mix:  

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 0% 27% 18% 55% 

 

7.4.13 In light of the above, it is appreciated that the proposed housing mix would include a 

reduced proportion of 3-bed properties and greater proportion of 4-bed properties when 

compared against the recommended housing mix contained within the SHMA. However, it 

is appreciated. Officers’ comments on the application proposals have resulted in the 

reduction of the number of dwellings that are capable of being achieved on the site. 

Nonetheless, the proposals seek permission for 11 (no) dwellings, which will incur an 

affordable housing contribution, and is similarly a brownfield site that is understood to 

require remediation. In this respect, it is acknowledged that as a result of the reduced 

quantum of development, a greater proportion of larger properties are likely to be required 

to make development on the site viable.  

 

7.4.14 Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that the SHMA requirements are recommended to 

be applied to the District as a whole and not necessarily on a case-by-case basis. In this 

respect, it is noted that there are a number of applications approved recently within the 

Grantham Town Centre, which have focused on the provision of smaller housing stock 

without the provision of larger family homes. As such, in this regard, the current 

application proposals would assist in securing a balanced housing provision across the 

Town as a whole.  

 

7.4.15 Taking the above into account, it is concluded that, subject to the completion of the 

Section 106 Agreement, the proposal would be in accordance with Policy H2 and Policy 

H4 of the Local Plan.  

 

7.5 Design and Visual Quality  

 

7.5.1 Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states (amongst other criteria) 

that to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all development 

proposals will be expected to make a positive contribution to local distinctiveness, 

vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local identity and not 

have an adverse impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape / 

townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals should be of an appropriate 

scale, density, massing, height and material given the context of the area. All major 

77



 

 
 

residential development proposals will be expected to perform positively against Building 

for Life 12 (subsequently superseded by Building for a Healthy Life) and should seek to 

provide a minimum of 10% of new dwellings as “Accessible and Adaptable” in line with 

optional standards set out in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations. 

 

7.5.2 Policy EN1 (Landscape Character) seeks to ensure that development is appropriate for its 

context. Similarly, as referenced above, Policy SP3(e) requires development proposals to 

be in keeping with the character of the area and to be sensitive to the setting of adjacent 

properties. 

 

7.5.3 The Rutland and South Kesteven Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) 

identifies that the detailed design of a proposal should be influenced by its context, and 

should be consider the relationship between the site and other buildings, routes and 

spaces, views and vistas, facilities, architectural details and the landscape. The 

appearance and architectural landscape of surrounding buildings should be drawn upon 

and influence the detailed design. 

 

7.5.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (Section 12) states that good design is a key 

aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work, and 

helps make development acceptable to communities. Paragraph 130 of the Framework 

states that development proposals should be visually attractive as a result of good 

architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; and should be sympathetic 

to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape 

setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change.  

 

7.5.5 Furthermore, Paragraph 134 of the revised Framework is unequivocal in stating that 

“development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to 

reflect local design policies and government guidance on design, taking into account any 

local design guidance and supplementary planning documents such as design guides and 

codes”. 

 

7.5.6 In relation to the above, it is appreciated that a number of public representations on the 

application have objected to the proposals on the basis that they consider the scheme to 

be of poor design quality that is not in keeping to the character and appearance of the 

area. In particular, it is argued that the proposed materials will create a dark and 

oppressive streetscene. 

 

7.5.7 As previously identified, the application site is previously developed land which contains 6 

(no) buildings as well as substantial areas of hardstanding. The existing buildings on the 

site are approximately 1 ½ to 2-storeys in height and have a utilitarian design and 

materiality, insofar as they are generally constructed with red brick and metal cladding and 

roofing. The existing buildings are understood to be in a relatively good condition; 

however, they are not considered to make any positive contribution to the existing street 

scene.  

 

7.5.8 The Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer has been consulted in relation to the 

application proposals, including providing interim comments on the initial submission as 

well as feedback on the various amendments that have subsequently been received 

following feedback from Officers and technical consultees. The Urban Design Officer did 

78



 

 
 

not identify any objection in principle to the initial development scheme, subject to modest 

amendments to the detailed design and the provision of further information to justify the 

proposed design solution.  

 

7.5.9 The Applicant subsequently submitted an amended Design and Access Statement which 

included additional information on the Constraints and Opportunities of the site, and how 

the submitted proposals would respond to the site context. The Proposed Site Layout and 

House Type Plans were also subsequently amended, which included moving Plot 09 – 11 

further back into the site, aligning Plot 01 – 04 and Plot 05 – 08 to provide a clearer rhythm 

to the character of the street and the incorporation of feature trees at the end of the 

access roads, the inclusion of obscure windows on the side elevation of House Type D 

and E to add visual interest to these prominent elevations, and the revision to the street 

surfacing to add additional character to the street scene.  

 

7.5.10 As identified above, Policy DE1 requires development proposals to make a positive 

contribution to local distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area and not 

negatively impact on the streetscene or townscape character of the surrounding area. 

 

7.5.11 In the context of the above, the proposed courtyard style of development is considered to 

be appropriate when view in the context of the existing urban form of Barracks Square to 

the south-east of the site. The proposed row of 3 (no) dwellings fronting Sandon Road to 

the west of the site are appropriately arranged to provide a staggered building line from 

the Former Barracks to the south towards Egglestone House to the north; this is 

considered to assist in providing a strong street character to Sandon Road whilst not 

detracting from the significance of the listed Former Barracks.  

 

7.5.12 In this regard, the scale of development is considered to be appropriate when considered 

in the context of the existing 1 ½ and 2-storey built form on the site as well as the scale of 

development in the surrounding area, which includes a mix of 2 and 2 ½ storey residential 

properties, as well as the larger scale of the front range of the former Barracks. The 

variation in the scale of the proposed built form is assessed as providing an appropriate 

degree of interest in the streetscene whilst still respecting the surrounding character of the 

area. The scale of the front row of properties, and their location within the application site, 

means that they will provide a staggered building line and roofscape along Sandon Road.  

 

7.5.13 The detailed house types are considered to be acceptable and include suitable design 

cues from the existing residential built form in the surrounding area, including the use of 

brick detailing panels and the selection of red brick and grey slate roof tiles. A condition is 

proposed requiring the submission of detailed materials schedule to ensure that the 

development utilises appropriate materials, as broadly indicated on the submitted plans.  

 

7.5.14 Similarly, following the feedback from the Principal Urban Design Officer, the Proposed 

Site Layout was amended to add further character and visual interest at the points where 

the access routes terminate. The plans indicate the provision of brick walls and feature 

trees and the access is proposed to be constructed with Staffordshire Blue Clay paving 

and granite setts for the footways / service strips, and a condition is proposed to be 

included requiring the submission of detailed plans for hard and soft landscaping, 

including the proposed plant species selection, as well as street surfacing, to ensure that 

this is appropriate for the character of the area.  

79



 

 
 

 

7.5.15 Taking the above into account, the proposed development scheme would entail the 

redevelopment of a previously developed site which currently makes a poor contribution to 

the character and appearance of the area. The submitted redevelopment proposals are 

considered to be of an appropriate appearance, design, scale, layout, height, massing and 

materials when viewed in the context of the existing site characteristics and the 

surrounding built form. The submitted plans indicate an appropriate residential form of 

design that would make a positive contribute to the existing streetscene on Sandon Road. 

Consequently, the application proposals are considered to make a positive contribution to 

the character and appearance of the area, and therefore, are considered to accord with 

Policy SP3(e), DE1 and EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan, the Design 

Guidelines SPD, and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

7.6 Impact on heritage assets 

 

7.6.1 As previously identified, the site is located within the Grantham St. Anne’s Conservation 

Area, and the former Barracks Front Range immediately south of the site’s Sandon Road 

frontage is Grade II Listed, and the Former Barracks Square to the south-east of the 

application site is similarly Grade II Listed.  

 

7.6.2 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 

Local Planning Authorities to have special regard for the desirability of preserving listed 

buildings and their settings, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 

which it possesses.  

 

7.6.3 Similarly, Section 72 of the Act 1990 requires Local Planning Authorities to give special 

attention to the desirability of preserving or enhance the character or appearance of 

Conservation Areas.  

 

7.6.4 The application of Local Plan Policy EN6 (The Historic Environment) in the determination 

of planning application is the primary mechanism through with the Council exercises its 

statutory requirements. This policy states that the Council will seek to protect and enhance 

heritage assets and their settings in keeping with the policies in the National Planning 

Policy Framework, and proposals will be expected to take Conservation Area Appraisals 

into account, where these have been adopted by the Council. Development that is likely to 

cause harm to the significance of a heritage asset or its setting will only be granted 

permission where the public benefits of the proposal outweigh the potential harm. 

 

7.6.5 In connection with the above, Section 16 of the Framework seeks to ensure the 

conservation and enhancement of the historic environment. Paragraph 194 sets out the 

following requirement when considering applications which have the potential to affect 

heritage assets:  

 

“In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant 

to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution 

made by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance 

and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their 

significance. As a minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been 

80



 

 
 

consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where 

necessary”.   

 

7.6.6 The submitted application has been accompanied by a Heritage Impact Assessment, 

prepared by Locus Consulting on behalf of the Applicant, which includes an assessment of 

the potential impact of the development proposals on the surrounding heritage assets as 

well as the Conservation Area. It concludes the following:  

 

“It is considered that the proposed development will have a neutral impact on the ability to 

appreciate the significance of Kesteven and Grantham Girls School, as well as Barracks 

Square from within their setting.  

 

Accounting for the existing character of the site, the proposed development is considered 

to bring a series of changes that will both enhance and diminish the character and 

appearance of St. Anne’s Conservation Area. However, the impacts are commensurate 

with any comprehensive redevelopment of the site, and the overall impact of the proposed 

development on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area will be neutral.  

 

The proposed development will bring both minor enhancement and minor harm to the 

ability to appreciate the significance of the former barracks front range from within its 

setting. Accounting for the nature, level and extent of the building’s interest and key views, 

particularly from the south-west, as well as the current character of the site, the overall 

degree of impact is likely to amount to a minor degree of harm. 

 

In bringing about a minor degree of harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed former 

barracks front range, it is considered that the proposed development does not fulfil the 

requirements of Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 or Policy EN6 of the South Kesteven Local Plan (Adopted January 2020). The minor 

degree of harm should be weight in the planning balance in accordance with Paragraph 

196 of the NPPF.  

In bringing about a neutral impact on the character and appearance of the St. Anne’s 

Conservation Area and the setting of Barracks Square and the Kesteven and Grantham 

Girls School, the proposed development adheres to Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 alongside Policy EN6 of the South Kesteven 

Local Plan (Adopted January 2020)”. 

 

7.6.7 In respect of the above, it is appreciated that public representations have raised objections 

to the application proposals on the basis of the potential impact of the development on the 

surrounding listed buildings and the Conservation Area. In particular, it is argued that the 

proposed development is of a poor design quality that is not in keeping with the character 

of the area and would not enhance the setting of the Listed Buildings, or the St. Anne’s 

Conservation Area.  

 

7.6.8 The Council’s Conservation Officer has been consulted on the application proposals 

throughout the lifetime of the application, including at the original submission stage as well 

as following the various amendments to the proposals. As part of their comments, they 

have advised that the current buildings are considered to be of no particular architectural 

merit and make no positive contribution to the character and appearance of the 

81



 

 
 

Conservation Area. On balance, they have agreed that the proposed development would 

not have a detrimental impact to the setting and significance of the Conservation Area.  

 

7.6.9 However, due to the setting forward and increase in height of the new development when 

compared to the existing built form on the site, it is considered that the proposal would 

give rise to less than substantial harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Former 

Barracks. Notwithstanding the above, the Conservation Officer has advised that this 

identified harm should be weighed against the public benefits, which includes the 

improvement that the new proposals provide when assessed against the existing buildings 

on the site. 

 

7.6.10 Following the receipt of the revised plans, which included the reduction in the quantum of 

development on the site and the setting back of the front row of houses within the site, the 

Conservation Officer has provided further comments, which have reiterated their initial 

views. As such, they confirmed that they have no objections to the principle of the 

development on the site, but the less than substantial harm to the Grade II Listed Former 

Barracks falls to be weighed in the planning balance by the decision-maker.  

 

7.6.11 In connection with the above, Historic England and Heritage Lincolnshire (as 

Archaeological Advisor) have been consulted on the application and both consultees have 

confirmed that they have no comments to make on the proposals.  

 

7.6.12 As such, it is considered that the application proposals would give rise to less than 

substantial harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Former Barracks Range immediately 

to the south of the application site.  

 

7.6.13 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 

decision-makers to give considerable weight to be given by decision-makers to the 

desirability of preserving the setting of all listed buildings. This piece of primary legislation 

is to be given the same level of importance as the Local Planning Authority’s duty to make 

decisions in accordance with the adopted development plan, unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

7.6.14 In respect of the development plan and relevant material considerations, Paragraph 199 of 

the Framework states that “When considering the impact of a proposed development on 

the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 

conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is 

irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss of less 

than substantial harm to its significance”.  

 

7.6.15 Furthermore, Paragraph 202 of the NPPF identifies that “Where a development proposal 

will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, 

this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 

appropriate, securing its optimum viable use”. 

 

7.6.16 In the context of the above, it is identified that the proposed development would not give 

rise to any adverse impacts of St. Anne’s Conservation Area and the Grade II Listed 

Barracks Square. However, the proposed development would give rise to less than 

substantial harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Former Barracks to the south of the 

82



 

 
 

site on Sandon Road. In accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven 

Local Plan and Paragraph 202 of the Framework, this harm falls to be weighed against the 

public benefits of the development in the overall planning balance. This is set out in detail 

further below.  

 

7.7 Impact on residential amenity 

 

7.7.1 Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states (amongst other criteria) 

that all development proposals will be expected to ensure that there is no adverse impact 

on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss of privacy and 

loss of light, and should provide sufficient amenity space, suitable to the type and amount 

of development proposed. 

 

7.7.2 Paragraph 130 of the Framework states that developments should create places that are 

safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high 

standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the 

fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life and community cohesion and resilience. 

 

7.7.3 The Rutland and South Kesteven Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) 

identifies that residential amenity is determined by a range of factors such as space, 

privacy, outlook, outdoor space and natural light, and identifies as series of rules / 

standards that will be utilised to assess the quality of residential amenity provided by 

development proposals. The following standards are considered to be particularly relevant 

to the current proposals:  

 

(a) Where practical, windows should not look onto private areas of other homes, 

including habitable rooms (living rooms, dining rooms, bedrooms), kitchens and 

patio areas in gardens immediately adjoining the building.  

(b) The ’45-degree rule’ states that there is normally the potential to achieve 

adequate levels of daylight and outlook when no part of a building cuts through a 

line radiating at 45 degrees from the centre of a window that lights a habitable 

room 

(c) The ’25-degree rule’ states that there is normally the potential to achieve 

adequate levels of daylight and outlook when no facing building breaks a 25-

degree angle from the horizontal from a point 2 metres above the floor level. This 

rule takes account of changes of level between buildings. 

(d) Where habitable rooms face the rear of a home, a back-to-back privacy distance 

of 21m window to window will be applied for two-storey properties; and 28m 

window to window for three-storey properties. Where habitable windows face a 

blank two-storey elevation a separation distance of 14m will be applied.  

 

7.7.4 As initially submitted, the application proposals were considered to provide an 

unacceptable standard of residential amenity for occupiers of existing residential 

properties surrounding the site, and future occupiers of the proposed development, when 

assessed against the requirements of Policy DE1 using the standards set out within the 

Design Guidelines SPD. Officers have engaged positively with the Applicant throughout 

the lifetime of the application to identify the key residential receptors that require 

appropriate consideration and have reinforced the application of the standards to the 

Applicant. This has result in a number of amendments to the application, which included a 

83



 

 
 

reduction in the quantum of development proposed to enable the provision of increased 

separation distances and substantial amendments to the detailed house designs, to 

remove habitable windows that may have caused issues of overlooking. As a result of the 

revised plans, it is Officers’ assessment that the application proposals would provide an 

appropriate standard of residential amenity for occupiers of existing properties as well as 

future occupants of the proposed dwellings. A detailed assessment of the application 

proposals, against the standards set out within the Design SPD, in relation to the key 

residential receptors is set out below.  

 

7.7.5 In connection with the above, it is noted that public representations have raised objections 

to the scheme on the grounds of the impact of the development on the residential 

amenities of occupiers of existing residential properties. In particular, objections have 

stated that the proposed courtyard style development along the eastern boundary will be 

overbearing and will result in an unacceptable loss of light and privacy for Beacon Hillside, 

including the residential annexe of this property, situated to the east of the application site. 

It is also argued that the position of the access location will result in the headlights of cars 

entering the site shining into the windows of the Beacon Hillside Annexe.  

 

7.7.6 In this respect, the proposed access location runs along the southern boundary of the site 

and is terminated by a turning head, which then provides access into the private drive 

which serves the courtyard style development to the rear of the site. The side boundary of 

Plot 01, which is situated at this end of the access route, is identified as featuring a brick 

boundary wall to the front, and a close boarded fence to the rear. The provision of these 

proposed boundary treatments is considered to be adequate to minimise the risk of car 

headlights shining into the windows of neighbouring properties.  

 

7.7.7 With regards to the contention that the proposals will be over-dominant and result in a loss 

of light for Beacon Hillside and the Beacon Hillside Annexe. The Applicant has submitted 

several Site Section Plans, which indicate the relationship between these properties and 

the proposed development, including the application of the 25-degree standard set out 

within the Design Guidelines SPD. These plans indicate that the height of the proposed 

dwellings along the eastern boundary and the separation distances, which would be a 

minimal of 20 metres, means that these dwellings would not break the 25-degree angle in 

the vertical plane as required by the Design Guidelines.  

 

7.7.8 In respect of protecting the privacy of these properties, the submitted Proposed Elevations 

and Floor Plans demonstrate that the proposed properties would not include habitable 

windows at the first-floor level within the rear elevation. Whilst House Type A (Plot 02 and 

03) features a window at first floor level, this window serves a family bathroom and is 

demonstrated as being obscured. Similarly, House Type E (Plot 01) also features a 

window a first floor but this window serves a hallway, as opposed to a habitable room. As 

such, the 14m separation distance set out within the Design Guidelines SPD is the 

appropriate standard to be applied and, in this regard, the submitted Site Layout 

demonstrates that the required separation distances can be achieved.  

 

7.7.9 Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that concerns were originally raised in relation to 

any potential reliance on the existing boundary vegetation on the eastern boundary to 

provide screening from the development, as this is situated outside of the application 

boundary and not within the ownership of the Applicant. Following feedback from Officers, 

84



 

 
 

the Applicant revised the plans to indicate the provision of an additional close boarded 

fence along the eastern boundary within the application site, to provide further screening 

for all residential occupants.  

 

7.7.10 Furthermore, it is appreciated that public representations have objected to the scheme on 

the basis that the proposals would overshadow Barracks Square to the south-east and 

would impact on the privacy of these properties. As above, Plot 01 is considered to the 

most important element of the scheme in relation to the residential amenities of these 

properties. Following engagement with the Council’s Urban Design Officer, the side 

elevation of this property was amended to include windows and brick detailing to provide 

visual interest to what is considered to be a prominent elevation. However, all of the 

windows within this elevation (southern elevation) are identified as being obscure glazed 

to ensure that there are no issues of overlooking from within the property. Similarly, the 

orientation and location of Plot 01 within the site and the 10.8m separation distance that 

this affords to the rear and side elevations of 11 and 12 Barracks Square are sufficient to 

ensure that this elevation would not break the 25-degree angle in the vertical plane. In the 

context of the above, and in light of the relationship with the existing buildings on the site, 

it is considered that the proposed development would provide an appropriate standard of 

residential amenity for Barracks Square.  

 

7.7.11 In respect of the relationship between Egglestone House to the north-west of the site and 

the proposed residential development, the row of 3 (no) dwellings fronting Sandon Road is 

positioned slightly in front of the existing building line of Egglestone House, but the 

position of these properties is such that it does not break the 45-degree rule used to 

assess the relationship between properties in the horizontal plane. In respect of the 

potential for overshadowing and loss of light to the rear elevation of this property, which 

features a number of habitable windows, Plot 05 of the proposed development is 

considered to be the principal concern. The submitted Site Layout demonstrates that this 

property will be situated approximately 15m from the rear of this property; a large 

proportion of the back-to-back relation between these properties will be a two-storey 

relationship with only a small element of Plot 04 being 2 ½ storey in form. The Applicant 

has submitted a Site Section drawing which demonstrates that the two-storey element of 

Plot 05 does not break the 25-degree angle in the vertical plane with the 2 ½ storey 

element extending slightly above this angle. However, on balance, it is considered that the 

Plot 05 would not be over dominant and result in an unacceptable level of light serving the 

rear of Egglestone House.  

 

7.7.12 Similarly, in respect of the provision of an appropriate standard of privacy, Plot 05 (House 

Type B) does not feature any windows above the ground floor in the rear elevation and, 

therefore, the 14m separation standard is applicable. In this case, the proposed separation 

distance would be a minimum of 15m and, therefore would be acceptable.  

 

7.7.13 Finally, in respect of the relationship between 1 Garden Close to the north-east of the site 

and the proposed development scheme, the relationship between the existing property 

and Plot 04 is considered to be the most relevant. The submitted Site Layout 

demonstrates that the location of Plot 04 would not break the 45-degree angle in the 

horizontal plane that is used to assess the potential for loss of light for built form situated 

to the front of an existing property. In relation to the side-to-side relationship between 

these properties, the Applicant has submitted a 3D model which demonstrates that the 

85



 

 
 

nearest part of Plot 04 to the northern boundary will have a lower ridge height than 1 

Garden Close to the north. The existing property does have windows in the side elevation; 

however, it is not believed that these service habitable rooms within the property. In view 

of the above, and considering the presence of existing two storey built form within this part 

of the application site, it is concluded that the application proposals would not give rise to 

any unacceptable adverse impacts on the residential amenity of 1 Garden Close.  

 

7.7.14 Similarly, Plot 05 (House Type B) does not feature any windows in the side elevation and, 

as such, there are not considered to be any potential issues of overlooking.  

 

7.7.15 As such, the application proposals would accord with the identified standards set out 

within the adopted Design Guidelines SPD for assessing the protection of residential 

amenities for existing properties. Consequently, it is Officers’ assessment that the 

application proposals would accord with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan in this regard.  

 

7.7.16 Furthermore, in relation to the provision of an appropriate standard of residential amenity 

for future occupants of the proposed development. It is considered that the identified 

separation distances coupled with the absence of habitable windows above the ground 

floor of House Types A and B are sufficient to ensure that the future occupants of these 

house types, and House Type C – which backs onto these properties – would enjoy an 

appropriate level of privacy and outlook. In respect of Plots 08 and 09 (House Type D) it is 

noted that these properties would feature a first-floor balcony and the rear elevation of 

these properties would be 21m apart, this is in line with the standard that would be 

expected for a 2-storey dwelling. However, it is appreciated that the massing of these 

properties is 2 ½ storeys and therefore a greater separation distance of circa 24m may 

normally be expected. Nonetheless, it is considered that the identified separation distance 

is still considered to be acceptable, and any future occupants would be aware of the 

prospective relationship between these properties and, therefore, would need to be 

satisfied that it would provide them with an appropriate level of residential amenity prior to 

purchasing the property. As such, it is Officers’ assessment that the proposed 

development would provide an appropriate level of residential amenity for all future 

occupants of the proposed development site.  

 

7.7.17 In addition, Lincolnshire Police’s Crime Prevention Officer has been consulted on the 

application proposals and have confirmed that they have no objections.  

 

7.7.18 Consequently, taking the above into account, it is concluded that the application proposals 

would not give rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on neighbouring properties and 

would benefit from an appropriate level of amenity for all future occupants. As such, the 

proposals would be in accordance with Policy DE1 and SP3(c) of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan, the Design Guidelines SPD and Section 12 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework. 

 

7.8 Open Space Provision 

 

7.8.1 Policy OS1 (Open Space) sets out the requirement for all new housing developments to 

provide sufficient new (or improved) open space to meet the needs of the development. 

Development proposals will be assessed against the current open space provision and in 

86



 

 
 

areas that do not currently meet the standards identified, the proposals will be required to 

make appropriate provision in order to meet the identified standards. New open space 

provision is expected to form an integral part of the development layout and should seek 

to provide net gains to biodiversity and green infrastructure where possible. Where the 

above standards cannot be achieved on site as part of the development, an off-site 

financial contribution will be expected. 

 

7.8.2 Paragraph 93 of the Framework identifies that planning policies and decisions should plan 

positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities (such as local 

shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and 

places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities 

and residential environments.  

 

7.8.3 In relation to the above, it is appreciated that public representations received on the 

application have raised objections on the basis that the scheme represents 

overdevelopment of the site insofar as it does not provide sufficient private amenity space 

for future occupants. 

 

7.8.4 In this respect, as detailed above, it is acknowledged that the quantum of development 

proposed on the site has been reduced during the lifetime of the application following 

engagement between Officers and the Applicant. This has included increasing the size of 

the private amenity space serving each individual dwelling to enable increased separation 

distances between properties. In view of the above, it is considered that the current 

proposals would provide adequate private amenity space to serve each individual 

property.  

 

7.8.5 With regards to the open space standards set out within Policy OS1, it is considered that 

the application site benefits from suitable access to existing informal / natural green space 

provision within the surrounding area. The site is located approximately 0.3 miles to the 

west of the Hills and Hollows Nature Reserve, which is situated on the eastern edge of 

Grantham, and can be accessed from the site via Beacon Road. Likewise, the site is also 

located within relatively close proximity to Wyndham Park (0.5 miles), which can be 

accessed by pedestrians via a walk along the River Witham, entered via Stonebridge 

Road.  

 

7.8.6 Similarly, it is also considered that the site benefits from sufficient access to existing 

outdoor sports provision available within Grantham, including the Kesteven and Grantham 

Girls School playing fields immediately to the north of the application site.  

 

7.8.7 In respect of children’s and young persons equipped play space, it is appreciated that 

there is an existing equipped play area to the west of the site, situated within the Garden 

Close residential area. However, it is considered that the proposed development site 

would generate an additional level of demand for equipped play space above the existing 

provision. It is noted that there are limited opportunities to meet the identified requirements 

on site and as such, in this case, it is proposed that an off-site financial contribution of 

£7,951.50 will be made to improve the quality of the existing children’s equipped play 

space within the immediate locality of the site. This financial contribution will be secured 

via a Section 106 Agreement.  

 

87



 

 
 

7.8.8 As such, subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement securing financial 

contributions to improvements to existing children’s equipped play space, the application 

proposal would be in accordance with Policy OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan and Section 8 of the Framework in this regard. 

 

7.9 Climate Change 

 

7.9.1 Policy SD1 (The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven) sets out the 

overarching obligation for development proposals to minimise its impact on climate 

change and contribute towards a strong, stable and more diverse economy. The policy 

requires consideration of a number of matters including minimising the use of resources 

and the production of waste; meeting high environmental standards in terms of design and 

construction; encouraging the use of sustainable construction materials and proactively 

enhancing the District’s character and natural environment.  

 

7.9.2 Similarly, Policy SB1 (Sustainable Buildings) states that all development proposals will be 

expected to mitigate and adapt to climate change. This includes a requirement for 

development proposal to demonstrate how carbon dioxide emissions have been 

minimised; achieve a “water neutral position”, including the provision of an appropriate 

water efficiency promotion and consultation education programme as part of all major 

residential developments; and supporting low carbon travel through the provision of 

electric car charging points.  

 

7.9.3 In addition, Paragraph 152 of the Framework states that “the planning system should 

support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate taking full account of 

flooding risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to 

radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions; minimise vulnerability and improve 

resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources including the conversion of existing 

buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure”. 

 

7.9.4 In relation to the above, it is appreciated that public representations on the application 

have raised objections on the basis that the proposals are contrary to the requirements of 

Policy SD1(d) insofar as it will not reuse the existing buildings on the site and will generate 

high levels of waste during the construction process, which will have to be transported off-

site.  

 

7.9.5 As part of the application, the Applicant has submitted an Energy Statement prepared by 

Focus Consultants LLP. As originally submitted, the Energy Statement set out a number of 

princes of sustainable material and construction, however, it failed to identify how the 

proposed development would specifically meet the policy obligations set out within Policy 

SD1 and Policy SB1 of the Local Plan. The Applicant subsequently submitted an amended 

Energy Statement document, which identifies the following in relation to these 

requirements:  

 

(a) Maximising energy efficiency and reducing carbon emissions – the development 

proposes to adopt a “fabric-first” approach to the building specifications to 

achieve performance standards above Part L of the Building Regulations. This 

includes utilising insulated cavity walls, roofs, floors and openings. Similarly, it is 

anticipated that Solar Photovoltaic panels will be installed on selected properties.  

88



 

 
 

(b) Minimising water consumption – it is proposed to include flow restrictors to limit 

the water use of properties to under 110 litres per person per day.  

(c) Electric Car Charging – the development will include the provision of electric car 

charging to promote the selection of the type of vehicle by future occupants.  

 

7.9.6 In light of the above, subject to an appropriate condition requiring the development to be 

carried out in accordance with the measures identified within the submitted Energy 

Statement, it is considered that the application proposals would comply with the 

requirements of Policy SD1 and SB1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

7.10 Pollution Control 

 

7.10.1 As identified elsewhere, the site is currently occupied by the Grantham College Building 

Department, and it is appreciated that such use is susceptible to giving rise to sources of 

potential ground contamination.  

 

7.10.2 Furthermore, it is also appreciated that public representations on the application have also 

raised concerns about the potential for asbestos containing materials to be located on and 

/ or underneath the application site.  

 

7.10.3 Local Plan Policy EN4 (Pollution Control) seeks to minimise pollution and identifies that 

development that on its own or cumulatively, would result in significant air, light, noise, 

land, water or other environmental pollution or harm to amenity, health, well-being or 

safety will not be permitted. Development proposals should not have an adverse impact 

on existing operations, and development will only be permitted if the potential adverse 

effects can be mitigated by other environmental controls or measures included within the 

proposals.  

 

7.10.4 Paragraph 174 of the Framework states that planning policies and decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by “preventing new and 

existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being 

adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 

instability”.  

 

7.10.5 The application has been accompanied by a Phase I Desk Based Ground Investigation 

produced by GeoDyne Geotechnical and Environmental Consultants on behalf of the 

Applicant. This report identifies that there are areas of potentially hazardous ground gases 

from regraded land to the north-west of the site, which under the right circumstances could 

have the potential to affect the application site. It recommends a programme of Phase II 

Exploratory Works to investigate the potential issues identified in the Phase I Report. 

These works are recommended to include the following:  

 

- A programme of exploratory holes across the site to provide an initial inspection 

of the ground conditions for geotechnical and environmental purposes (via 

window sample boreholes) 

- Appropriate geotechnical soil analysis 

- Contamination testing of soil samples and contaminated land risk assessment; 

and 

89



 

 
 

- The installation of ground gas monitoring points at the site to enable a 

programme of ground gas monitoring.  

 

7.10.6 The report concludes that the site is expected to be considered suitable for a proposed 

residential end use from a geo-technical and environmental perspective.  

 

7.10.7 The Council’s Environmental Protection Team have been consulted in relation to the 

application proposals and they have reviewed the details contained within the Phase I 

Ground Investigation. They have confirmed that they have no objections subject to the 

imposition of conditions requiring the Applicant to implement the recommendations of the 

Phase I Study by conducting a Phase II Site Investigation and Ground Gas monitoring. 

 

7.10.8 Following the receipt of public representations indicating the likely presence of asbestos 

containing materials on the site, the Environment Protection Team were further consulted 

in relation to the adequacy of the proposed conditions to address any potential asbestos 

contamination on the site. The Environmental Protection Officer subsequently confirmed 

that the ground sampling identified as being required by the Applicant’s Phase 1 Site 

Survey would include identification of any asbestos and / or its fibres. The condition also 

includes a requirement for any remediation works to be implemented in accordance with a 

remediation scheme to be agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

7.10.9 In addition, in view of the adjacent land uses, the Environmental Protection Officer has 

recommended the inclusion of a pre-commencement condition requiring the submission of 

a Demolition and Construction Management Plan and Method Statement, to ensure that 

the application proposals do not give rise to any unacceptable impacts in respect of noise, 

air, land and water quality. 

 

7.10.10 Taking the above into account, it is concluded that, subject to conditions, the proposed 

development would not give rise to any unacceptable risks of pollution. As such, the 

proposed development would be in accordance with Policy EN4 of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan and Section 15 of the NPPF.  

 

7.11 Access, Highways Impact and Transport Infrastructure 

 

7.11.1 Local Plan Policy ID2 (Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure) identifies that the 

Council will support and promote an efficient and safe transport network, which offers a 

range of transport choices for the movement of people and goods, reduces the need to 

travel by car, and encourages the use of alternatives, such as walking, cycling or public 

transport. The policy requires development proposals to not result in any unacceptable 

highway safety impacts or result in severe cumulative impacts on the highway network. 

Proposed schemes should also include appropriate provision for vehicle, two-wheeler and 

cycle parking.  

 

7.11.2 Furthermore, Paragraph 111 of the Framework states that “development should only be 

prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 

highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe”. 

 

7.11.3 As previously indicated, access to the sit is proposed to be taken via Sandon Road to the 

west of the site, utilising the existing access which service the current College 

90



 

 
 

Construction Department. The existing access will be slightly widened to allow for the 

provision of shared surface access with a 5.5m wide carriageway with 1.8m service strips 

on either side. The proposed Site Layout Plan demonstrates that 3 (no) parking spaces 

are to be provided for all 4-bed properties, and 2 (no) parking spaces are provided for the 

2- and 3-bed properties. House Types A, B and C all feature integrated garages and car 

ports, with the proposed car ports providing adequate space for 1 vehicle to park, with 

further on-plot parking provision made to the front and side of the property to meet the 

identified standards. The proposed garages have been identified as providing space for 

cycle and refuse bin storage.  

 

7.11.4 In the case of House Type D (Plot 08 and 09), dedicated parking provision is to be made 

to the rear of the property, immediately adjacent to the proposed access route. These 

properties will also include a shed within the rear garden to provide adequate space for 

cycle and refuse bin storage. House Type E (Plot 01) includes sufficient off-street parking 

to the side of the property and will also include a shed within the rear garden (immediately 

to the rear of the proposed parking) to ensure that there is appropriate provision for cycle 

and refuse bin storage.  

 

7.11.5 In relation to the above, it is appreciated that public representations received on the 

application have commented on the proximity of the site to the Kesteven and Grantham 

Girls School and the potential highways safety risks that may occur as a result of the 

position of the site access opposite the location where buses stop and pick up students, 

and parents park to drop off and collect students.  

 

7.11.6 Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have been consulted on the 

application. As part of their initial response, they submitted a holding objection pending the 

receipt of further details in relation to the access width, carriageway, footway and private 

dimensions and the provision of Swept Path Analysis drawing demonstrating how a 

pantechnicon (large van) could turn within the site. Amended details were also required to 

ensure that the application provided sufficient parking to meet the guidance set out with 

the Lincolnshire County Council Development Roads and Sustainable Drainage Design 

Approach.  

 

7.11.7 The Applicant subsequently submitted updated plans including the provision of the 

requested vehicle tracking sketch and demonstrating the revised access details provided 

above. The Applicant has subsequently engaged with LCC Highways to confirm that the 

access road running along the southern boundary is proposed to be adopted, with the 

internal accesses to the respective residential dwellings to remain in private ownership. 

The Proposed Site Plan has been subsequently amended to ensure that the proposals 

accord with the LCC specification to enable the roads to be adopted; this includes the 

provision of a sufficient service strip width.  

 

7.11.8 Consequently, it is considered that the application site benefits from a location which 

would encourage future occupants to travel to / from the site via sustainable modes of 

transport. The proposals are not considered to give rise to any unacceptable adverse 

impacts on highway safety and capacity and would provide an appropriate level of parking. 

The application proposals are therefore assessed as being in accordance with Policy ID2 

of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Section 9 of the Framework. 

 

91



 

 
 

7.12 Flood Risk and Drainage Issues 

 

7.12.1 Local Plan Policy EN5 (Water Environment and Flood Risk Management) identifies that 

development should be located in the lowest areas of flooding risk and, where this is not 

possible, the sequential approach to development will be applied. All development 

proposals should avoid increasing flooding risk elsewhere and all applications will be 

expected to be supported by a statement on how surface water is to be managed.  

 

7.12.2 Paragraph 159 of the Framework states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of 

flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk 

(whether existing or future). Where development is necessary in such areas, the 

development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere”.  

 

7.12.3 In this regard, the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 of the Flood Map for 

Planning and is also identified as being at very low risk of surface water flooding. As such, 

the application site is considered to present an overall low risk of flooding to the 

surrounding areas.  

 

7.12.4 Furthermore, it is appreciated that the application site is previously developed land 

containing significant areas of hardstanding. As such, it is considered that the proposed 

development, as shown on the submitted Proposed Site Layout Plan, which result in a 

reduction in the quantum of impermeable surfacing within the site.  

 

7.12.5 Notwithstanding the above, the Applicant has submitted a Flood Risk Assessment and 

Drainage Strategy. The submitted document identifies that due to the semi-permeable 

geology locally, it is considered likely that a relatively high water table is present. This, 

coupled with the potential for made ground to exist at the site, it is concluded that the 

existing ground conditions would not support infiltration. In view of the above, it is 

proposed that surface water flows will be discharged to an existing surface water sewer 

located within Sandon Road.  

 

7.12.6 Surface water discharge from the site will be attenuated within a sub-surface cellular 

attenuation tank located within the private drives on the site and, as part of the detailed 

drainage design, SuDS features such as bioretention features, swales, permeable paving 

and rainwater harvesting are to be incorporated.  

 

7.12.7 With regards to foul water drainage, this will be gravity discharged to the existing foul 

water sewer located in Sandon Road.  

 

7.12.8 Anglian Water have been consulted on the application proposals and they have confirmed 

that the existing sewage system has capacity to accept the flows from the development. 

As such, they have no objections to the proposed connections to their network.  

 

7.12.9 Furthermore, Lincolnshire County Council (as Lead Local Flood Authority) have been 

consulted on the proposals and, following the submission of the Flood Risk Assessment & 

Drainage Strategy and further clarification from the Applicant about the incorporation of 

SuDS features as part of the detailed design, they have confirmed that they have no 

objections in principle to the development, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring 

the submission and approval of the detailed foul and surface water drainage strategy.  

92



 

 
 

 

7.12.10 Similarly, the Internal Drainage Board have been consulted on the application and have 

confirmed that they have no comments to make. 

 

7.12.11 As such, subject to conditions requiring the submission of a detailed foul and surface 

water drainage strategy, the application proposals are considered to accord with Policy 

EN5 of the South Kesteven Local Plan and Section 14 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

 

7.13 Ecology and Biodiversity 

 

7.13.1 Policy EN2 (Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity) identifies that the Council will 

facilitate the conservation, enhancement and promotion of the District’s biodiversity and 

geological interests of the natural environment. This includes seeking to enhance 

ecological networks and seeking to deliver a net gain on all proposals.  

 

7.13.2 Similarly, Paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that planning 

policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 

by “minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 

establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future 

pressures”.  

 

7.13.3 Furthermore, Paragraph 131 of the Framework identifies that “Trees can make an 

important contribution to the character and quality of urban environments and can also 

held to mitigate and adapt to climate change. Planning policies and decisions should 

ensure that new streets are tree-lined, that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees 

elsewhere in developments (such as parks and community orchards), that appropriate 

measures are in place to secure the long-term maintenance of newly planted trees, and 

that existing trees are retained wherever possible”. 

 

7.13.4 In relation to the above, it is appreciated that public representations have been received 

on the application on the basis that the proposals would result in the dieback of the 

evergreen trees located within the gardens of Beacon Hillside on the eastern boundary of 

the site.  

 

7.13.5 In connection with the above, the application has been accompanied by an Arboricultural 

Implications Assessment and Tree Protection Plan produced by Ian Stemp Landscape 

Associates on behalf of the Applicant. The report identifies that the site is majority 

hardstanding and existing buildings, with no on-site tree cover. Trees are limited to the off-

site boundaries. Although there is a landscaped buffer at the font of the site comprising of 

lawn and clipped Beech hedges.  

 

7.13.6 The Assessment concludes that the proposed development would require the removal of 

three hedges positioned within the southern access road, the boundary to Egglestone 

House and situated in the position of proposed Plots 09 – 11. It also considered that the 

proposed development would not give rise to significant issues of shading of trees.  

 

7.13.7 The Council’s Arboricultural Advisor has been consulted on the application proposal and 

has advised that they have no objections to the proposals, subject to conditions. They 

93



 

 
 

have confirmed that the removal of hedgerows H3-H5 within the application site would 

have no impact on the character of the local landscape or its enjoyment by members of 

the public. Furthermore, they have proposed the imposition of conditions requiring the 

development to be carried out in accordance with the submitted Tree Protection Plan and 

a robust landscaping and post planting maintenance plan to be imposed. They have also 

recommended the submission of a Demolition Method Statement to demonstrate how the 

works would be carried out without adversely affecting nearby trees and vegetation.  

 

7.13.8 In addition, Officers have proposed the inclusion of conditions requiring the submission of 

hard and soft landscaping details to ensure that the proposed tree planting indicated on 

the submitted Site Layout is appropriately completed, using suitable species types and 

densities. 

 

7.13.9 Furthermore, it is appreciated that the site contains 6 (no) existing buildings which are 

utilitarian in their design and construction and therefore, may contain suitable habitat 

features to support protected species. Similarly, it is also appreciated that the presence of 

hedgerow and trees within the site and immediately adjacent to the site may also 

encourage use of the site as a commuting habitat.  

 

7.13.10 In this respect, the application has been accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological 

Appraisal, completed by Astute Ecology on behalf of the Applicant. The Appraisal 

identifies that the sites’ combined habitats are assessed as having very low value to 

biodiversity comprising mainly of buildings and hardstanding, with a small area of amenity 

grassland and hedgerow. It is concluded that provided the recommendations within the 

report are adhered to, negative impacts to biodiversity, designated sites and protected 

species would be avoided, and a net positive gain to biodiversity can be achieved 

 

7.13.11 With regards to protected species, four of the buildings were assessed as holding potential 

to support roosting bats. Further bat surveys are required to assess any impact on 

roosting bats, such surveys are time specific (May to September inclusive) and can be 

secured as part of a biodiversity mitigation and enhancement condition.  

 

7.13.12 Similarly, in relation to breeding birds, any vegetation and building clearance works are to 

be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (March to August inclusive), or to be 

preceded by a check for nesting birds by an experienced ecologist.  

 

7.13.13 As such, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring the development to be carried 

out in accordance with the Recommendations, Mitigation and Enhancement Measures set 

out in Section 6 of the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, alongside the 

conditions requiring the submission of a hard and soft landscaping scheme, it is 

considered that the application proposals would not give rise to any unacceptable adverse 

impacts on ecological assets, and would result in an overall biodiversity net gain. 

 

7.13.14 Taking the above into account, subject to conditions, the application proposals are 

considered to accord with Policy EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and 

Sections 5 and 14 of the Framework in respect of ecology and biodiversity.  

 

 

 

94



 

 
 

7.14 Section 106 Heads of Terms 

 

7.14.1 Policy ID1 (Infrastructure for Growth) states that all development proposals will be 

expected to demonstrate that there is, or will be, sufficient infrastructure capacity 

(including green infrastructure) to support and meet the essential infrastructure 

requirements arising from the proposed development.  

 

7.14.2 Paragraph 124 of the Framework states that planning policies and decisions should 

support development that makes efficient use of land, taking into account the availability 

and capacity of infrastructure and services – both existing and proposed – as well as their 

potential for further improvement and the scope to promote sustainable travel modes that 

limit future car use. 

 

7.14.3 In connection with the above, Lincolnshire County Council Education have been consulted 

on the application. As part of their initial response, they submitted a request for a financial 

contribution of £33,982 towards enhancing secondary school provision in Grantham. 

However, following amendments to the proposals, including the reduction in the quantum 

of development proposed and the revised housing mix, as well as the updated education 

capacity projections, LCC have advised that there is now sufficient capacity in the local 

area to mitigate the impacts of the development and, therefore, a financial contribution is 

no longer required.  

 

7.14.4 Furthermore, NHS Lincolnshire have also been consulted on the application proposals, 

and they have confirmed that the proposed development will impact on St. Peter’s Hill 

Surgery, the Harrowby Lane Surgery, Vine Street Surgery and St. John’s Medical Centre. 

They have requested a Section 106 contribution of £7,260.00 to contribute to expanding 

capacity at these medical facilities to mitigate against the impacts of the development.  

 

7.14.5 Consequently, the application proposal is a major development for 11 dwellings and would 

result in the need for Section 106 contributions including: 

 

(i) NHS Lincolnshire - £7,260.00 towards expanding capacity at St. Peter’s Hill 

Surgery, Harrowby Lane Surgery, Vine Street Surgery and St. John’s Medical 

Centre in Grantham. 

(ii) Affordable Housing – 20% required to be met via commuted sum to provide 

affordable housing elsewhere in the Grantham area or the wider District – 

current calculation would result in a commuted sum of £240,000.00. 

(iii) Provision of Children’s and Young Persons Equipped Play Space – financial 

contribution of £7,951.50 to enhance existing provision in the immediate area 

of the site.  

 

7.14.6 In the event that the application was acceptable in all other respects, these contributions 

would ensure that local infrastructure is suitably upgraded to cope with the additional 

population. It is considered that these requirements would be compliant with the statutory 

tests of the CIL regulations as well as local and national policy requirements.  

 

7.14.7 Thus, subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement, the application proposals 

would be in accordance with Policy ID1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

95



 

 
 

 

8 Crime and Disorder 
 

8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 

implications. Lincolnshire Police have been consulted and have no objections to the 

proposal. 

 

9 Human Rights Implications 
 

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 

home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 

recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that Act will be breached 

 

10 Planning Balance and Conclusions 
 

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local 

Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

10.2 The application site is a previously developed site that was formerly occupied by the 

Grantham College Construction Department. The existing buildings on site were identified 

as no longer being fit for purpose for the former use and were surplus to requirements as 

part of the College’s overall land portfolio. As such, the application site is defined as 

previously developed land and the existing buildings, in their utilitarian form do not make a 

positive contribution to the existing streetscene. Consequently, the application proposals 

represent the opportunity to redevelop the site and enhance the character and 

appearance of the area, as well as providing a number of residential units to contribute 

towards boosting the District’s housing land supply. The application proposals are 

therefore considered to be in accordance with the broad principles of the Council’s spatial 

strategy, as set out in Local Plan policies SD1, SP1, SP2, SP3, H2 and H4 of the Local 

Plan and as such, are acceptable in principle subject to material considerations.  

 

10.3 In this respect, statutory comments from the Conservation Officer have identified that due 

to the setting forward and increase in height of the new development when compared to 

the existing built form on site, it is considered that the application proposals would give 

rise to less than substantial harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Former Barracks, 

located immediately to the south of the site. Consequently, in accordance with the 

requirements of Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Paragraph 202 

of the Framework, the identified less than substantial harm falls to be assessed against 

the public benefits of the scheme.  

 

10.4 In this regard, the statutory provisions set out in Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 hold considerable importance and weight in 

the decision-making process, as established through case law. This requires Local 

Planning Authorities to have special regard for the desirability of preserving listed buildings 

and their settings, or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 

possesses.  

 

96



 

 
 

10.5 Furthermore, it is also acknowledged that the submitted proposals would be contrary to 

Policy SP6 insofar as the application site was previously used for community purposes 

through its function as an education facility, and the application has not been supported by 

any formal documentary evidence to demonstrate that there is no realistic prospect of the 

site being redeveloped for an alternative business or community facility use. Nonetheless, 

in this instance it is considered that redevelopment of the site for residential purposes 

would not be detrimental to the overall availability of educational facilities within the town. 

As such, it is Officers’ assessment that the weight to be attributed to this policy conflict is 

limited.  

 

10.6 In respect of the benefits of the application proposals, the scheme would involve the re-

use of previously developed land and would deliver 11 residential units, which would 

contribute towards boosting the Council’s housing land supply within Grantham, which has 

been identified as the principal location for growth within the District. The submitted 

application proposals are considered to make a positive contribution to the character and 

appearance of the local area and the Conservation Area, when considered in the context 

of the existing poor quality, utilitarian built-form on the site.  

 

10.7 Furthermore, the scheme would provide financial contributions towards boosting the 

supply of affordable housing in Grantham. Similarly, the scheme would provide a range of 

housing opportunities, including the provision of a number of large family properties, which 

would assist in contribution to the ongoing provision of a balanced housing stock within the 

Grantham area.  

 

10.8 In addition, it is noted that the scheme would deliver economic benefits insofar as it would 

support increased patronage of local services and business by future occupants of the site 

and would provide short-term benefits for the construction industry through the creation of 

jobs for construction and related supplies involved in the delivery of the development.  

 

10.9 Finally, subject to conditions, it is also recognised that the scheme would give rise to 

environmental benefits through the implementation of the proposed surface and foul water 

drainage strategy, which will assist in reducing the rate of flows from the site. The scheme 

also includes the provision of additional areas of landscaping and tree planting which, 

alongside the recommendations contained within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, will 

assist in securing a biodiversity net gain as part of the development proposals. 

 

10.10 The submitted scheme is considered to accord with the adopted development plan in 

respect of matters relating to design and visual quality, residential amenity, access, 

drainage, pollution control, ecology and biodiversity. Therefore, the scheme is being 

assessed as being in accordance with Policy EN1, EN2, EN3, EN4, EN5, DE1, SB1, OS1, 

ID1 and ID2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan on these matters.  

 

10.11 In this case, it is Officer’s assessment that these public benefits should be attributed 

significant weight in the overall planning balance.  

 

10.12 Taking the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that the public benefits of the 

proposed development would outweigh the less than substantial harm to the setting of the 

Grade II Listed Former Barracks. As a result, the application proposals would be in 

accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted Local Plan and Section 16 of the Framework.  

97



 

 
 

 

10.13 Taking the above into account, it is considered that the application proposals would accord 

with the adopted development plan when taken as a whole, albeit a minor conflict with 

Policy SP6 is identified.  There are no material considerations, including the identified 

harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Former Barracks, which is afforded considerable 

importance and weight, to indicate that planning permission should not be granted, 

although appropriate conditions are attached.  

 

11 Recommendation 
 

11.1.1 To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to GRANT planning permission, subject to 

the completion of a Section 106 Agreement securing the necessary financial contributions 

detailed in the appropriate section of this report, and subject to the conditions set out 

below. Where the Section 106 Agreement has not been concluded prior to the Committee, 

a period not exceeding twelve weeks after the date of the Committee shall be set for the 

completion of that obligation.  

 

11.1.2 In the event that the agreement has not been concluded within the twelve-week period 

and where, in the opinion of the Assistant Director of Planning, there are no extenuating 

circumstances which would justify a further extension of time, the related planning 

application hall be refused planning permission for the appropriate reason(s) on the basis 

that the necessary criteria essential to make what would otherwise be unacceptable 

development acceptable have not been forthcoming.  

 

Time Limit for Commencement 

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.  

 

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

  

Approved Plans 

 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following list of approved plans: 

 

a. Site Location Plan (Ref: 101-093-001) 

b. Proposed Site Layout Plan (Ref: 101-093//010 H) 

c. Proposed House Type A Floor Plans (Ref: 101-093//101 D) 

d. Proposed House Type A Elevations (Ref: 101-032//102 B) 

e. Proposed House Type B Floor Plans (Ref: 101-093/110 C) 

f. Proposed House Type B Elevations (Ref: 101-093/111 B) 

g. Proposed House Type C Floor Plans (Ref: 101-093//120 C) 

h. Proposed House Type C Elevations (Ref: 101-093//121 B) 

i. Proposed House Type D Floor Plans (Ref: 101-093//130 D) 

j. Proposed House Type D Elevations (Ref: 101-093//131 C) 

k. Proposed House Type E Floor Plans (Ref: 101-093//140 C) 

98



 

 
 

l. Proposed House Type E Elevations (Ref: 101-093/141 B) 

m. Vehicle Tracking Sketch (Ref: GCSR-BSP-ZZ-XX-D-C-0001-P02) 

n. Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Ian Stemp Landscape Associates) (Ref: 

21.1540.R2A) 

o. Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Astute Ecology) (January 2021) 

p. Energy Statement (Focus Consultants) (August 2021) 

q. Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy (BSP Consulting) (August 2021) 

(Ref: GCSR-BSP-ZZ-XX-RP-C-0001-P01) 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 

 

Before the Development is Commenced 

 

Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement 

 

3) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a biodiversity mitigation and 

enhancement plan must have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local 

planning authority. The scheme shall be based upon the recommendations from 

Section 6 of the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Astute Ecology) (January 

2021). The scheme shall include a plan identifying the location of any mitigation and 

enhancement measures, along with a detailed schedule (and technical details as 

relevant) for each of the measures proposed. It should also include results and 

recommendations from the bat emergence and re-entry surveys identified as 

necessary by the report.  

 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development adequately protects protected 

species in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN2 and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981. 

 

Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings 

 

4) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, details demonstrating that at 

least 10% of the dwellings would be constructed as “Accessible and Adaptable” in line 

with the standard set out in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations must be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

The development must be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of all potential future occupiers 

in accordance with Local Plan Policy DE1.  

 

Foul and Surface Water Drainage Details 

 

5) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a scheme for the treatment 

of surface and foul water drainage shall have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage details must:  

 

99



 

 
 

- Be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological 

and hydrogeological context of the development 

- Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms 

up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for 

climate change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the 

existing local drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding 

the run-off rate for the undeveloped site 

- Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to the 

brownfield runoff rate 

- Provide details for the timetable for and any phasing of implementation for the 

drainage scheme; and  

- Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the 

lifetime of the development, including any arrangements for the adoption by any 

public body or Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure 

the operation of the drainage system throughout its lifetime  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water drainage in 

accordance with Local Plan Policy EN5. 

 

Demolition and Construction Management  

 

6) No development shall take place, including demolition of buildings hereby approved, 

until a Demolition Method Statement and Construction Management Plan and Method 

Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority, which shall indicate measures to mitigate against noise, dust and vibration, 

traffic generation and drainage of the site during the demolition and construction 

stages of the proposed development.  

 

The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall include:  

 

- Phasing of the development to include access construction 

- The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 

- Loading and unloading of plant and materials 

- Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 

- Wheel washing facilities 

- The routes of construction traffic to and from the site including any off site routes for 

the disposal of excavated material; and 

- Strategy stating how surface water run off on and from the development will be 

managed during construction and protection measures for any sustainable drainage 

features. This should include drawing(s) showing how the drainage systems 

(permanent or temporary) connect to an outfall (temporary or permanent) during 

construction.  

 

The Demolition Method Statement shall be strictly adhered to through the demolition 

period.  

 

The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall be strictly adhered to 

throughout the construction period.  

 

100



 

 
 

Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without 

creating or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of the 

permitted development during construction and to ensure that suitable traffic routes are 

agreed, and to ensure that the demolition and construction period does not give rise to 

unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenities of neighbouring properties. 

 

Contaminated Land Survey 

 

7) No works pursuant to this permission shall commence, unless otherwise agreed in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority, until a Phase II Site Investigation assessing the 

ground conditions of the site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis, identified as 

appropriate by the Phase I Desk Top Study (GeoDyne) has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

The ground investigation shall be sufficient to investigate the potential issues raised in 

the Phase I Desk Study together with any additional information which may be known 

about potential contamination of the proposed development site.  

 

The ground investigation shall be undertaken in accordance with current industry good 

practice. It is recommended that the Phase II works comprise the following as a 

minimum:  

 

- A programme of exploratory holes across the site including specific areas that have 

been identified as being contaminated, to provide an initial inspection of ground 

conditions for geotechnical and environmental purposes.  

- Appropriate geotechnical soil analysis  

- Contamination testing of soil samples which includes analysis for asbestos fibres 

and contaminated land risk assessment  

- The installation of ground gas monitoring points at the site to enable a programme 

of ground gas monitoring.  

 

Subject to the results of the above, the Applicant will also be required to submit  

 

- A detailed scheme for remedial works and measures to be undertaken to avoid risk 

from contaminants and / or gases when the site is developed and proposals for 

future maintenance and monitoring Such a scheme shall include the nomination of 

a competent person to oversee the implementation of the works.  

 

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the 

potential to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site 

investigations and remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities 

of the future residents and users of the development; and in accordance with Policy 

EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan . 

 

 During Building Works 

 

Materials Schedule 

 

101



 

 
 

8) Before any works on the external elevation of the development hereby permitted are 

begun, samples of the materials (including colour of render, paintwork or colourwash) 

to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 

permitted will have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Materials shall be in broad accordance with the details indicated on the 

approved Proposed Site Layout Plan and House Types Pack.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 

with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

Hard Landscaping 

 

9) Before any development other than demolition and clearance works, details of hard 

landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. Details shall include: 

 

(i) proposed finished levels and contours 

(ii) means of enclosure  

(iii) car parking layouts;  

(iv) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas 

(v) hard surfacing materials  

(vi) minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other 

storage units, signs, lighting etc.) 

 

Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 

DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 

 

Soft Landscaping 

 

10) Before any development other than demolition and clearance works, details of any soft 

landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. Details shall include:  

 

(i) planting plans; 

(ii) written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated 

with plant and grass establishment); 

(iii) schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 

numbers/densities where appropriate; 

 

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policies 

DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

Compliance with Tree Protection Plan 

 

11) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, the Tree Protection 

Measures set out in Section 6 of the Arboricultural Implications Assessment (Ian 

Stemp Landscape Associates) (Ref: 21.1540.R2A) and indicated on the accompanying 

102



 

 
 

Tree Protection Plan shall be implemented in full. Thereafter, the development must be 

caried out in accordance with the approved protection details.  

 

Reason: Trees can make an important contribution to the character and quality of 

urban environments and can also help to mitigate and adapt to climate change, in 

accordance with Policy SD1, EN1, EN2 and DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan. 

 

Before the Development is Occupied 

 

Materials Implementation 

 

12) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the dwellings must 

have been completed in accordance with the approved external materials details.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 

with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Hard Landscaping Implementation 

 

13) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, all hard landscaping 

works shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved hard landscaping 

details.  

 

Reason: Hard landscaping makes an important contribution to development and its 

assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Surface and Foul Water Drainage Implementation 

 

14) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the works to provide 

the surface and foul water drainage shall have been completed in accordance with the 

approved details. 

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water drainage in 

accordance with Policy EN5 of the adopted Local Plan. 

 

Sustainable Building Measures 

 

15) Prior to the occupation of each dwelling, works shall be undertaken to conform with the 

recommendations of the Energy Statement (Focus Consultants) (August 2021), 

including the provision of infrastructure for electric car charging points.  

 

Reason: To ensure the scheme is energy efficient using a fabric first approach and 

future proofing the development through provision of infrastructure for electric car 

charging points and in accordance with Policy SB1 of the South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

 

 

103



 

 
 

Soft Landscaping Implementation 

 

16) Before the end of the first planting / seeding season following the occupation of any 

part of the development hereby permitted, all soft landscaping works shall have been 

carried out in accordance with the approved soft landscaping details.  

 

Reason: Soft landscaping makes an important contribution to development and its 

assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Ground Investigation Verification Report 

 

17) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, a verification report 

confirming that remedial works have been completed shall have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall have been 

submitted by the nominated competent person approved, as required by Condition 7 

above. The report shall include:  

 

- A complete record of remediation activities, and data collected as identified in the 

remediation scheme, to support compliance with agreed remediation objectives 

- As built drawings of the implemented scheme 

- Photographs of the remediation works in progress; and 

- Certificates demonstrating that imported and / or material left in situ is free from 

contamination.  

 

The scheme of remediation shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 

approved details.  

 

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the 

potential to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site 

investigations and remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities 

of the future residents and users of the development; and in accordance with Policy 

EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

Landscape Management Plan 

 

18) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, a landscape 

management plan shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The plan shall include: 

 

a. Long term design objectives 

b. Management responsibilities; and 

c. Maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas.  

 

Reason: Landscaping makes an important contribution to development and its 

assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

 

104



 

 
 

 Ongoing Conditions 

 

Soft Landscaping Protection 

 

19) Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the final dwelling / unit of the 

development hereby permitted, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved 

soft landscaping scheme, that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning 

Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season 

following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species as was 

approved in Condition 11 above, unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning 

Authority.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable 

standard of landscaping in accordance with the approved designs and in accordance 

with Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Landscape Management Plan implementation 

 

20) For a period of not less than 5 years following the first occupation of the final dwelling 

hereby permitted, the approved Landscape Management Plan shall be adhered to in 

full unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: Landscaping makes an important contribution to the development and its 

assimilation with its surroundings; and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

 Standard Note(s) to Applicant 

 

1) In reaching the decision, the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and 

proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is 

considered that the decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

2) Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under Section 106 of the Water 

Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the Water 

Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087. 
 

 

3) Protection of existing assets – A public sewer is shown on record plans within the land 

identified for the proposed development. It appears that the development proposals will 

affect existing public sewers. It is recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian 

Water Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. Building over 

existing public sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian Water.  

 

4) Building near to a public sewer – No building will be permitted within the statutory 

easement width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water. 

Please contact Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087.  

 

105



 

 
 

5) The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been 

approved for the purpose of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers 

included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Section 104 of the 

Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact out Development Services Team on 

0345 606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be 

designed and constructed in accordance with the Sewers for Adoption guide for 

developers, as supplemented by Anglian Water’s requirements 

 

6) Low or Medium pressure gas pipes and associated equipment has been identified as 

being in the vicinity of the works. Before carrying out any work, the developer must 

ensure that any proposed works on private land do not infringe on Cadent and / or 

National Grid’s legal rights (i.e. easements or wayleaves); ensure all persons, including 

direct labour and contractors working on or near Cadent and / or National Grid’s 

apparatus follow the requirements of the HSE Guidance Notes HSG47 and GS6; and 

verify and establish the actual position of mains, pipes, cables, services and other 

apparatus on site before any activities are undertaken.  

 

7) All roads within the development hereby permitted must be constructed to a 

satisfactory engineering standard. Those roads that are to be put forward for adoption 

as public highways must be constructed in accordance with the Lincolnshire County 

Council Development Road Specification that is current at the time of construction and 

the developer will be required to enter into a legal agreement with the Highway 

Authority under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. Those roads that are not to be 

voluntarily put forward for adoption as public highways, may be subject to action by the 

Highway Authority under Section 219 (the Advance Payments code) of the Highways 

Act 1980. For guidance please refer to https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk  

 

 

 

106

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Site Location Plan 

 

107



 

 
 

Proposed Site Layout 

 

108



 

 
 

Proposed House Types 

House Type A (Plot 02, 03, 06 and 07) 

 

109



 

 
 

House Type B (Plot 04 and 05) 

 

110



 

 
 

House Type C (Plot 10 and 11) 

 

111



 

 
 

House Type D (Plot 08 and 09) 

 

112



 

 
 

House Type E (Plot 01) 

 

113



 

 
 

Proposed Site Sections 

 

114



 

 
 

 

115



 

 
 

 

116



 

 
 

 

 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

20 January 2022 

  

   

         
  

 

S21/2286 

Proposal: New single storey dwelling with garaging for proposed 
dwelling and number 22 The Green 

Location: 22 The Green  
Thurlby  
PE10 0HB    

Applicant: Catherine Charlton  22, The Green Thurlby PE10 0HB 
Agent: Mr Shayne Andrews S Andrews Design & Architecture Ltd 
Application Type: Outline Planning Permission 
Reason for Referral to Committee: Local Member Request 
Key Issues: Impact on Character of Area 

Impact on Residential Amenity 
Highways 
Drainage 
 

Technical Documents: Site Location Plan 
Proposed Plans 
 

 

 

Report Author 

Miranda Beavers (Area Planning Officer) 

 
 01476 406302 

  m.beavers@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Dole Wood 

 

Reviewed by: Chris Brown (Principal Planning Officer)  11 January 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to REFUSE planning permission 

119

Agenda Item 6

mailto:m.beavers@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 Description of Site 
 

1.1 The Green, Thurlby is an area which is predominantly residential, albeit some of the 

properties on The Green are used as commercial premises.  The application site is 

located on the east side of The Green within the existing rear garden of No.22 The Green.  

The host property has a large, enclosed garden to the rear which is bordered by 

residential development to the north, east, south and west. The site does not fall within a 

designated conservation area. 

 

2 Description of Proposal 
 

2.1 This is an outline application with all matters reserved for the erection 1 no. single storey 

detached dwelling to be sited within the existing rear garden of a residential property. The 

proposal also includes the erection of garaging to serve both the existing dwelling (No.22 

The Green) and the proposed dwellinghouse.  The site area is approximately 955sq m. 

 

3 Relevant History 
 

3.1 S20/1264 – Outline planning permission for erection of two dwellings with all matters 

reserved, Refused, 22 September 2020 and appeal dismissed.  

 

4 Policy Considerations 

 

4.1 SKDC Local Plan 2011 – 2036 

• Policy SD1: The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

• Policy SP2: Settlement Hierarchy 

• Policy SP3: Infill Development 

• Policy DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design  

• Policy ID2: Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure  

• Policy EN4: Pollution Control 

 

4.2 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places 

 

4.3 Neighbourhood Plan 

Thurlby Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan 

 

5 Representations Received  

 

5.1 Thurlby Parish Council Comments: 

5.1.1 No comments received at the time of drafting this report 

 

5.2 LCC Highways/SuDS Comments: 

. 

120



 

 
 

5.2.1 The proposal is for a new dwelling and it does not have an impact on the Public Highway 

or Surface Water Flood Risk. 

 

5.2.2 Having given due regard to the appropriate local and national planning policy guidance (in 

particular the National Planning Policy Framework), Lincolnshire County Council (as 

Highway 

5.2.3 Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) has concluded that the proposed development 

is acceptable and accordingly, does not wish to object to this planning application. 

5.3 Environmental Protection Comments: 

 

5.3.1 Should the developer during excavation and construction works of the said development 

site find any area of the site where it is suspected that the land is contaminated then all 

works must stop and the local planning authority notified immediately. An investigation and 

risk assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation 

scheme must be prepared in accordance with current good practice and legislation and 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, and the approved remediation 

shall thereafter be implemented. Following completion of measures identified in the 

approved remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to 

the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

 

5.4 Representations as a result of Publicity 

 

5.4.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 

Community Involvement and 10 letters of representation have been received, the points 

raised can be summarised as follows: 

 

1. Existing residential amenities detrimentally impacted - overlooking, loss of light and   

noise nuisance 

2. Impact on existing drainage systems with increased risk of flooding 

3. Highways safety 

4. Sustainability 

5. Proposal not in accordance with National or Local Plan policy or Thurlby 

Neighbourhood Plan 

6. Development out of character with overall pattern of development for the area 

7. Destruction of trees and existing landscaping resulting in loss of wildlife habitat 

8. New build to cause structural damage to existing neighbouring properties.  

 

6 Evaluation 
 

6.1 Principle of Development  

 

6.1.1 Policy SP1 within the Local Plan sets out a framework guiding the location of development 

within the district. This policy along with policy SP2 seeks to focus the majority of new 

121



 

 
 

residential development to Grantham to support and strengthen its role as a Sub-Regional 

Centre, with "new development which helps to maintain and support the role of the three 

market towns of Stamford, Bourne and the Deepings" also being allowed, provided that 

the proposal does not "compromise their nature and character".  

6.1.2 SP2 goes onto state that "in the Larger village as define, in addition to allocations, 

development proposals which promote the role and function of the Larger Villages, and 

will not compromise the settlement's nature and character will be supported." 

6.1.3 Policy SP3 (Infill Development) goes on to state that "all settlements defined in Policy 

SP2, infill development, which is in accordance with all other relevant Local Plan policies, 

will be supported provided that: 

a. it is within a substantially built up frontage or re-development opportunity (previously 

development land); 

b. it is within the main built up part of the settlement; 

c. it does not cause harm or unacceptable impact upon the occupier's amenity of adjacent 

properties; 

d. it does not extend the pattern of development beyond the existing built form; and it is in 

keeping with the character of the area and is sensitive to the setting of adjacent properties. 

6.1.4 Policy SB1 of the newly adopted South Kesteven Local Plan sets out how development 

will be expected to minimise the impact on climate change and contribute towards creating 

a strong, stable and more diverse economy.  This includes how they can minimise b) the 

need to travel; j) enhance the character of the District; and k) its natural environment. 

6.1.5 Policy TNP09 of the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan states that "applications for individual 

dwelling or infill and redevelopment sites which fill a gap in the continuity of existing 

frontage building or are within the built-up area of the village and closely surround by 

buildings, will be supported subject to proposals being of high quality and meeting all 

relevant requirements set out in the policies in the development plan." 

6.1.6 Furthermore, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines, within para 59, 

that "to support the Government's objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it 

is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is 

needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and 

that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay". Para 68 of the NPPF 

also emphasises the importance that the contribution of small to medium sized sites can 

make in meeting the housing requirements. ("Small and medium sized sites can make an 

important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an area and are often built-

out relatively quickly"). 

6.1.7 The application site is located within Thurlby which is identified within Policy SP2 of South 

Kesteven's Local Plan (January 2020) where development will be allowed subject to the 

development proposal promoting the role and function of the Larger villages and will not 

compromise the settlement's nature and character. 

6.1.8 In addition to the Local Plan policies, Policy SP3 (described above) requires the 

assessment against site specific criteria. These include the impact of the proposal on the 

character or appearance of the area, impact on the residential amenities of neighbouring 

occupiers, and impact on highway safety, which are discussed in turn as follows. 

 

122



 

 
 

 

6.2 Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 

 

6.2.1 Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan states (amongst 

other criteria) that to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all 

development proposals will be expected to make a positive contribution to local 

distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local 

identity and not have an adverse impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the 

landscape / townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals should be of an 

appropriate scale, density, massing, height and material, given the context of the area.  

Part 12 of the NPPF (Achieving well-designed places) states that good design is a key 

aspect of sustainable development and new development should be visually attractive as 

a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping. 

 

6.2.2 It is important that new residential development should be of the highest quality to 

enhance and reinforce good urban design characteristics. It is generally accepted that 

good design plays a key role towards sustainable development. Regard must be had 

towards the impact that the proposed dwellings would have on local character, including 

topography, street patterns, building lines, boundary treatment and through scale and 

massing. The locality is characterised by single and two story detached dwellings which 

are sited within reasonably generous plots and well proportioned gardens. The existing 

houses are of a cohesive layout and scale with a harmonious design in a medium density 

urban form. Any scheme on this site would need to be respectful of its surrounding and 

make a positive contribution to the area. 

6.2.3 The site accommodates the amenity space associated to No.22 The Green, which is a 

detached two storey dwelling, with large front and rear garden. This dwelling is located 

within a residential area comprising of further modern two and single storey detached 

dwellings. The area of land to the east of the site (formerly No.23 The Green) has planning 

permission for the erection of 5 residential dwellings including private driveways. The 

construction of these dwellings was under way at the time of my site visit.   

6.2.4 The application (as amended) is in outline form, with all matters reserved, albeit with an 

indicative plan showing the approximate siting and footprint size of the proposed dwelling 

and garages. The proposed dwelling would sit behind existing properties on The Green 

and High Street and it is indicated that the property would be accessed via a shared 

driveway with No.22 The Green. 

6.2.5 All settlements defined in Policy SP2 of the SKLP are required to be assessed as either 

Infill Development, Development on the Edge of Settlement or Development in Open 

Countryside (Policies SP3, SP4 and SP5).  In this instance the site is located within the 

main part of the settlement and so is assessed against SP3 (Infill Development).  The first 

criterion of the policy requires that the proposal is 'within a substantially built-up frontage 

or re-development opportunity (previously developed land)'. In a recent appeal decision 

(APP/E2530/W/21/3274331), the planning inspectorate has interpreted 'Infilling' in this 

context as development which fills a gap in the street frontage. In this case, the dwelling 

would be located substantially to the rear of the frontage development on The Green.  It is 

considered that the proposal would not be within a substantially built-up frontage, and so 

would not accord with this first criterion. Garden land in built-up areas is specifically 

123



 

 
 

excluded from the definition of previously developed land in the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

6.2.6 Notwithstanding the above, although the submitted details are illustrative; the proposal to 

erect 1 single storey dwelling and detached garage(s), in this location is considered to be 

achievable without compromising the character and appearance of the area. The dwelling 

would be largely screened from public view and there are examples of infill and backland 

development adjacent to the site, most notably the development directly to the east of the 

site.  However, the neighbouring site was much larger than the application site and not 

directly comparable and the current proposal has been assessed on its own merits. In this 

instance this proposal differs from the recent appeal decision discussed above. 

6.2.7 Overall, it is considered that the proposal would not amount to infill development and so 

would not be in accordance with Policy SP3 a) within a substantially built up frontage or 

re-development opportunity (previously development land). Although it is accepted that the 

proposal would otherwise be in accordance with criterion b) land within the main built up 

part of the settlement; and d) does not extend the pattern of development beyond the 

existing built form.  Consequently, due to the development not conforming the criteria a), 

the proposal would result in a form of development that is contrary to Policy SP3 of the 

Local Plan. 

 

6.3 Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

6.3.1 Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan states (amongst 

other criteria) that all development proposals will be expected to ensure there is no 

adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss 

of privacy and loss of light and provide sufficient private amenity space, suitable to the 

type and amount of development proposed.  Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that 

developments should create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which 

promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 

users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality 

of life or community cohesion and resilience.  

 

6.3.2 It is considered that the siting and scale of 1 x single storey dwelling and detached 

garage(s) would result in sufficient amenity space, for the future occupiers of the proposed 

dwelling. Subject to an appropriately designed single storey dwelling, it is considered that 

neighbouring occupiers’ amenities would not be unduly impacted upon, by way over 

overlooking, loss of privacy, noise or an over dominant form of development to such an 

extent that planning permission should be refused on those grounds and would therefore 

not be contrary to policies NPPF Section 12, and Policies DE1 and SP3 c) of the Local 

Plan. 
 

6.4 Highway issues 

 

6.4.1 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or 

refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are 

severe. 

 

6.4.2 The proposal relates to an outline application with all matters reserved. 

124



 

 
 

6.4.3 Lincolnshire County Council has not raised objections to the proposal in principle but 

requesting that the Local Planning Authority make the applicant aware of the requirements 

for access creation and parking as detailed within the Lincolnshire County Council Design 

Approach and Development Road Specification. 

 

6.5 Drainage 

 

6.5.1 Paragraph 155 of the Local Plan states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of 

flooding should be avoided by direction development away from area at highest risk 

(whether existing or future).  Where development is necessary in such areas, the 

development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere. 

6.5.2 Policy EN5: Water Environment and Flood Risk Management states that all development 

must avoid increasing flood risk. Surface Water should be managed effectively on site 

through the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs) unless it is demonstrated to be 

technically unfeasible. 

6.5.3 The site is identified as a very low risk of flooding (Flood Zone 1). The site is also identified 

as at very low risk of surface water flooding, which means that each year this area has a 

chance of flooding of less than 0.1%. It is therefore considered that, subject to the 

submission of appropriate surface water and foul drainage details the proposal accords 

with the provisions of the NPPF Sections 14 and Policies DE1 and EN5 of the South 

Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

6.6 Other Matters 

 

6.6.1 Policy SB1 of the South Kesteven Local Plan states that "All development proposals will 

be expected to mitigate against and adapt to climate change, to comply with national and 

contribute to local targets on reducing carbon emissions and energy use unless it can be 

demonstrated that compliance with the policy is not viable or feasible".  

6.6.2 This policy goes on to state, amongst other criteria, "New development should 

demonstrate how carbon dioxide emissions have been minimised in accordance with the 

following energy hierarchy" and "All new development should demonstrate how they can 

support low-carbon travel, to achieve this: g. new residential development will be expected 

to provide electric car charging points h. new commercial developments shall make 

provision for electric car charging points. The number of charging points required will be 

determined on a case-by-case basis".  

6.6.3 No details have been provided in relation to the use of electric charging points and it has 

not been demonstrated how the proposed development would minimise the carbon 

emissions. However, it is considered that these details could be secured by a suitably 

worded condition should the application be approved.  
 

7 Crime and Disorder 
 

7.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 

implications. 

 

 

125



 

 
 

8 Human Rights Implications 
 

8.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home) 

of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is 

considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached. 

 

9 Conclusion 
9.1 In assessing the current proposal and taking the above into account, it is considered that 

the proposal, on balance, is not in accordance with national and local plan policies. It is 

considered that the proposal to erect 1 x dwellinghouse in this location is not in accordance 

with all of the criteria of Policy SP3 of the SKLP, Section 12 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework and Policy TPP09 of the Thurlby Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is refused for the following reason: 

 
1 The proposed development, by virtue of its siting and scale, would not be within a substantially 

built up frontage or a re-development opportunity, therefore failing to meet the criteria set out 
for infill development under policy SP3 of the Local Plan and Policy TNP09 of the Thurlby 
Neighbourhood Plan.  As such the principle of the proposal is not acceptable and the proposed 
development is contrary to policies SP3 of South Kesteven's Local Plan, Policy TNP09 of the 
Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan and the NPPF (Section 12). 

 
Standard Note(s) to Applicant: 
 
1 There is a fundamental objection to the proposal, and it is considered that this cannot be overcome. 

Consideration has not been delayed by discussions which cannot resolve the reasons for refusal. The 
decision therefore accords with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

  

126



 

 
 

Site Location Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

127



 

 
 

Proposed Site Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 
 

128



 

 
 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 
 

129



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Application S21/0174
	4 Application S21/1210
	5 Application S21/0442
	6 Application S21/2286

